
 
 

 

 

 

CITY OF LOMA LINDA 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

REGULAR MEETING OF JULY 11, 2023 

7:00PM 

IN THE EMERGENCY OPERATIONS CENTER (EOC) 

(Council Chambers under construction) 
 

 

A regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Loma Linda is scheduled in the Emergency 

Operations Center (EOC), 25541 Barton Road, Loma Linda, California.  Pursuant to Municipal Code 

Section 2.08.010, study session or closed session items may begin at 5:30 p.m. or as soon thereafter as 

possible.  The public meeting begins at 7:00 p.m. 

Reports and Documents relating to each agenda item are on file in the Office of the City Clerk and are 

available for public inspection during normal business hours.  The Loma Linda Branch Library is also 

provided an agenda packet for your convenience.  The agenda and reports are also located on the City’s 

Website at www.lomalinda-ca.gov. 

Materials related to an item on this Agenda submitted to the City Council after distribution of the agenda 

packet are available for public inspection in the City Clerk’s Office, 25541 Barton Road, Loma Linda, CA 

during normal business hours.  Such documents are also available on the City’s website at 

www.lomalinda-ca.gov subject to staff’s ability to post the documents before the meeting. 

Persons wishing to speak on an agenda item, including any closed session items, are asked to complete an 

information card and present it to the City Clerk prior to consideration of the item.  When the item is to be 

considered, please step forward to the podium, the Chair will recognize you and you may offer your 

comments.  The City Council meeting is recorded to assist in the preparation of the Minutes, and you are 

therefore asked to give your name and address prior to offering testimony. 

The Oral Reports/Public Participation portion of the agenda pertains to items NOT on the agenda and is 

limited to 30 minutes; 3 minutes allotted for each speaker.  Pursuant to the Brown Act, no action may be 

taken by the City Council at this time; however, the City Council may refer your comments/concerns to staff 

or request that the item be placed on a future agenda. 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in 

this meeting, please contact the City Clerk at (909) 799-2819.  Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting 

will enable the City to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting.  Later 

requests will be accommodated to the extent feasible. 

A recess may be called at the discretion of the City Council. 

  

Meetings are accessible to people with disabilities. Every attempt will be made to swiftly address 

each request.  Requests in advance of the meeting will enable us to make reasonable 

arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting and the materials related to it.  Individuals 

who need special assistance or a disability-related modification or accommodation to participate 

in this meeting, or who have a disability and wish to request an alternative format for the meeting 

materials, should contact the City Clerk at larreola@lomalinda-ca.gov or (909) 799-2819. 

 
 



City Council Agenda 

Page 2 
 

 

 

A. Call To Order 

 

B. Roll Call 

 

C. Workshop - 5:30 pm  
  

 Technology & managing risks in Social Media (email, internet blogs and cell phones) [Scott 

Grossberg] 

 

D. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance – Councilman Rigsby (In keeping with long-standing 

traditions of legislative invocations, this City Council meeting may include a brief, non-

sectarian invocation.  Such invocations are not intended to proselytize or advance any one, or to 

disparage any other, faith or belief.  Neither the City nor the City Council endorses any particular 

religious belief or form of invocation.) 

 

E. Items To Be Added Or Deleted 

 

F. Oral Reports/Public Participation - Non-Agenda Items (Limited to 30 minutes; 3 minutes 

allotted for each speaker) 

 

G. Conflict of Interest Disclosure - Note agenda item that may require member abstentions due to 

possible conflicts of interest   

 

H. Scheduled and Related Items 

 
1. Public Hearing – Council Bill #R-2023-28 – Adopt Resolution determining the cost related 

to the Spring 2023 Weed Abatement Program. [Fire]  

 

I. Consent Calendar 

 

2. Demands Register    
 

3. Treasurer’s Report – June 2023 
 

4. Fire Department’s Activity Report – June 2023  
 

5. Amendment to San Bernardino Basin Groundwater Council Framework Agreement [Public 

Works] 
 

6. Reject all bids for installation of electrical wiring for the generator (CIP 21-858) [Public 

Works] 
 

7. Award contract to Universal Construction & Engineering for installation of ADA access 

ramps and sidewalks at various locations for $294,915.00 (CIP 23-114) [Public Works] 
 

8. Award contract to Tuckfield and Associates for Professional Services to prepare a Water and 

Sanitary Sewer Rate Study for $34,200.00 [Public Works] 
 

9. Award contract to A & F Engineering Group, Inc., for electrical engineering services for the 

Sewer Lift Station for $13,000.00 [Public Works] 
 

10. Award contract to Michel Angela Petersen to fabricate and install a ceramic tile mural at 

Leonard Bailey Park for $24,400.00 [Public Works] 
 

11. Award contract to Cloud Driven Solutions (CDS) for Agenda Management software program 

for $22647.00 [Administration] 

 



City Council Agenda 

Page 3 
 

 

 

12. Award contract to TechStrata for Endpoint Protection Software for $21,200 [Information 

Systems] 
 

13. Accept as complete and authorize recordation of Notice of Completion for the purchase and 

installation of seven (7) traffic signal battery backup systems by St. Francis Electric, 

Contractor [Public Works] 
 

14. Accept offsite improvements for Tract 19963, Phase I, located on the west side of New Jersey 

Street between Citrus Avenue and Orange Avenue - KB Homes, Developer [Public Works] 
 

15. Council Bill #R-2023-29 – Adopt Resolution updating the City of Loma Linda Emergency 

Operations Plan (EOP) – [Fire] 
 

16. Re-appropriate $355,600.00 from unspent encumbered funds from Fiscal Year 2022-23 into 

FY 2023-24 for items/services not received in Fiscal Year 2022-23 [Fire] 
 

17. Re-appropriate unspent funds from Fiscal Year 2022-23 to Fiscal Year 2023-24 for Public 

Works projects and purchases [Public Works] 

 

J. Old Business 

 

K. New Business 

 

18. Appoint member to the vacant seat in  the Historic Commission [City Manager] 

 

L. Reports of Council Members (This portion of the agenda provides City Council Members an 

opportunity to provide information relating to other boards/commissions/committees to which City 

Council Members have been appointed). 

 

M. Reports Of Officers (This portion of the agenda provides Staff the opportunity to provide 

informational items that are of general interest as well as information that has been requested by the 

City Council). 

 

N. Adjournment   
 

 

POSTING 
 

 I, Lynette Arreola, City Clerk, do hereby certify and declare that on the 6th day of  July, 2023, I caused this 

agenda to be posted at the following three (3) locations, to-wit: 

 1. Loma Linda Branch Library, 25581 Barton Road, Loma Linda, California 

 2.  City Council Chambers, 25541 Barton Road, Loma Linda, California 

 3.  U. S. Post Office Annex, Newport Avenue, Loma Linda, California 
 

       
      Lynette Arreola, City Clerk 

      City of Loma Linda, California 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 1  
  



City of Loma Linda 

Official Report 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA: July 11, 2023 

TO: City Council 

FROM: Dan Harker, Fire Chief 

VIA: T. Jarb Thaipejr, City Manager

Phill Dupper, Mayor 

Ronald Dailey, Mayor pro tempore 

Rhodes Rigsby, Councilman 

John Lenart, Councilman 

Bhavin Jindal, Councilman 

Approved/Continued/Denied 
By City Council 
Date ______ _ 

SUBJECT: Council Bill #R-2023-28 Spring 2023 Weed Abatement Program 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the City Council: Receive the report of the Spring 2023 Weed Abatement 

Program, approve the report and accounting of costs, and adopt the accompanying Resolution 

establishing liens and assessments on the properties. 

BACKGROUND 

The California Fire Code, 2022 edition, Section 304, adopted and amended by Loma Linda 

Municipal Code, Chapter 15.28, establishes the authority for removing combustible vegetation 

when it is determined to be a fire hazard. Section 304.1.2 states "Weeds, litter, flammable waste, 

grass or other vegetation capable of being ignited and endangering property shall be cut down and 

removed by the owner or occupant of the premises." Vegetation clearance requirements in the 

wildland-urban interface areas shall be in accordance with Chapter 49. 

ANALYSIS 

The Spring 2023 Weed Abatement program began on April 3rd - 4th, 2023 with an initial 

inspection of approximately 300 parcels. Pursuant to Sections 104.5 of the International Fire 

Code, 243 Notices to Clean Property, Exhibit "A", were sent by regular mail on April 11th, 2023 

to the OWNER OF RECORD as provided by the County Assessor's office. 12 letters were 

returned to sender. Returned notices were posted on the physical properties for owner of record 

to see. Updated property owner information by checking current records on hand with the 

assessor's office. If any changes for property owner occurred a notice was generated manually, 

sent to the corrected address by certified mail, and the parcel was added to the extension list. 

Follow-up inspections began on May 1'1 - 2nd
• If abatement had not been accomplished, or if 

arrangements for a time extension had not been made with this office, the parcel was placed on an 

abatement list which was given to a City contractor for initiation of the abatement work. 

Combustible vegetation/fire hazards were abated by the City contractor on 14 parcels. 

On June 20th, 2023 invoices (See Exhibit "B ") specifying the cost of the work performed by the 

contractor, plus the City's administrative fee, were mailed to the OWNER OF RECORD for each 

parcel giving them the opportunity to make payment of the bill by July 11th, 2023. Parcels abated 



by the City contractor and which remain un-paid are listed on Exhibit "C". Upon completion and 

docUJnentation of the abatement work payment was made to the contractor by the City. 

Owners have the opportunity to appear at the hearing to ask questions or dispute any bills or 

proceedings. 

Subsequent to the July 11th, 2023 Hearing and Council action, the Report of Costs, with 

accompanying Resolution ( see attached), will be forwarded to the Property Tax Division of the San 

Bernardino County Auditor/Controller-Recorder for collection as assessments and or liens against 

the property. 

ENVIRONMENTAL 

No adverse environmental impact. The Weed Abatement program removes weeds and other 

flammable vegetation or combustible waste that is deemed to present a fire hazard. 

FINANCIAL IMP ACT 

Recovery of abatement costs plus administrative fees are outlined on Exhibit "C". 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Exhibit A: 

ExhibitB: 

ExhibitC: 

Sample Notice to Clean Property 

Sample Invoice 

List of Un-Paid Invoices 

Copy of Resolution Adopting Report and Statement of Expenses and Imposing a Lien upon 

Property for payment. 



EXHIBIT A 

City of Loma Linda Fire Department 
Community Risk Reduction Division 

NOTICE TO CLEAN PROPERTY 

4/11/2023 

Parcel Number: 

Location: 

Under the provisions of the California Fire Code, 2022 edition, Section 304.1.2 adopted and amended by Loma 
Linda Municipal Code Chapter 15.28, an inspection of the property listed above has been perfonned by this 
Department. Based upon the inspection, a fire hazard, or potential fire hazard has been determined to exist on 
thls property. Notice is hereby given that any weeds, tumbleweeds, dead grasses, vines, dead shrubs, dead trees,
trimmings, or other combnstible materials or debris present on your lot, field or parcel of land are a fire hazard 
or in all probability will become a fire hazard, and as such must be removed or abated. In addition, any weeds 
or combustible materials must be cleared away from any road or street for a distance of 10 ft. 
See NOTES for special remarks concerning this parcel. 

NOTES: Remove Weeds/Tumbleweeds/Dead Vegitation & Branches/ Rubish. 

Any weeds or other fire hazards as listed above on this property must be removed or abated in an acceptable manner 
manner by May 1, 2023. Failure to remove or abate by thls date will be cause for the City of Loma Linda 
or it's designated contractor to enter onto the property to accomplish the abatement. In addition to the costs for cleaning, 
you will also be assessed an administrative fee of70% of the cost of the work or $100, whichever is greater. Failure to 
pay all charges will cause a tax assessment and lien to be placed against the property. 

Due to uncontrolled regrowth, a second or third clean up of the property may be necessary during the year. Property 
owners are advised that it is their responsibility to maintain their property in good condition and that any re-growth 
during the year may be subject to removal without fu1ther notice if determined to be a fire hazard. 

Thls Notice is given pursuant to the provision of the California Fire Code Section 114.7 authorizing action to remove 
any hazard deemed unsafe. The Fire Department maintains a consistent and impartial position in the application 
and enforcement of the California Fire Code. For further infonnation, please call (909) 799-2859. 

You as owner, occupant or person otherwise in charge of the prope1ty may appeal to the Fire Marshal of the City of 
Loma Linda any of the requirements of this Notice pursuant to Loma Linda Municipal Code Section 2.08.030. 
Such an appeal shall be in writing and shall be submitted only after all reasonable effo1ts to resolve the matter have 
been exhausted with the staff of this Depaitment. Said appeal may include any arguments why the prope1ty should 
not be declai·ed a fire hazai·d and abated by the City. Any appeal shall be submitted to this Department within 
ten (10) calendar days from the date of this Notice. 

If you ai·e no longer the owner of this prope1ty or are in the process of selling it, please info11n the new owner of this 
Notice, and advise this Department in writing of the date the title change occurred. All address information used to 
mail Notices has been provided by the San Bernardino County Assessor's Office. 

Tom Ingalls 
Fire Marshal 

By: -ptdt,z')�,,.__,, 
Matt Dingman 
Fire Prevention Inspector 











CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 2 
  



City of Loma Linda 
Official Report 

Phill Dupper, Mayor 
Ronald Dailey, Mayor pro tempore 
Rhodes Rigsby, Councilman 
John Lenart, Councilman  
Bhavin Jindal, Councilman 

 

  

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA: July 11, 2023 

 

TO: City Council 

 

SUBJECT:  Demands Register 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the City Council approve the attached list of demands for payment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                             

Approved/Continued/Denied 

By City Council 

Date _________________ 



























CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 3 
  



City of Loma Linda 
Official Report 

 

Phill Dupper, Mayor 
Ronald Dailey, Mayor pro tempore 
Rhodes Rigsby, Councilman 
John Lenart, Councilman  
Bhavin Jindal, Councilman 

 
 
 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA: July 11, 2023 
 
TO: City Council 
 
FROM: Sonia Fabela, Finance Director/City Treasurer 
 
VIA: T. Jarb Thaipejr, City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: June 2023 Treasurer’s Report 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the City Council receive the report for filing. 
 
 

Approved/Continued/Denied 

By City Council 

Date _________________ 



DEMAND DEPOSIT ACCOUNTS
                       

CITY - BANK OF AMERICA - MAIN CHECKING ACCOUNT 3,286,134.98$  

Outstanding Checks as of month-end (2,107,918.85) 

CITY - MAIN CHECKING ACCOUNT AVAILABLE BALANCE 1,178,216.13$  

BANK OF AMERICA - PAYROLL 10,679.31$  

HOUSING AUTHORITY - BANK OF AMERICA - CHECKING ACCOUNT 127,437.37 

Outstanding Checks as of month-end (4,715.00) 

HOUSING AUTHORITY - CHECKING ACCOUNT AVAILABLE BALANCE 122,722.37$  

SUCCESSOR AGENCY - BANK OF AMERICA - CHECKING ACCOUNT 45,285.68 

Outstanding Checks as of month-end (810.00) 

SUCCESSOR AGENCY - CHECKING ACCOUNT AVAILABLE BALANCE 44,475.68$  

DEMAND DEPOSIT ACCOUNTS - TOTAL 1,356,093.49$  

YIELD

LOCAL AGENCY INVESTMENT FUND (LAIF)

CITY 3.167%   $      53,062,627.75
CITY - Former RDA Bond Proceeds 3.167% 913,389.42             

CITY -Total 53,976,017.17             

SUCCESSOR RDA 3.167% 3,861,020.08

HOUSING AUTHORITY 3.167% 1,327,785.84 

INVESTMENTS TOTALS 59,164,823.09$              

OTHER CASH

IMPREST ACCOUNT 500.00$  

CASH ON HAND 1,350.00 

OTHER CASH TOTAL 1,850.00$  

CASH AND INVESTMENTS - GRAND TOTAL 60,522,766.58 

PREVIOUS MONTH 64,782,234.57 

CHANGE +/(-) (4,259,467.99)$  

All investments are in accordance with the City Investment Policy,
and as such, sufficient funds are available to meet the cash flow
requirements of Loma Linda, including the next thirty days'
obligations. 

Treasurer

June 2023

CITY OF LOMA LINDA

COMPOSITION OF CASH

INVESTMENTS



 -

 10,000,000.00

 20,000,000.00

 30,000,000.00

 40,000,000.00

 50,000,000.00

 60,000,000.00

 70,000,000.00

6/22 7/22 8/22 9/22 10/22 11/22 12/22 1/23 2/23 3/23 4/23 5/23 6/23

CITY OF LOMA LINDA
MONTHLY TREASURER'S REPORT  6/22-6/23

CITY, SUCCESSOR RDA & HA - TOTAL CASH AVAILABLE CITY- FORMER RDA BOND PROCEEDS BASELINE



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 4  
  





CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 5 
  





















D

























CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 6 
  





CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 7  
  









CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 8 
  























CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 9 
  





























CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 10  
  









CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 11 
  





SERVICE AGREEMENT 

 

  THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this 11
th
  day of  July  2023, by and between 

THE CITY OF LOMA LINDA, a Municipal Corporation (hereinafter referred to as "CITY") and 

 Cloud Driven Solutions (CDS)      , a California Corporation/a Partnership/a Sole 

Proprietor, (hereinafter referred to as "CONTRACTOR"). 

 

 A.  RECITALS 

 

1. City has heretofore requested of CONTACTOR the performance of services with respect to  

 AgendaLink Horizon Software – All training and services will be virtual – No scheduled on-site   

____Services____________________________________________ (PROJECT” hereinafter);   

 

  2. CONTRACTOR has now submitted its proposal for the performance of such services; 

 

  3. CITY desires to retain CONTRACTOR to perform the services necessary to render advice and 

assistance to CITY relating to the PROJECT; 

 

  4. CONTRACTOR represents that it is qualified to perform such services and is willing to perform 

such services as hereinafter defined. 

 

  NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED by and between CITY and CONTRACTOR as follows: 

 

 B.  AGREEMENT 

 

  1. Definitions:  The following definitions shall apply to the following terms, except where the context 

of this Agreement otherwise requires: 

 

  a. PROJECT:  The preparation of all of the necessary documents, and reports with respect to the 

Scope of Services described herein and hereto, and made a part hereof; 

 

  b. SCOPE OF SERVICES:  Such services as are necessary to be performed by CONTRACTOR 

in order to complete the WORK as set forth herein in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and incorporated 

herein by reference; 

 

 2. CONTRACTOR agrees as follows: 

 

  a. CONTRACTOR shall forthwith undertake and complete the PROJECT in accordance herein 

specified and applicable with Federal, State and CITY statutes, regulations, ordinances and 

guidelines, all to the reasonable satisfaction of the CITY. 

 

  b. CONTRACTOR shall at CONTRACTOR'S sole cost and expense, secure and hire such other 

persons as may, in the opinion of CONTRACTOR, be necessary to comply with the terms of this 

Agreement.  In the event any such other persons are retained by CONTRACTOR, CONTRACTOR 

hereby warrants that such other persons shall be fully qualified to perform services required 

hereunder. 

 

  



Service Contract  

Page 2 

  
 

  c. CONTRACTOR shall, at CONTRACTOR'S sole cost and expense, secure the required 

issuance of a City Business License as a condition precedent to being engaged as a 

CONTRACTOR within the CITY. 

 

 3. CITY agrees as follows: 

 

  a. To pay to CONTRACTOR a maximum sum of that amount set forth in Exhibit “A” hereto.  

This sum shall cover the cost of all direct and indirect costs or fees, including the work of 

employees and consultants of CONTRACTOR.  Payment to CONTRACTOR, by CITY, shall be 

made in accordance with the provisions of Exhibit “A”. 

 

  b. Optional Services:  Payments for additional services requested, in writing, by CITY, and not 

included in the Scope of Services, shall be paid on a compensation basis in accordance with the 

compensation rates set forth in Exhibit “A”.  Charges for additional services shall be invoiced on a 

monthly basis and shall be paid by CITY within 30 days after said invoices are received by CITY. 

 

  4. CITY agrees to provide to CONTRACTOR: 

 

  a. Information and assistance in the Scope of Services, hereto; 

 

  b. Copies of information, if available, which CONTRACTOR considers necessary in order to 

complete the Project; 

 

  c. Such information as is generally available from CITY files applicable to the Project; 

 

  d. Assistance, if necessary, in obtaining information from other governmental agencies and/or 

private parties.  However, it shall be CONTRACTOR'S responsibility to make all initial contact 

with respect to the gathering of such information. 

 

  5. Ownership of Documents:  All documents, data, studies, photographs and reports prepared by 

CONTRACTOR pursuant to this Agreement shall be considered the property of the CITY and, 

upon payment for services performed by CONTRACTOR, such documents and other identified 

materials shall be delivered to CITY by CONTRACTOR.  CONTRACTOR may, however, make 

and retain such copies of said documents and materials as CONTRACTOR may desire. 

 

  6. Termination:  This Agreement may be terminated by CITY upon the giving of written "Notice of 

Termination" to CONTRACTOR at least ten (10) days prior to the date of termination specified in 

said Notice.  In the event this Agreement is so terminated, CONTRACTOR shall be compensated at 

CONTRACTOR'S applicable hourly rates as set forth in Bid Schedule, on a pro rata basis with 

respect to the percentage of the PROJECT completed as of the date of termination.  

CONTRACTOR shall provide to CITY any and all documents, studies, photographs and reports, 

whether in draft or final form, prepared by CONTRACTOR as of the date of termination.  

CONTRACTOR may not terminate this Agreement except for cause. 

 

  7. Notices and Designated Representatives:  Any and all notices, demands, invoices and written 

communications between the parties hereto shall be addressed as set forth in the Paragraph 7.  The 

below-named individuals, furthermore, shall be those persons primarily responsible for the 

performance by the parties under this Agreement: 

  



Service Contract  

Page 3 

  
 

 

 8. Definition of Contract Period:  The Contract shall be in force from July 11, 2023 , until  July 10, 

2026. 

   

  Payments for the items in the Bidding Schedule shall be prorated for the portion of the year during 

which the work is performed.   

 

  CITY:    CITY OF LOMA LINDA  

  Name:    T. JARB THAIPEJR, P.E.   

  Title:    CITY MANAGER 

  Address:   25541 BARTON ROAD, LOMA LINDA, CA  92354 

 

  CONTRACTOR:  Cloud Driven Solutions        

  Name:     A J Thompson         

  Title:     Co-Founder/CEO        

  Address:    6109 Walla Ave.        

        Fort Worth, TX 76133           

Any such notices, demands, invoices or written communications, by mail, shall be deemed to have 

been received by the addressee forth-eight (48) hours after deposit thereof in the United States Mail, 

postage prepaid, and property addressed as set forth above. 

 

 9. Insurance: 

 

a) Type of /Required Coverages 

 

Without limiting the indemnity provisions of the Contract, the Contractor shall procure and 

maintain in full force and effect during the term of the Contract, the following policies of 

insurance. If the existing policies do not meet the insurance requirements set forth herein, 

Contractor agrees to amend, supplement or endorse the policies to do so. 

 

(1) Commercial General Liability: Commercial General Liability Insurance which affords 

coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office “occurrence” form CG 00 01, 

with minimum limits of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury, personal 

injury and property damage, and $2,000,000 aggregate total bodily injury, personal injury 

and property damage. Commercial General Liability insurance and endorsements shall be 

kept in force at all times during the performance of this Agreement. 

 

Products-Completed Operations: Contractor shall procure and submit to City evidence of 

insurance for a period of at least three (3) years from the time that all work under this 

Contract is completed. 

 

(2) Automobile Liability Insurance: Automobile Liability Insurance with coverage at least 

as broad as Insurance Services Office Form CA 0001 covering “Any Auto” (Symbol 1), 

including owned, non-owned and hired autos, or the exact equivalent, with minimum 

limits of $1,000,000 for bodily injury and property damage, each accident. If Contractor 

owns no vehicles, auto liability coverage may be provided by means of a non-owned and 

hired auto endorsement to the general liability policy. Automobile liability insurance and 



Service Contract  

Page 4 

  
 

endorsements shall be kept in force at all times during the performance of this 

Agreement.  

 

(3)  Workers’ Compensation: Workers’ Compensation Insurance, as required by the State 

of California and Employer’s Liability Insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 

each accident for bodily injury and $1,000,000 each employee for bodily injury by 

disease. 

 

b) Endorsements 

 

Insurance policies shall not be in compliance if they include any limiting provision or 

endorsement that has not been submitted to the City for approval. 

 

1) The insurance coverages required by Section (a)(1) Commercial General Liability; and 

(a)(2) Automobile Liability Insurance shall contain the following provisions or be 

endorsed to provide the following: 

 

Additional Insured: The City, its elected officials, officers, employees, volunteers, 

boards, agents and representatives shall be additional insureds with regard to liability and 

defense of suits or claims arising out of the performance of the Contract. Coverage for the 

additional insureds shall apply to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

 

Additional Insured Endorsements shall not: 

1. Be limited to “Ongoing Operations” 

2. Exclude “Contractual Liability” 

3. Restrict coverage to the “Sole” liability of contractor  

4. Exclude “Third-Party-Over Actions” 

5. Contain any other exclusion contrary to the Contract) 

 

Primary Insurance: This insurance shall be primary and any other insurance whether 

primary, excess, umbrella or contingent insurance, including deductible, or self-insurance 

available to the insureds added by endorsement shall be in excess of and shall not 

contribute with this insurance. 

 

2) The policy or policies of insurance required by Section (a)(3) Workers’ Compensation 

shall be endorsed, as follows: 

 

Waiver of Subrogation: A waiver of subrogation stating that the insurer waives all rights 

of subrogation against the indemnified parties. 

 

c) Notice of Cancellation 

 

Required insurance policies shall not be cancelled or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) 

day written notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be 

allowed for non-payment of premium. 

  



Service Contract  

Page 5 

  
 

 

d) Waiver of Subrogation 

 

Required insurance coverages shall not prohibit Contractor from waiving the right of 

subrogation prior to a loss. Contractor shall waive all rights of subrogation against the 

indemnified parties and Policies shall contain or be endorsed to contain such a provision. 

 

e) Evidence of Insurance 

 

The Contractor, concurrently with the execution of the contract, and as a condition precedent 

to the effectiveness thereof, shall deliver either certified copies of the required policies, or 

original certificates and endorsements on forms approved by the City. The certificates and 

endorsements for each insurance policy shall be signed by a person authorized by that insurer 

to bind coverage on its behalf. At least fifteen (15 days) prior to the expiration of any such 

policy, evidence of insurance showing that such insurance coverage has been renewed or 

extended shall be filed with the City. If such coverage is cancelled or reduced, Contractor 

shall, within ten (10) days after receipt of written notice of such cancellation or reduction of 

coverage, file with the City evidence of insurance showing that the required insurance has 

been reinstated or has been provided through another insurance company or companies. 

 

f)  Deductible or Self-Insured Retention 

 

Any deductible or self-insured retention must be approved in writing by the City and shall 

protect the indemnified parties in the same manner and to the same extent as they would have 

been protected had the policy or policies not contained a deductible or self-insured retention. 

 

g) Contractual Liability 

 

The coverage provided shall apply to the obligations assumed by the Contractor under the 

indemnity provisions of this contract. 

 

h) Failure to Maintain Coverage 

 

Contractor agrees to suspend and cease all operations hereunder during such period of time as 

the required insurance coverage is not in effect and evidence of insurance has not been 

furnished to the City. The City shall have the right to withhold any payment due Contractor 

until Contractor has fully complied with the insurance provisions of this Contract. In addition, 

the City may either immediately terminate this Agreement or, if insurance is available at a 

reasonable cost, City may take out the necessary insurance and pay, at Contractor’s expense, 

the premium thereon. 

 

In the event that the Contractor’s operations are suspended for failure to maintain required 

insurance coverage, the Contractor shall not be entitled to an extension of time for completion 

of the Work because of production lost during suspension. 

 

i) Acceptability of Insurers 

 

Each such policy shall be from a company or companies with a current A.M. Best’s rating of 

no less than A:VII and authorized to do business in the State of California, or otherwise 

allowed to place insurance through surplus line brokers under applicable provisions of the 



Service Contract  

Page 6 

  
 

California Insurance Code or any federal law. Any other rating must be approved in writing 

in accordance with the City. 

  



Service Contract  

Page 7 

  
 

 

j) Claims Made Policies 

 

If coverage is written on a claims-made basis, the retroactive date on such insurance and all 

subsequent insurance shall coincide or precede the effective date of the initial Contractor’s 

Contract with the City and continuous coverage shall be maintained or an extended reporting 

period shall be exercised for a period of at least three (3) years from termination or expiration 

of this Contract. 

 

Upon expiration or termination of coverage of required insurance, Contractor shall procure 

and submit to City evidence of “tail” coverage or an extended reporting coverage period 

endorsement for the period of at least three (3) years from the time that all work under this 

contract is completed. 

 

k) Insurance for Subcontractors 

 

Contractor shall be responsible for causing Subcontractors to purchase the same types and 

limits of insurance in compliance with the terms of this Contract/Agreement, including 

adding the City as an Additional Insured to the Subcontractor’s policies. 

 

 10. Indemnification:   

 

a) Defense, Indemnity and Hold Harmless. Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold 

harmless the City, its present and former officers, directors, employees, agents, volunteers, 

mayor, staff, boards, committee and representatives, as broadly interpreted (collectively, the 

“Indemnified Parties”), of and from all claims, suits, demands, obligations, losses damages, 

sums or any other matters, threatened or presently asserted, including but not limited to all 

legal fees, costs of defense and litigation expenses (including legal fees, expert fees and any 

other costs or fees, including those of adverse parties imposed on or sought against the 

Indemnified Parties), arising directly or indirectly out of any liability or claim of loss or 

liability for personal injury, bodily injury to persons, contractual liability, errors or omissions, 

breach, failure to perform, damage to or loss of property, or any other loss, damage, injury or 

other claim of any kind or nature arising out of the work to be performed by Contractor 

herein, caused by or arising out of the negligent acts or omissions, or intentional misconduct 

or other actions, omissions or conduct of Contractor, including its subcontractors, employees, 

agents and other persons or entities performing work for Contractor. 

 

b) Contractual Indemnity. To the fullest extent permitted under California law, Contractor shall 

contractually indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Indemnified Parties from and against 

any liability (including liability for claims, suits, actions, arbitration proceedings, 

administrative proceedings, regulatory proceedings, losses, expenses, amounts for good faith 

settlement, or costs of any kind, whether actual, alleged or threatened, including attorney’s 

fees and costs, court costs, interest, defense costs, and expert witness fees and costs), arising 

out of or related to, in whole or in part, the performance of this Agreement by Contractor or 

by any individual or entity for which Consultant is legally liable, including but not limited to 

Contractor’s officers, agents, independent contractors, subcontractors or affiliated or related 

entities and/or its or their employees, agents and representatives, including all negligent acts 

or omissions, or intentional misconduct or other actions, omissions to act or conduct of 

Contractor, including its subcontractors, employees, agents and other persons or entities 

performing work for Contractor. Indemnification shall include any claim that Contractor or 



Service Contract  

Page 8 

  
 

Contractor’s employees or agents, are or may be considered and treated to be employees of 

the City or are entitled to any employee benefits from City, including but not limited to those 

available under Public Employees Retirement Law. The obligation to indemnify, defend and 

hold harmless the Indemnified Parties shall apply to all liability as defined above regardless 

of whether the Indemnified Parties were or are alleged to have been negligent, except that it 

shall not apply to claims arising from the sole negligence or willful intentional misconduct of 

the Indemnified Parties. Contractor’s obligation to defend the Indemnified Parties is not 

contingent upon there being an acknowledgement of or determination of the merit of any 

claims, liability, demands, causes of action, suits, losses, expenses, errors, omissions and/or 

costs.   

 

c) Subcontractors and Indemnification. Contractor agrees to and shall obtain executed indemnity 

agreements in favor of the Indemnified Parties with provisions identical to those set forth 

from each and every Subcontractor, Sub consultant or other person or entity involved by, for, 

with, or on behalf of Contractor in the performance of any aspect of this Agreement. In the 

event Contractor fails to obtain such indemnity obligations, Contractor shall be fully 

responsible for each and every Subcontractor, Subconsultant or other person or entity in 

terms of defense, indemnity and hold harmless obligations in favor of the Indemnified 

Parties. This obligation to indemnify and defend the Indemnified Parties is binding on the 

successors, assigns or heirs of Contractor and shall survive the full performance or 

termination of this Agreement. These indemnification provisions are independent of and shall 

not in any way be limited or superseded by the insurance requirements and insurance-related 

provisions and all damages, fines, or penalties or loss of theft to the property of the City 

arising out of or related in any way to the negligent acts or omissions or intentional 

misconduct or other Contractor conduct or activities and/or conduct or activities of 

Contractor’s officers agents independent contractors, subcontractors or affiliated or related 

entities and/or its or their employees, agents and representatives, whether such actions, 

omissions to act, negligence or intentional conduct is or was authorized by this Agreement or 

not. City assumes no responsibility whatsoever for any property placed on the premises of 

City. Contractor further agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the Indemnified 

Parties. 

 

d) City Lost or Damaged Property Theft. Contractor further agrees to pay or cause to be paid for 

the indemnified parties’ benefit for any of this agreement. 

 

e) Non-Waiver and Non-Exhaustion of City’s Further Rights and Remedies. No aspect of this 

provision shall in any way limit or effect the rights of the Indemnified Parties against the 

Contractor under the terms of this Agreement or otherwise. The indemnification provisions 

shall apply regardless of whether this Agreement is executed after Contractor begins the work 

and shall extend to claims arising after this Agreement is performed or terminated, including 

a dispute as to the termination of Contractor. The indemnity obligations of Contractor shall 

continue until it is determined by final judgment that the claim against the City and any 

Indemnified Parties is determined by final judgment and after exhaustion of any rights of 

appeal. 

 

f) Limitations on Scope of Indemnity. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Contractor shall not be 

responsible for indemnification for claims or losses caused solely by the negligence or 

intentional wrongdoing of Indemnified Parties. Further, the indemnity provided shall be 

interpreted as broadly as permitted under California law and as to agreements between 



Service Contract  

Page 9 

  
 

parties, and shall if required be reformed to be consistent with those laws to protect and save 

this provision for the protection of the Indemnified Parties. 

 

 11. Assignment:  No assignment of this Agreement or of any part or obligation of performance 

hereunder shall be made, either in whole or in part, by CONTRACTOR without the prior written 

consent of CITY. 

 

 12. Independent Contractor:  The parties hereto agree that CONTRACTOR and its employees, officers, 

and agents are independent contractors under this Agreement and shall not be construed for any 

purpose to be employees of CITY. 

 

 13. Compliance With Laws:  CONTRACTOR shall comply with all applicable laws in performing its 

obligations under this Agreement. 

 

 14. Confidentiality:  Information and materials obtained by the CONTRACTOR from CITY during the 

performance of this Agreement shall be treated as strictly confidential and shall not be used by the 

CONTRACTOR for any purpose other than the performance of this Agreement. 

 

 15. Discrimination:  The CONTRACTOR agrees that no person shall be excluded from employment in 

the performance of this Agreement on grounds of race, creed, color, sex, age, marital status, or 

place of national origin.  In this connection, the CONTRACTOR agrees to comply with all County, 

State and Federal laws relating to equal employment opportunity rights. 

 

 16. Government Law:  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws 

of the State of California. 

 

 17. Attorneys' Fees:  In the event any legal proceeding is instituted to enforce any term or provision of 

this Agreement, the prevailing party in said legal proceeding shall be entitled to recover reasonable 

attorneys' fees and costs from the opposing party in an amount determined by the Court to be 

reasonable. 

 

 18. Entire Agreement:  This Agreement supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in 

writing, between the parties with respect to the subject matter herein.  Each party to this Agreement 

acknowledges that no representation by any party, which is not embodied herein, nor any other 

agreement, statement, or promise not contained in this Agreement shall be valid or binding.  Any 

modification of this Agreement shall be effective only as it is in writing, signed by all parties. 

 

 19. Contents of Request for Proposals:  Contractor is bound by the contents of City’s Request for 

Proposal, Exhibit “A” hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, and the contents of the 

proposal submitted by Contractor, Exhibit “A” hereto. In the event of conflict, the requirements of 

City’s Request for Proposals and this Agreement shall take precedence over those contained in the 

Contractor’s proposal. 

  



Service Contract  

Page 10 

  
 

  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto execute this Agreement as of the day and year first set 

forth above. 

 

CONTRACTOR:         CITY: 

             City of Loma Linda, A Municipal Corporation 

 

 

 

By:             By:       

     Signature                 Signature 

 

 

 

Name:            Name:             

           Typed/Printed                                Typed/Printed 

 

 

 

Title:             Title:        

 

             

 

 

            ATTEST: 

 

 

 

                     

            Lynette Arreola, City Clerk 

 

             

 

            APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

                     

            Diane Robbins, City Attorney 
 
 
 





CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 12 
  



City of Loma Linda 
Official Report 

Phillip Dupper, Mayor 
Ronald Dailey, Mayor pro tempore 
John Lenart, Councihnan 
Bhavin Jindal, Councihnan 
Rhodes Rigsby, Councihnan 

COUNCIL AGENDA: 

TO: 

FROM: 

VIA: 

SUBJECT: 

RECOMMENDATION: 

July 11, 2023 

City Council 

Approved/Continued/Denied 
By City Council 
Date --------

Kyle MacGavin, Information Systems Analyst Ill (Through Channels) 

T. Jarb Thaipejr, City Manager --r-rl. l-

Award Contract to TechStrata for Endpoint Security Software for 
$21,200 

It is reconunended that the City Council award the contract for Endpoint Security to Techstrata 
for the amount of $21,165.00. 

BACKGROUND: 

The backbone of cyber security for any organization starts with endpoint security. It is important 
that the city stays on the cutting edge of this technology because endpoint security is one of the 
first lines of defense the city has against external and internal threats. The city has been through 
multiple endpoint security software over the years, but this selected endpoint security, 
SentinelOne, is the most advanced yet. 

ANALYSIS: 

Three (3) vendors were contacted to provide quotes for the endpoint security product 
SentinelOne, and the City received three responses in return. The quote provided by Techstrata 
was selected due to being the city's vendor for SentinelOne for the 2022-2023 fiscal year, along 
with their familiarity of the product, and their long standing relationship with the city. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

Funds have been budgeted for FY 2023-2024 and are allocated to the 51830 (Contractual 
Agreements) citywide accounts. 

ATTACHMENT 

A. Service Agreement
B. TechStrata Quote Q-US4214



SERVICE AGREEMENT 

11-IIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this _____ day of ___ 2023, by and 
between THE CITY OF LOMA LINDA, a Municipal Corporation (hereinafter referred to as "CITY") and 

_______________ , a California Corporation/a Partnership/a Sole Proprietor, 
(hereinafter referred to as "CONTRACTOR"). 

A. RECITALS

I. City has heretofore requested of CONTACTOR the performance of services with respect to

______________________ (PROJECT" hereinafter); 

2. CONTRACTOR has now submitted its proposal for the performance of such services;

3. CITY desires to retain CONTRACTOR to perform the services necessary to render advice and
assistance to CITY relating to the PROJECT;

4. CONTRACTOR represents that it is qualified to perform such services and is willing to perform
such services as hereinafter defmed.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED by and between CITY and CONTRACTOR as follows:

B. AGREEMENT

I. Definitions: The following definitions shall apply to the following terms, except where the context
of this Agreement otherwise requires:

a. PROJECT: The preparation of all of the necessary documents, and reports with respect to the
Scope of Services described herein and hereto, and made a part hereof;

b. SCOPE OF SERVICES: Such services as are necessary to be performed by CONTRACTOR
in order to complete the WORK as set forth herein in Exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated
herein by reference;

2. CONTRACTOR agrees as follows:

a. CONTRACTOR shall forthwith undertake and complete the PROJECT in accordance herein
specified and applicable with Federal, State and CITY statutes, regulations, ordinances and
guidelines, all to the reasonable satisfaction of the CITY.

b. CONTRACTOR shall at CONTRACTOR'S sole cost and expense, secure and hire such other
persons as may, in the opinion of CONTRACTOR, be necessary to comply with the terms of this
Agreement. In the event any such other persons are retained by CONTRACTOR, CONTRACTOR
hereby w11rrants that such other persons shall be fully qualified to perform services required
hereunder.

Attachment A





















CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 13  
  









CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 14 
  





CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 15 
  





Council Bill #R-2023-29 
 

 

 
 

  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 
 
  A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LOMA 

LINDA, CALIFORNIA, ADOPTING AND AUTHORIZING 
REVISIONS TO THE EMERGENCY OPERATIONS PLAN AND 
REPEALING RESOLUTION 2783.  

 
 
 WHEREAS, 2.28.100 of the Loma Linda Municipal Code requires that the City of Loma Linda 
develop an Emergency Operations Plan which plan shall provide for the effective mobilization of all of the 
resources of the city, both private and public, to meet any condition constituting a local emergency, state of 
emergency, or state of war emergency; and shall provide for the organization, powers and duties, services, 
and staff of the emergency organization; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in response to the requirement stated above, the City of Loma Linda has prepared an 
Emergency Operations Plan to provide prompt and effective emergency response procedures to be followed 
in the event of a major emergency or disaster; and 
 
 WHEREAS, this City has also prepared an Emergency Operations Plan in order to reduce the 
potential effects of a major emergency or disaster and to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the 
residents of the City of Loma Linda; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Loma Linda hereby 
adopts the Emergency Operations Plan and authorizes minimal needed revisions. 
 
 PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED this 11

th
 day of July 2023 by the following vote: 

 
 Ayes:   
 Noes:   
 Absent:    
 Abstain:  
 
 
 
 
              
       Phillip Dupper, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
       
Lynette Arreola, City Clerk 



 
 

  
 
 

 
City of Loma Linda 

Emergency 
Operations Plan 

Part I Basic Plan 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 
 

 

 



  City of Loma Linda
 2023 Emergency Operations Plan 
 

ii 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK  



  City of Loma Linda
 2023 Emergency Operations Plan 
 

iii 
 

Emergency Operations Center Activation Quickstart Guide 
The City of Loma Linda (City) Emergency Operations Center (EOC) supports the command-and-control 
functions of the on-scene incident response. There is often insufficient information to determine if the 
EOC should be activated or how long an activation may last when an incident occurs. A virtual or partial 
EOC activation may be initiated if this condition occurs. More detailed information on emergency 
activations levels is contained in Section 4.2.3. 

Once an EOC activation begins, the first arriving staff should use this Quickstart Guide to set up and 
operate the EOC efficiently. When activated, the EOC coordinates response to all impacts on city 
communities, employees and facilities, critical and other infrastructure/services, and business functions. 
The EOC carries out this function through: 

• Information Collection and Evaluation 

• Operational Planning 

• Resource Management 

• Priority Setting 

Overall Priorities: 

• Life/Safety 

• Incident Stabilization 

• Property Preservation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  City of Loma Linda
 2023 Emergency Operations Plan 
 

iv 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



  City of Loma Linda
 2023 Emergency Operations Plan 
 

v 
 

EOC ACTIVATION CHECKLIST 

COMPLETED 

Date/Time 
TASK 

 
Open the City Emergency Operations Center (EOC) by assuming the role of 
EOC Director. Use the EOC Directors Job Aid in Appendix C. The primary EOC 
is located at 25541 Barton Road, Loma Linda, CA 92354. 

 
Establish the level of activation with the City Manager’s Office and Emergency 
Management Division. Use the guidance provided in Section 4.2.3.   

 Use EOC Call Down Roster to send an EOC Activation notification to staff. 

 
Follow building inspection instructions. Consider which EOC should be 
activated based on damage and inspections.  

 
Ensure each workstation has an Emergency Operations Plan (EOP) with 
position job aids, along with paper, pen, message forms (ICS Form 213), and 
Unit Log (ICS Form 214). Office supplies are located in the EOC closet. 

 
The first person to arrive at the EOC will circulate ICS Form 211 for sign-in 
purposes. These will be provided to the Finance Section Time Keeping Unit 
and Planning Section Documentation Unit. 

 
Contact the San Bernardino Operational Area (909) 356-3998 and notify them 
the EOC is activated. 

 Create a WebEOC incident. Turn on all audio-visual displays. 

 Post the EOC staffing chart. Use ICS Form 203, Organization Assignment List. 

 
Begin to develop situational awareness about the extent and severity of the 
incident. Use the Information Collection Plan in Appendix B. 

 Initiate preparation of the Incident Briefing, ICS Form 201. 

 Turn over duties as the EOC Director to more senior staff when directed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



  City of Loma Linda
 2023 Emergency Operations Plan 
 

vi 
 

 
PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  City of Loma Linda
 2023 Emergency Operations Plan 
 

vii 
 

FOREWARD 
This Emergency Operations Plan addresses the City of Loma Linda’s planned response to extraordinary 
emergency situations associated with natural disasters, technological incidents, and national security 
emergencies in both war and peacetime. 

The plan does not address normal day-to-day emergencies or the well-established and routine procedures 
used in coping with such emergencies. Instead, the operational concepts reflected in this plan focus on 
potential large-scale disasters, which can generate unique situations requiring unusual emergency 
responses. Such disasters pose major threats to life, the environment, and property and can impact the 
well-being of large numbers of people. 

This plan integrates California’s Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) regulations while 
meeting the requirements of the concepts and principles established in federal National Incident 
Management System (NIMS) regulations. Homeland Security Presidential Directive 5 (HSPD 5) directs the 
United States Department of Homeland Security (USDHS) to lead a coordinated national effort with other 
federal departments and agencies and State, Local and Tribal governments to establish a National 
Response Plan (NRP) and the National Incident Management System. 

The City of Loma Linda created the Emergency Operations Plan founded in the Incident Command System 
(ICS) principles and concepts within the Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS). The SEMS 
and the NIMS are compatible plans, and the City of Loma Linda recognizes these policies and utilizes the 
SEMS/NIMS as a basis for the ICS structure. The SEMS/NIMS creates a standard incident management 
system that is scalable and modular and can be used in incidents of any size/complexity. These functional 
areas include command, operations, planning, logistics, and finance/administration. The SEMS/NIMS 
incorporate such principles as Unified Command (UC) and Area Command (AC), ensuring further 
coordination for incidents involving multiple jurisdictions or agencies at any level of government. 

Homeland Security Presidential Directive 8 (HSPD 8) is a companion policy to HSPD 5 and will provide 
guidance and standards, through the NIMS Integration Center (NIC), for preparedness activities, including 
training, exercising, employee certification, credentialing, and National Resource Typing Protocols. 

This plan is a preparedness document designed to be read, understood, and exercised before an 
emergency. It provides the planning bases for hazard identification, hazard mitigation, disaster 
preparedness, emergency response, and recovery efforts. The Plan creates a uniform structure for 
emergency management. It is designed to include the City of Loma Linda as part of the California 
Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS). However, it is written primarily for (1) City 
Management Staff, (2) City Employees, (3) Federal, State, and County Governments, (4) Special Districts 
that serve City of Loma Linda residents, and (5) Private and volunteer organizations involved in 
emergencies. 

City departments identified in this plan will develop and maintain current Standard Operating Procedures 
(Department SOPs), which will detail how their assigned responsibilities will be performed to support the 
implementation of the Emergency Operations Plan. 

 



  City of Loma Linda
 2023 Emergency Operations Plan 
 

viii 
 

 

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT GOALS 

• Provide effective life safety measures and reduce property loss. 

• Provide for the rapid resumption of impacted businesses and community services. 

• Provide accurate documentation and records required for cost recovery efforts.  

ORGANIZATION OF THE EMERGENCY OPERATIONS PLAN 

• Basic Plan. The Basic Plan contains information on the overall organizational and operational 
concepts relative to response and recovery and an overview of potential hazards. The intended 
audience of the Basic Plan is the City’s decision-makers and managers. 

• EOP Appendices. The EOP Appendices contains reference materials identified in the EOP. 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

The San Bernardino County Fire Department is designated as the Administering Agency for hazardous 
materials for the City of Loma Linda, as required by Chapter 6.95 of the Health and Safety Code. This 
Emergency Operations Plan complies with and relies on the City’s hazardous materials response plan as 
required by the Environmental Protection Agency’s NRT1-A. 

APPROVAL AND PROMULGATION 

This plan will be reviewed by all departments/agencies assigned a primary function in the Emergency 
Responsibilities Matrix (EOC Manual - Management Section). Upon completion of the review and written 
concurrence by these departments/agencies, the plan will be submitted to the City Council for approval. 
Upon agreement by the City Council, the Plan will be officially adopted and promulgated. A copy will then 
be forwarded to the Governors’ Office of Emergency Services (Los Alamitos) for review. 

 



  City of Loma Linda
 2023 Emergency Operations Plan 
 

ix 
 

LETTER OF PROMULGATION 
To: Officials, Employees, Contract Staff, and the Whole Community of the City of Loma Linda 

Protection of life, property, and natural resources is an inherent function of our government. The City of 
Loma Linda, California, has prepared this Emergency Operations Plan (EOP or Plan) to ensure the most 
efficient use of resources to protect our community and its property before, during, and after a natural, 
technological, or human-caused emergency. 

Although a plan alone cannot prevent disaster situations, actions carried out by knowledgeable and well-
trained personnel can and will minimize losses of such disasters. This Plan confirms our City’s emergency 
organization, assigns tasks, presents policies and general procedures, and coordinates planning within 
various emergency management functions utilizing the Standardized Emergency Management System 
(SEMS) in alignment with the National Incident Management System (NIMS). This Plan aims to integrate 
and coordinate all Loma Linda City facilities and personnel into an effective team that can prevent, 
protect, respond to, and recover from emergencies. 

This EOP is an extension of the State Emergency Plan and the San Bernardino  County Operational Area 
Emergency Response Plan. It will be examined, exercised as needed, and updated to meet changing 
conditions. 

The City Council fully supports this Plan and encourages all agencies, employees, and the whole 
community to assist in emergencies affecting the City of Loma Linda. 

This letter promulgates and adopts the City of Loma Linda Emergency Operations Plan and formally adopts 
SEMS and NIMS by the City of Loma Linda. This plan becomes effective on approval by the City Council of 
the City of Loma Linda. 

 

 

City Manager 

City of Loma Linda 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  City of Loma Linda
 2023 Emergency Operations Plan 
 

x 
 

 
 
 
 
 

PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 



 City of Loma Linda
 2023 Emergency Operations Plan 
 

xi 
 

 
SIGNED CONCURRENCES BY 

PRIMARY RESPONSE DEPARTMENTS 
Having reviewed the foregoing City of Loma Linda Emergency Plan and approved same, I hereto set my signature. 

_______________________________________________________ 
Administration Department, City Manager 

_______________________________________________________ 
City Clerk Department, City Clerk 

_______________________________________________________ 
Community Development, Community Development Director 

_______________________________________________________ 
Finance Department, Finance Director/Treasurer 

_______________________________________________________ 
Fire Department, Fire Chief 
 
_______________________________________________________ 
Information Systems Department, City Manager 

_______________________________________________________ 
Public Works Department, Director/City Engineer 

_______________________________________________________ 
San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department, Sheriff’s Designee 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  City of Loma Linda
 2023 Emergency Operations Plan 
 

xii 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  City of Loma Linda
 2023 Emergency Operations Plan 
 

xiii 
 

Plan Distribution List 

Lo
m

a 
Li

nd
a 

De
pa

rt
m

en
ts

 

Administrative Department 
City Manager  
Human Resources Director  
City Clerk Department 
City Clerk  
Assistant City Clerk  
City Council 
City Council/Mayor  
Community Development Department 
Community Development Director  
Finance Department 
Finance Director/Treasurer  
Fire Department 
Fire Chief  
Deputy Chiefs  
Battalion Chiefs  
Emergency Services Coordinator  
Emergency Operations Center  
Information Systems Department 
 City Manager  
Public Works Department 
Public Works Director/City Engineer  
San Bernardino Sheriff’s Department 
 Sheriff’s Designee  

External 
Agencies 

San Bernardino County Operational Area Office of Emergency 
Services 

 

California Office of Emergency Services (Cal OES)  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 



  City of Loma Linda
 2023 Emergency Operations Plan 
 

xiv 
 

 

 

 

 

PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



    City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

 

xv 
 

 

Plan Maintenance and Record of Revisions 
Record corrections and updates on this page as provided by the City’s Emergency Services Coordinator. 
The Emergency Services Coordinator will maintain the official copy of the Emergency Operations Plan. 

 

Date 

 

Basic Plan 

 

Section 

 

Pages 

 

Description 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     



    City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

 

xvi 
 

 

 

 

 
PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



    City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

 

xvii 
 

Plan Approval Resolution 
(To be inserted upon adoption) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



    City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

 

xviii 
 

 

 

 

 

PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



    City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

 

xix 
 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
1. Emergency Operations Plan Overview and Administration .................................................................................. 1 

1.1 Plan Format and Use .................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2 Purpose and Scope ....................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.3 City EOP Activation ....................................................................................................................................... 2 

1.4 Authorities.................................................................................................................................................... 2 

1.4.1 Local ......................................................................................................................................................... 3 

1.4.2 State ......................................................................................................................................................... 3 

1.4.3 Federal ..................................................................................................................................................... 4 

1.5 Relationship to Other Plans/references ....................................................................................................... 4 

1.6 Standard Operating Procedure/Guides (SOPs/SOGs) .................................................................................. 5 

1.7 Private Industry, Special Districts, and Non-government Organizations ..................................................... 5 

2. Situation and Assumptions ................................................................................................................................... 7 

2.1 City Description ............................................................................................................................................ 7 

2.1.1 Climate ..................................................................................................................................................... 7 

2.1.2 City Services ............................................................................................................................................. 7 

2.2 Infrastructure ............................................................................................................................................... 7 

2.3 Hazard Identification .................................................................................................................................... 8 

2.3.1 Hazard Profiles ......................................................................................................................................... 9 

3. Concept of Operations (ConOps) ........................................................................................................................ 21 

3.1 Assumptions ............................................................................................................................................... 21 

3.2 Phases of Emergency Management ........................................................................................................... 22 

3.2.1 Prevention ............................................................................................................................................. 22 

3.2.2 Mitigation .............................................................................................................................................. 22 

3.2.3 Preparedness ......................................................................................................................................... 23 

3.2.4 Response ................................................................................................................................................ 23 

3.2.5 Recovery ................................................................................................................................................ 25 

3.3 National Incident Management System (NIMS)......................................................................................... 26 

3.4 Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) ............................................................................ 26 

3.4.1 Field Response ....................................................................................................................................... 27 

3.4.2 Local Government .................................................................................................................................. 27 



    City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

 
 

xx 
 

3.4.3 Operational Area ................................................................................................................................... 28 

3.4.4 Regional Level and Regional Emergency Operations Center (REOC) ..................................................... 30 

3.4.5 State Level and State Operations Center (SOC) ..................................................................................... 30 

3.5 Incident Command System (ICS) ................................................................................................................ 30 

3.6 Mutual Aid .................................................................................................................................................. 31 

3.6.1 California Master Mutual Aid Agreement .............................................................................................. 31 

3.6.2 Mutual Aid Systems ............................................................................................................................... 32 

3.6.3 Mutual Aid Regions ................................................................................................................................ 32 

3.6.4 Mutual Aid Coordinators ....................................................................................................................... 32 

3.6.5 Loma Linda Mutual Aid .......................................................................................................................... 33 

3.7 Emergency Management Assistance Compact (EMAC) ............................................................................. 34 

3.8 Loma Linda Emergency Organization ......................................................................................................... 35 

3.8.1 Disaster Council ..................................................................................................................................... 35 

3.8.2 Director of Emergency Services ............................................................................................................. 36 

3.8.3 Field Level Incident Command System .................................................................................................. 36 

3.8.4 Field/EOC Communications and Coordination ...................................................................................... 37 

3.8.5 Field/EOC Coordination with Department Operations Centers (DOCs) ................................................ 37 

3.9 EOC Action Plans ........................................................................................................................................ 37 

3.10 Emergency Proclamations .......................................................................................................................... 38 

3.10.1 City Proclamations ............................................................................................................................. 38 

3.10.2 County Proclamations ....................................................................................................................... 38 

3.10.3 State of Emergency ........................................................................................................................... 38 

3.10.4 State of War Emergency .................................................................................................................... 39 

3.10.5 Presidential Declaration .................................................................................................................... 39 

3.11 Alerting and Warning ................................................................................................................................. 39 

3.11.1 Integrated Public Alert and Warning System .................................................................................... 40 

3.11.2 Emergency Alert System (EAS) .......................................................................................................... 40 

3.11.3 Wireless Emergency Alerts (WEA) ..................................................................................................... 41 

3.11.4 California State Warning Center ........................................................................................................ 42 

3.11.5 National Warning System (NAWAS) .................................................................................................. 43 

3.11.6 National Weather Service .................................................................................................................. 43 

3.11.7 Telephone Emergency Notification System ...................................................................................... 44 

3.11.8 SB Ready ............................................................................................................................................ 44 



    City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

 
 

xxi 
 

3.11.9 Nixle ................................................................................................................................................... 44 

3.11.10 Government Emergency Telephone System and Wireless Priority Service ...................................... 44 

3.12 Populations with Disabilities and Other Access and Functional Needs ..................................................... 45 

3.12.1 Functional Needs Populations ........................................................................................................... 46 

3.12.2 California OES Office of Access and Functional Needs ...................................................................... 46 

3.13 Animal Considerations ............................................................................................................................... 46 

3.14 Continuity of Government ......................................................................................................................... 47 

4. Emergency Operations........................................................................................................................................ 49 

4.1 Emergency Organization ............................................................................................................................ 49 

4.1.1 Response Levels ..................................................................................................................................... 49 

4.1.2 SEMS Functions ...................................................................................................................................... 49 

4.2 Emergency Operations Center (EOC) ......................................................................................................... 50 

4.2.1 Purpose and Functions of the EOC ........................................................................................................ 50 

4.2.2 EOC Locations and Layout...................................................................................................................... 51 

4.2.3 EOC Activation and Deactivation ........................................................................................................... 51 

4.2.4 EOC Organization ................................................................................................................................... 53 

4.2.5 EOC Safety and Security ......................................................................................................................... 66 

4.3 Emergency Communications...................................................................................................................... 66 

4.4 Information Management .......................................................................................................................... 67 

4.5 Information Collection, Analysis, and Dissemination ................................................................................. 67 

4.6 Public Information ...................................................................................................................................... 68 

4.6.1 Public Information Officer ..................................................................................................................... 69 

4.6.2 City Website ........................................................................................................................................... 69 

4.6.3 Social Media ........................................................................................................................................... 70 

4.6.4 Community Outreach ............................................................................................................................ 70 

4.7 Administration, Finance, and Resource Management ............................................................................... 71 

4.8 Support to Populations with Disabilities and Other Access and Functional Needs ................................... 71 

4.9 Recovery Operations Framework............................................................................................................... 72 

4.10 After-Action Reports .................................................................................................................................. 72 

5. Plan Development, Distribution, and Maintenance ........................................................................................... 73 

5.1 Plan Updates .............................................................................................................................................. 73 

5.2 Plan Testing, Training, and Exercises ......................................................................................................... 73 

5.2.1 Training .................................................................................................................................................. 73 



    City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

 
 

xxii 
 

5.2.2 Exercises ................................................................................................................................................ 74 

5.2.3 Training Matrix....................................................................................................................................... 75 

5.3 After Action Review ................................................................................................................................... 76 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

1 
 

1. EMERGENCY OPERATIONS PLAN OVERVIEW AND ADMINISTRATION 
This Section provides general information on the content and use of the Emergency Operations Plan (EOP 
or Plan). 

1.1 PLAN FORMAT AND USE 
The EOP is designed to assist City and other staff members with key roles and responsibilities for 
responding during emergencies. Emergency management organization staff who support emergency 
response, report to the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) or Department Operations Centers (DOC) or 
are assigned to field response duties should use the EOP to guide their actions in completing assigned 
tasks. 

The EOP is composed of a base plan with supporting appendices and annexes. 

BASIC PLAN 

The EOP provides an overview of the City’s organization, policies, and approach to all phases of emergency 
preparedness. It is the foundation document for the City’s emergency management program. The EOP 
identifies the functions and responsibilities of the emergency response organization and EOC staff and 
guides plan maintenance. It describes internal processes that address emergency response and 
coordination. The EOP intends to provide supporting documentation to emergency response staff that is 
detailed enough for effective response yet is flexible enough to be used in any emergency response.  

APPENDICES 

The EOP appendices include forms, checklists, and other supplemental information to be used in 
preparation for and during an emergency. Appendices also include supporting information that may 
frequently change, such as personnel rosters and contact lists. 

1.2 PURPOSE AND SCOPE  
The Basic Plan addresses the City of Loma Linda's planned response to emergencies associated with 
natural disasters and technological incidents – including both peacetime and wartime defense operations. 
It provides an overview of operational concepts, identifies components of the City’s emergency 
management organization within the Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) and the 
National Incident Management System (NIMS), and describes the overall responsibilities of the federal, 
state, and county entities and the City for protecting life and property and assuring the overall well-being 
of the population. 

The Emergency Operations Plan (EOP) has been designed to serve the growing needs of the City of Loma 
Linda. As the population continues to increase and, with it, vulnerability to hazards, the EOP must be 
flexible enough to use in all emergencies. This plan meets that need and will increase the effectiveness 
and efficiency of the community’s response and short-term recovery activities.  

 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

2 
 

1.3 CITY EOP ACTIVATION 
Activation of the EOP occurs as a result of any of the following conditions: 

• By order of the Director of Emergency Services  (Director) as specified in City Municipal 
Code Section 2.28, provided that the existence or threatened existence of a Local 
Emergency has been proclaimed per the City Municipal Code.  

• When the Director determines that the available resources are inadequate to cope with 
the incident 

• When the Governor proclaims a State of Emergency for an area that includes the City 

• Automatically on the proclamation of a State of War Emergency as defined in California 
Emergency Services Act (Government Code §§ 8550, et seq.)  

• A Presidential declaration of a National Emergency 

EOP activation should not be confused with activation of the City’s Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Detailed information about activating the City’s EOC is contained in Section 4.2.3 of this EOP. 

1.4 AUTHORITIES  
The California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7 of Division 1 of Title 2 of the Government Code), 
hereafter referred to as the Act, provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations 
following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of Emergency, or State of War Emergency, by the 
Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of the Act. 

The SEMS Regulations (Chapter 1 of Division 2 of Title 19 of the California Code of Regulations), hereafter 
referred to as SEMS, establish the SEMS to effectively respond to multi-agency, multi-jurisdiction 
emergencies in California. SEMS is based on the Incident Command System (ICS) adapted from the system 
initially developed by the Firefighting Resources of California Organized for Potential Emergencies 
(FIRESCOPE) program. SEMS incorporates ICS, the Master Mutual Aid Agreement and existing mutual aid 
systems, the Operational Area concept, multi-agency or inter-agency coordination, and the Operational 
Area Satellite Information System (OASIS). 

Homeland Security Presidential Directive 5 (HSPD 5) directed the United States Department of Homeland 
Security (USDHS) to lead a coordinated national effort with other federal departments and agencies and 
State, Local and Tribal governments to establish a National Response Plan (NRP) and the National Incident 
Management System. NIMS requires: 1) institutionalizing the Incident Command System, 2) incorporating 
NIMS into training and exercises, 3) incorporation of NIMS principles in Emergency Operations Plans, 4) 
local recognition of NIMS and adoption of NIMS principles and policies, 5) delivery of NIMS-mandated 
training courses to those individuals who may be involved in a future emergency response. 

NIMS standard incident management structure is based on three key organizational systems: 

• The Incident Command System (ICS) defines the operating characteristics, management 
components, and structure of incident management organizations throughout the life cycle of an 
incident. 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

3 
 

• Multi-agency Coordination Systems, which define the operating characteristics, management 
components, and organizational structure of supporting entities. 

• Public Information Systems, which include the processes, procedures, and systems for 
communicating timely and accurate information to the public during emergencies. 

The California Emergency Plan, which the Governor promulgates, is published under the Act and provides 
overall statewide authorities and responsibilities and describes the functions and operations of 
government at all levels during extraordinary emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act 
states, in part, that "the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each political subdivision of the state, 
and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to carry 
out the provisions thereof." Local emergency plans are, therefore, considered to be extensions of the 
California Emergency Plan. In 2005, the California Emergency Plan was updated to comply with the 
National Incident Management System. 

The California Civil and Government Codes contain several references to liability release (Good Samaritan 
Act) for those providing emergency services.  

The following guidance provides emergency authorities for conducting and/or supporting emergency 
operations: 

1.4.1 LOCAL 
• Emergency Preparedness and Functions (Ordinance No.1664) 

• Emergency and Disaster Organization and Functions (Ordinance No. 153) 

• Resolution adopting the Master Mutual Aid Agreement (Resolution No. 46) 

• Resolution adopting Workmen's Compensation Benefits for Disaster Service Workers (Resolution 
No. 276) 

• Resolution adopting the Emergency Operations Plan (Resolution No. xxx) 

• Resolution adopting the National Incident Management System (Resolution No.xxx) 

• San Bernardino County Operational Area Emergency Operations Plan 

• City of Loma Linda Municipal Code 

1.4.2 STATE 
• Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) Regulations (Chapter 1 of Division 2 of Title 

19 of the California Code of Regulations) and (Government Code Section 8607(a)) Standardized 
Emergency Management System (SEMS) Guidelines. 

• California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7 of Division 1 of Title 2 of the Government Code). 

• “Good Samaritan” Liability 

• California Emergency Plan 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

4 
 

• California Natural Disaster Assistance Act (Chapter 7.5 of Division 1 of Title 2 of the Government 
Code) 

• California Hazardous Materials Incident Contingency Plan 

• California Health and Safety Code, Division 20, Chapter 6.5, Sections 25115 and25117, Chapter 
6.95, Sections 2550 et seq., Chapter 7, Sections 25600 through25610, dealing with hazardous 
materials 

• Orders and Regulations which the Governor may selectively promulgate during a State of 
Emergency 

• Orders and Regulations Promulgated by the Governor to Take Effect upon the Existence of a State 
of War Emergency 

• California Master Mutual Aid Agreement 

• Disaster Assistance Procedure Manual (CAL OES) 

• California Emergency Resources Management Plan 

• California Law Enforcement Mutual Aid Plan 

• California Fire and Rescue Operations Plan 

1.4.3 FEDERAL 
• Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act of 1988 (Public Law 93-288, as 

amended) 

• Federal Civil Defense Act of 1950 (Public Law 920), as amended 

• NRT-1, Hazardous Materials Emergency Planning Guide, and NRT-1A Plan Review Guide 
(Environmental Protection Agency's National Response Team) 

• National Incident Management System (Homeland Security Presidential Directive 5) 

1.5 RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER PLANS/REFERENCES 
The EOP is the primary document used by the City to describe the conduct of emergency management 
activities. The EOP addresses how emergency response and recovery operations will be conducted and 
how resource support will be requested and coordinated.  

The EOP is not a stand-alone document. Its purpose is to coordinate emergency operations while 
supporting the emergency plans and procedures of all City departments. The EOP is designed to be flexible 
enough to adapt to a changing response environment while meeting the needs of supporting and 
requesting organizations. Other plans and guidelines the EOP may support/complement include:  

• State of California Emergency Plan 2017 

• State of California Emergency Management Mutual Aid Plan 2012 

• California Law Enforcement Mutual Aid Plan 2016 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

5 
 

• California Fire Service and Rescue Emergency Mutual Aid Plan 2014 

• California Public Health and Medical Emergency Operations Manual 2011 

• Southern California Catastrophic Earthquake Plan 2010 

• San Bernardino County Operational Area Emergency Response Plan (OAERP) 

• The San Bernardino County Multi-Jurisdiction Local Hazard Mitigation Plan Update 2016 

• Resilient IE 

• City of Loma Linda Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 

• City General Plan 

• Other City Department Emergency Operations Plans and Standard Operating Procedures 

1.6 STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURE/GUIDES (SOPS/SOGS) 
SOPs/SOGs describe the purpose, authorities, durations, and details of the preferred method for 
performing a single function or a number of interrelated functions in a uniform manner. The Emergency 
Services Coordinator and department directors are responsible for the development and maintenance of 
their respective segments of this plan and their appropriate supporting SOPs/SOGs as stated here and set 
forth in each section. Some department directors may choose to develop only one plan, the EOP, and 
make it an all-inclusive EOP/SOP. 

1.7 PRIVATE INDUSTRY, SPECIAL DISTRICTS, AND NON-GOVERNMENT ORGANIZATIONS 
Volunteer agencies and private agencies may participate in the mutual aid system along with 
governmental agencies. For example, the disaster medical mutual aid system relies heavily on private 
sector involvement for medical/health resources. Some volunteer agencies, such as the American Red 
Cross, Salvation Army, and others, are an essential element of the statewide emergency response to meet 
the needs of disaster victims. Volunteer agencies mobilize volunteers and other resources through their 
own systems. They also may identify resource needs that are not met within their own systems that would 
be requested through the mutual aid system. Volunteer agencies with extensive involvement in the 
emergency response should be represented in EOCs. 

Some private agencies have established mutual aid arrangements to assist other private agencies within 
their functional area. For example, electric and gas utilities have mutual aid agreements within their 
industry and established procedures for coordinating with governmental EOCs. In some functional areas, 
services are provided by a mix of special district, municipal and private agencies. Mutual aid arrangements 
may include both governmental and private agencies. Liaisons between activated EOCs and private 
agencies involved in a response should be established. Where there is a need for extensive coordination 
and information exchange, private agencies should be represented in activated EOCs at the appropriate 
time. 

 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

6 
 

 

 

 

 

 

PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

 

 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

7 
 

2. SITUATION AND ASSUMPTIONS 
The following section provides basic information about the city and identifies potential hazards that may 
pose risks to the city’s communities. 

2.1 CITY DESCRIPTION 
The City of Loma Linda is a roughly square pattern (8 square miles) and is located in the southern part 
of the San Bernardino Valley. Loma Linda is bordered on the east by the City of Redlands, on the north 
by the City of San Bernardino (and I-10 freeway), on the west by the City of Colton, and is bordered 
on the south by the Badland Hills and the Riverside County line. Loma Linda is part of the Santa Ana 
River floodplain on the north side, with an elevation of 1053', which gradually rises in elevation to 
1850' to the south Badland Hills/Riverside County line.  

Loma Linda is dominated by the Loma Linda University and associated medical community (such as 
the Loma Linda Medical Center, Loma Linda Children's Hospital, Faculty Medical Offices, Loma Linda 
V.A. Hospital, Loma Linda University Heart and Surgical Hospital, and the Loma Linda Community 
Hospital). The city remains at approximately 25,000 residents; however, the daytime population can 
rise to approximately 80,000 people due to the employment, students, and healthcare that these 
facilities attract. 

2.1.1 CLIMATE 
The city’s climate is classified as warm Mediterranean, or Csa, under the Köppen climate classification 
system, with hot, dry summers and cooler, wetter winters.  

Winter/ Spring – typically lasts from November through early May, with average highs from 60’s and 70’s 
°F and lows in the 30’s and 40’s °F. During these times of the year, the city can experience cold weather 
events and heavy rains. During these times of the year, flooding and landslide incidents can occur, and 
monitoring should occur to manage these risks.  

Summer/ Fall – runs typically from June through October, with average high temperatures in the low 90’s 
and essentially no rainfall. The city can experience extreme heat events, severe winds (Santa Ana Winds), 
and extreme fire danger during these times of the year. These conditions can often occur together, 
creating high-risk conditions for City staff, residents, and businesses.  

2.1.2 CITY SERVICES  
Government Services are provided directly by the City, except for the following services:  

• Law Enforcement: Provided under contract with the San Bernardino County Sherriff 

• Electrical Utilities: Provided by Southern California Edison 

• Gas Utilities: Provided by Southern California Gas Company (SoCal Gas) 

• Refuse and Recycling: Provided under contract with CR&R Environmental Services 

2.2 INFRASTRUCTURE 
An inventory of City Critical Facilities is provided in Appendix J. 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

8 
 

2.3 HAZARD IDENTIFICATION 
The 2021 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan and 2022 General Plan Safety Element include a  detailed 
assessment of the community's natural hazards. Table 2.1 below identifies the hazards identified in the 
LHMP and the anticipated level of impacts that could occur within the city.  

 

TABLE 2.1: IDENTIFIED HAZARDS FOR LOMA LINDA 

HAZARD PROBABILITY 
 

IMPACT 

Wildfire High High 

Seismic High  High 

Drought High Medium 

Hazardous Materials Release Medium High 

Climate Change Medium Medium 

Flood Medium Medium 

Human-caused Hazards (Terrorism) Medium Medium 

Slope Failure Medium Medium 

Aircraft Incident Medium Medium 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

9 
 

2.3.1 HAZARD PROFILES 
The following tables provide a description of the hazards that may affect the city. 

NATURAL HAZARDS 

WILDFIRE 

Description: Wildland fires are relatively common in the wildland and forested areas and a natural 
feature of many ecosystems in the State. However, changes to California’s landscape due to farming 
and urban development, past suppression of naturally occurring fires (allowing dry fuel to accumulate), 
and increased development into forested and other natural areas have all made wildfires a hazard of 
concern. There are two primary types of wildfires: wildland fires and wildland-urban interface (WUI) 
fires. Wildland fires burn entirely in natural environments and generally pose a minor direct threat to 
life or property, although they may threaten sensitive environmental areas. These fires may be left to 
burn out on their own or may even be deliberately set in an attempt to return California’s wildfire 
regime to a natural pattern. WUI fires, which burn in areas where development has intruded into 
natural settings, pose a substantially greater risk. Depending on the population density of the WUI and 
the topography of the area, even small WUI fires can be highly damaging. 

Risk/Threat: Wildfire risk is the result of multiple factors, including the amount and type of vegetation 
in an area, the local topography, the health of the vegetation (due to extended drought conditions or 
pestilence), and weather and climatic conditions such as temperature, humidity, and wind. Wildfires 
may be started by weather (lightning), accidents (sparks from machinery, for example), or deliberately. 

Fire-prone areas in California are divided into three categories: Federal Responsibility Areas (FRAs), 
State Responsibility Areas (SRAs), and Local Responsibility Areas (LRAs). FRAs are lands where federal 
agencies are responsible for preventing and fighting fires and include lands protected by the US Forest 
Service, the US Department of Agriculture, and the Department of the Interior (including the National 
Park Service, the Bureau of Land Management, and the Bureau of Indian Affairs). SRAs are areas where 
the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (Cal Fire) is responsible for fire prevention 
and firefighting, while local agencies have responsibilities in the LRAs. The wildfire-prone areas within 
the city are entirely within the LRA.  

Affected Population Estimates: There are approximately 3,126 residential buildings within the CalFire 
Wildfire Severity Zones.   

Frequency: Wildfire is the most commonly occurring hazard event in California. Generally, Loma Linda 
faces a wildland fire threat annually. Recent fires that have affected the city include the 2001 Reche 
Fire (burned 1,798 acres) and the 2010 Scott Fire (burned 95 acres). 

Geographical Considerations: A Very High Fire Hazard Severity Zone has been identified along the 
southern portion of the city.  Residential uses have been constructed within these areas that back up 
to natural vegetation.  

Response Considerations: Response considerations for Wildfire events should include understanding 
the direction and speed of any winds (or the forecast for these conditions), the location of ignition, 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

10 
 

the evacuation routes necessary to travel safely, special needs associated with evacuation (large 
animals, special needs populations), and the procurement of necessary resources and equipment if 
the incident grows beyond its boundaries and capabilities. An additional problem in controlling 
wildland fires is due to limited firefighting facilities and lack of direct access to Loma Linda’s VHFHSZ, 
which lengthens response times. 

Associated Plans: 2021 LHMP, 2022 Safety Element 

SEISMIC HAZARDS (FAULT RUPTURE, SEISMIC SHAKING, LIQUEFACTION) 

Description: Seismic hazards includes four different but related hazard types—fault rupture, seismic 
shaking, and liquefaction—all of which are consequences of earthquakes. Earthquakes are caused by 
the movement of large pieces of the earth’s crust, called tectonic plates. As the tectonic plates move 
against each other, they can become stuck together, causing stress between the plates to build up until 
it eventually overcomes the friction holding them together. When this happens, the stress is released, 
and the plates suddenly slip past each other, creating the shaking that we call an earthquake. 
Earthquakes occur along boundaries called fault lines. These fault lines may be the actual border 
between plates, but they may also be borders between two sections of a single plate, created by the 
repeated accumulated and released stress process. 

Fault Rupture occurs when the earth's surface shifts and cracks along a fault line during a seismic event. 
While this phenomenon is not especially dangerous in natural environments, issues arise when 
structures are built near or on top of an active fault. Per the California Geological Survey (CGS), an active 
fault has experienced surface movement in the past 11,700 years. 

Liquefaction is a ground failure phenomenon that may occur during a seismic event. Liquefaction 
results when seismic energy shakes an area with low-density, fine-grain soil, like sand or silt, saturated 
with water. The shaking motion causes loosely packed soils to experience decompaction, making the 
saturated sediment behave more like a liquid than solid ground. During liquefaction events, the liquified 
soil can lose most of its stability, causing damage to buildings and infrastructure built upon it.  

Risk/Threat: 

Fault rupture: Fault segments where rupture could occur include the San Jacinto Fault and the Reche 
Canyon Fault. An Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone is delineated along the San Jacinto Fault within 
the City. When located at the surface, the risk of fault rupture is especially dangerous if structures are 
built on top of the fault or if infrastructure crosses the fault. If movement along the fault is significant, 
these facilities could be damaged (structural damage, pipeline breaks, roadway/ bridge failure), 
rendering them useless after the event. 

Seismic shaking: According to the Third Uniform California Earthquake Rupture Forecast (UCERF3), the 
probability of an M6.7 earthquake in the next 30 years along the San Jacinto Fault is approximately 5%. 
In comparison, the  San Andreas Fault has an 18% chance of producing an M6.7 earthquake within the 
next 30 years.  



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

11 
 

Liquefaction: Liquefaction poses significant problems for buildings and other structures in areas where 
it can occur, as the ground may give way under the weight of the structure and its foundation. In 
addition, underground structures are vulnerable to liquefaction. 

Affected Population Estimates: All of the city is subject to the potential effects of a seismic event. In 
the instances of fault rupture and liquefaction, minimal populations within the city are potentially 
affected due to the isolated locations of these hazard areas and the limited amount of development.  

Frequency: Seismic incidents occur regularly near the city. The list below describes seismic events since 
1990. 

DATE EVENT NAME/LOCATION DISTANCE (MILES) MAGNITUDE 

2019 RIDGECREST 124 7.1 

2008 CHINO HILLS 32 5.4 

1999 RUNNING SPRINGS 24 5.6 

1992 LUCERNE VALLEY 61 5.3 

1992 BIG BEAR CITY 46 5.3 

1992 BIG BEAR LAKE 41 5.2 

1992 YUCCA VALLEY 64 5.3 

1992 BIG BEAR LAKE 41 5.3 

1992 BIG BEAR CITY 46 6.3 

1992 BIG BEAR LAKE 41 5.5 

1992 YUCCA VALLEY 64 5.4 

1992 YUCCA VALLEY 64 5.0 

1990 CLAREMONT 29 5.5 
 

Geographical Characteristics: Several faults run through the boundaries of Loma Linda. The most active 
of those is the San Jacinto Fault, which has been the most historically active fault zone in Southern 
California. This fault is located within a zone of required investigation as designated by the California 
Geological Survey. Southwest of the San Jacinto Fault is the Reche Canyon Fault, which is potentially 
active. Other faults in the City are classified as inactive, including the Loma Linda, Banning, and Live Oak 
Canyon Faults. The San Andreas Fault does not directly run through Loma Linda but poses a higher 
probability of both occurrence and severe shaking in the City. 

Liquefaction: Within the San Bernardino Basin Area, three groundwater subbasins underlie portions of 
the city. These include Bunker Hill (the northern portion of the city), Reche Canyon Basin (the southwest 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

12 
 

portion of the city), and San Timoteo Basin (the eastern portion of the city). Given the presence of 
shallow groundwater in these subbasins, there is a moderate to moderately high susceptibility for 
liquefaction hazards in the northwest portion of the city and the southern reaches of Reche Canyon. 
Other areas of liquefaction susceptibility include the north-central portion of the city and a canyon 
extending into the western portion of the city from Reche Canyon. 

Response Considerations: Response considerations should include damage assessments of critical 
facilities, identification of safe locations for potential evacuation and sheltering purposes, and 
protecting life and property from infrastructure that is damaged and deemed hazardous to people and 
the environment. 

Associated Plans:  

City of Loma Linda Plans: 2021 LHMP; 2022 Safety Element 

DROUGHT 

Description: a period in which water supplies become scarce. In California, droughts occur when 
precipitation is limited for an extended period. Unlike most other hazards, droughts develop over a 
long period, often taking multiple dry years to cause drought conditions, which may persist for years. 
Droughts may also significantly impact communities not directly in the affected area. 

Risk/Threat: Droughts are regional in nature, although depending on where water comes from, 
droughts could be felt from outside the local area if water supplies are impacted. The US Drought 
Monitor Classifications range from D0 (Abnormally Dry) through D4 (Exceptional Drought). Checking 
this resource ensures an understanding of the city's current drought conditions. 

Affected Population Estimates: The regional nature of drought hazards means that all of the city faces 
an equal risk of drought. 

Frequency: Droughts are a regular feature in California and are almost certain to continue to occur in 
the future, with varying severity and duration. 

Geographical Considerations: The specific impacts of a drought can depend on several local conditions, 
including water supply systems, soil types, and land uses. The City of Loma Linda relies on the local 
water supply and groundwater within the Bunker Hill Basin. If there is a change in the amount of snow 
melt that usually replenishes the basin, the city could experience drought conditions. 

Response Considerations: Taking immediate actions to maintain service to customers by increasing 
supplies and reducing water use. 

Associated Plans: 2021 LHMP, 2022 Safety Element 

CLIMATE CHANGE 

Description: Climate change refers to any distinct change in measures of climate lasting for a long 
period of time, more specifically, major changes in temperature, rainfall, snow, or wind patterns. 
Climate change may be limited to a specific region or may occur across the planet. Climate change may 
result from: 

https://droughtmonitor.unl.edu/
https://droughtmonitor.unl.edu/


                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

13 
 

• Natural factors (e.g., changes in the Sun’s energy or slow changes in the Earth’s orbit around the 
Sun); 

• Natural processes within the climate system (e.g., changes in ocean circulation); and 
• Human activities that change the atmosphere’s makeup (e.g., burning fossil fuels) and the land 

surface (e.g., cutting down forests, planting trees, building developments in cities and suburbs, 
etc.). 

Risk/Threat: Climate Change can potentially affect the City of Loma Linda in a variety of ways. 
Heatwaves: Climate change is expected to lead to increases in the frequency, intensity, and duration 
of extreme heat events and heatwaves in the City of Loma Linda and the rest of California, which are 
likely to increase the risk of mortality and morbidity due to heat-related illness and exacerbation of 
existing chronic health conditions. Those most at risk and vulnerable to climate-related illness are the 
elderly, individuals with chronic conditions such as heart and lung disease, diabetes, and mental 
illnesses, infants, the socially or economically disadvantaged, and those who work outdoors. Heat can 
stress infrastructure, altering maintenance needs, particularly for roadways. 

Precipitation, intense rainstorms, and landslide: Increased frequency of landslides could be seen 
throughout the City, especially in areas already identified as high risk. Intense rainfall events, 
periodically ones with larger than historical runoff, will continue to affect California with more frequent 
and/or more extensive flooding. 

Wildfire: Warmer weather, reduced snowpack, and earlier snowmelt can be expected to increase 
wildfire through fuel hazards and ignition risks. These changes can also increase plant moisture stress 
and insect populations, affecting forest health and reducing forest resilience to wildfires. Increased 
wildfire intensity and extent will increase public safety risks, property damage, fire suppression, and 
emergency response costs to the government. Additionally, there could be watershed and water quality 
impacts, vegetation conversions, and habitat fragmentation. 

Droughts: Droughts are likely to become more frequent and persistent in the 21st century.  

Affected Population Estimates: The effects of climate change are not limited or defined by geographical 
borders. Every resident of Loma Linda is at risk of the impacts of climate change.  

Frequency: Unlike other hazards, such as earthquakes and floods that occur over a finite period of time, 
climate change is an ongoing hazard. Climate change is predicted to increase the frequency of other 
hazard events. Warmer weather, reduced snowpack, and earlier snowmelt can be expected to increase 
wildfire through fuel hazards and ignition risks. Climate change is expected to increase extreme heat 
events and heat waves' frequency, intensity, and duration. 
Geographical Characteristics: Geographical borders do not limit the effects of climate change. Loma 
Linda, San Bernardino County, the State of California, the United States, and the rest of the world are 
all at risk of climate change. As such, the entire City is at risk of the effects of climate change. 
Response Considerations: Vulnerable populations should receive special attention when assessing the 
community’s vulnerability to climate change. For example, care and sheltering must be provided for 
vulnerable populations such as the elderly during extreme heat conditions. Since climate change can 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

14 
 

exacerbate other hazards, consideration should also be given to populations living in high-hazard 
wildfire and flood zones. Drought caused by climate change will also affect the entire population. 
Agricultural yields will suffer, and drier vegetation creates more fuel for wildfires. 
Associated Plans: 

2021 LHMP; 2022 Safety Element; Resilient IE 

FLOOD  

Description:  

Flood: Flooding occurs any time a body of water rises to cover what is usually dry land. Floods have 
many causes, including heavy rains, spring snowmelt, and dam or levee failure. When flooding occurs, 
affected areas may sustain damage to structures and personal property, severe environmental damage 
from soil erosion and deforestation, and damage to utilities and transportation systems. Floods that 
develop quickly, known as flash floods, are especially dangerous because there may be little warning 
that one is occurring, but floods can also build over a more extended period.  

Dam Inundation: Dam failure occurs when a dam is damaged or destroyed to the point where it 
partially or completely loses its ability to hold back water. When this occurs, some or all of the water 
impounded by the dam is suddenly released, causing a fast-moving flood downstream of the dam. 
Depending on the amount of water released, the flood caused by dam failure can resemble a flash flood 
or, in more severe instances, can resemble a wall of water similar to a tsunami. These floods can 
damage or destroy property and cause injury or loss of life for people in the affected area. Due to the 
speed of the floodwaters, an unexpected dam failure event may occur too rapidly to effectively notify 
people living near the dam. 

Risk/Threat:  

Flooding: Flood severity is generally described in the percent of occurrence over a span of years, such 
as a 100-year event, which equates to a 1 percent chance of occurring in any given year. Similarly, a 
500-year flood event is one where the risk of such an event is 0.2 percent in any given year. Flood events 
within the city can occur either due to large storms and flash flooding that overwhelms infrastructure 
or the failure of flood control facilities that inundate downstream communities. 

Dam Inundation: Water released by a failed dam generates tremendous energy and can cause a flood 
that is catastrophic to life and property. 

Affected Population Estimates:  

Flooding: Populations located within or downstream of flood hazard zones will be most vulnerable to 
this hazard; however, key locations within the city that either lack adequate storm drain infrastructure 
or cannot effectively convey storm flows may also be affected.  

Dam Inundation: Areas downstream of dam facilities within the city are most vulnerable to these 
effects. No Dam Inundation Zones are found within the municipal city limits of Loma Linda. 

Frequency:  



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

15 
 

Flooding: Flooding is most likely to occur in the winter months due to winter storms. Key floods that 
affected the city occurred in 2005 and 2010.  

Dam Inundation: Dam failure is a low-probability, high-impact hazard. While dam failures are 
infrequent, they can cause catastrophic results. 

Geographical Characteristics:  

Flooding: The city is primarily vulnerable to flooding associated with San Timoteo Creek, Mission 
Channel (Redlands Boulevard), and the Santa Ana River. It is also vulnerable to small-scale floods that 
originate on hillsides in the southern portion of the city. Roadways are vulnerable to flooding where 
they intersect with waterways. The major roadways that cross over watercourses/channels in the city 
include Anderson Street and Barton Road (San Timoteo Creek), Redlands Boulevard (Mission Channel), 
and Beaumont Avenue (San Timoteo Creek). Improvements to San Timoteo Creek have minimized the 
risk of flooding hazards in most areas of the city. The areas adjacent to the Mission Channel are 
characterized by business park areas and a medium high-density residential area that is already 
completely developed. The areas in the city's southern portion are also at lower risk because they have 
been designated at a very low density.  

Dam Inundation: Flooding may be caused by dam inundation or an earthquake. The northern portion 
of the City lies within the inundation zone of the Seven Oaks Dam. The failure of this dam would not 
likely impact the City.  

Response Considerations: Response should include identifying the potential flooding location(s), the 
need for temporary road closures, infrastructure repairs, and possible evacuation locations. Weather 
monitoring should occur before any weather events, accompanied by frequent outreach and 
notifications to vulnerable populations and key locations.  

Associated Plans: 

2021 LHMP, 2022 Safety Element, San Bernardino County Flood Control EAPs 

SLOPE FAILURE (LANDSLIDE) 

Description: Landslides occur when the force pulling the material on the slope in a downward direction 
under gravitational influence exceeds the strength of the earth materials that compose the slope. These 
materials may move by falling, toppling, sliding, spreading, or flowing. The strength of rock and soil, the 
steepness of the slope, and the weight of the hillside material all play an important role in the stability 
of hillside areas. Weathering and water absorption can weaken slopes, while the added weight of 
saturated materials or overlying construction can increase the chances of slope failure. Sudden failure 
can be triggered by earthquake shaking, excavation of weak slopes, and heavy rainfall. 

Risk/Threat: The city’s primary vulnerability to slope failure is from the hillside area in the southern 
part of the City. Some past development in Loma Linda occurred within those moderate and high 
landslide risk areas, increasing overall vulnerability to slope failure in the city. However, the vast 
majority of that growth occurred more than two decades ago. Currently, the city has severely limited 
growth in the high landslide risk areas on the southern hillside. 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

16 
 

Affected Population Estimates: An estimated 3,967 persons, or 15.43% of the city’s population, are 
exposed to slope failure areas.  

Frequency: As future development occurs near steep slopes, the probability of washouts, sloughing, 
erosion, rockslides, and landslide events occurring in the city becomes more likely. Mismanaged intense 
residential and recreational development in sloped areas such as the Badlands and South Hills could 
increase the frequency of damaging landslides occurring in the city. Avoiding development in the 
medium to high landslide susceptibility areas and adequately regulating development occurring in 
those areas will be critical to reducing the frequency and probability of future landslide events. 

Geographical Characteristics: The southern end of the city, which is most susceptible to slope failure, 
abuts what are known as the Badlands and South Hills, which have steep natural slopes that are 
vulnerable to instability. The type of instability could include deep-seated landslides, surficial soil slips, 
wet debris flows, and surficial creep. The majority of these mapped landslides appear to be relatively 
recent (less than 11,000 years). 

Response Considerations: Response considerations should include damage assessments of critical 
facilities, identifying safe locations for potential evacuation, and protecting life and property from 
infrastructure that is damaged and deemed hazardous to people and the environment. 

Associated Plans:  

2021 LHMP, 2022 Safety Element 

HUMAN-CAUSED HAZARDS 

TERRORISM 

Description: The use of force or the threat of force to intimidate the population and/or the government 
with the intent to achieve a particular political or social objective. Terrorists may seek to kill or injure 
people, damage, or destroy property, disrupt infrastructure or services, or some combination of these 
outcomes. Acts of terror often involve the use of firearms or conventional explosives, although other 
materials may be used in some cases (e.g., flammable materials in terrorism-related acts of arson). The 
use of biological, chemical, radioactive, or high-yield explosive materials (collectively called weapons of 
mass destruction or WMDs) in acts of terror is not unprecedented but is extremely rare. Terrorist acts 
are often perceived as being carried out by foreign individuals or groups, although American citizens 
have been responsible for most acts of terror in the US. 

Risk/Threat: The causes behind acts of terror are highly complex, often involving national or global 
political, social, or economic issues. It is impossible to reasonably forecast the likelihood of a future 
terrorist act in Loma Linda or suggest which facilities or events may be potential targets. Like virtually 
all other communities, Loma Linda will continue to be a target. 

Affected Population Estimates: All residents, businesses, and infrastructure are susceptible to the 
effects of terrorism. 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

17 
 

Frequency: There have been no reported acts of terror within Loma Linda itself, although multiple 
terrorist acts have happened in the region. 

Geographical Characteristics: Terrorism is not limited to specific areas. Terrorists may target virtually 
any location, depending on their objectives, and there are no places that can be said to be completely 
safe from terrorist acts. Potential prominent sites that terrorists may seek to target include government 
offices, corporate headquarters, shopping malls, schools, healthcare facilities, major industrial facilities 
and infrastructure, and large events. 

Response Considerations: A terrorist attack will have responders from multiple agencies. The City must 
establish a UC with all affected agencies. The EOC would be activated to coordinate the response and 
support the incident with logistical needs, alert and warning, public messaging, and sheltering. 

Associated Plans:  

2021 LHMP 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS RELEASE 

Description: Hazardous materials release refers to a hazard event whereby harmful concentrations of 
hazardous or toxic substances are released into the environment. This occurs when storage containers 
of hazardous materials leak or fail. This can happen due to industrial accidents, vehicle crashes, as a 
direct result of other disasters (e.g., a flood or earthquake), or as a deliberate act. 

Risk/Threat: Hazardous materials can take the form of liquids, solids, contained gases, or sludge, and 
can be the by-products of manufacturing processes or simply discarded commercial products, like 
cleaning fluids and pesticides. In severe situations, there is a risk of hazardous materials release events 
on a regional level due to prevailing wind conditions; airborne toxic material could spread and impact 
the city. The threat that hazardous materials pose to human health depends on the type of material, 
frequency, and duration of exposure, and whether chemicals are inhaled, penetrate the skin, or are 
ingested, among other factors. Exposure to hazardous materials can result in short- or long-term 
effects, including major damage to organs and systems in the body or death.  

Hazardous materials release into the environment with properties that make them dangerous or 
potentially harmful to human health or the environment. Hazardous materials can also cause health 
risks if they contaminate soil, groundwater, and air, potentially posing a threat long after the initial 
release.  

Affected Population Estimates: While all residents have the potential to be affected by a hazardous 
material release, those that live near sites using, storing, producing, or disposing of hazardous 
materials, industrial centers, and transportation corridors are most susceptible. 

Frequency: As long as hazardous materials are present in Loma Linda, either permanently or 
temporarily, there is some chance of a hazardous material release. There is no indication that the 
amounts of hazardous materials in Loma Linda will change substantially in the future (e.g., from the 
opening or closing of a large industrial facility), but such events are possible. Given that hazardous 
material releases have occurred in the past in Loma Linda, all expectations are that similar releases 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

18 
 

will continue to occur. Assuming there are no substantial deviations from past trends, most releases 
are likely to be small-scale events with rare larger releases. 

Geographical Characteristics: Major transportation routes (Interstate 10 adjacent to the city's 
northern border), industrial use areas within the city, and the Loma Linda University Medical Center 
complex are more likely to experience hazardous material releases due to the activities that occur in 
these locations.  

Response Considerations: Hazardous materials releases will require identification of the incident 
location and material released, identification of surrounding properties (including sensitive 
receptors/vulnerable populations), potential evacuation needs, and adequate notification to residents 
and businesses in the area affected. 

Associated Plans: 

2021 LHMP, 2022 Safety Element, Hazard Materials Business Plans; San Manuel HazMat Response 

AIRCRAFT HAZARDS 

Description: The National Transportation Safety Board defines an airplane accident as an occurrence 
associated with the operation of an aircraft that takes place between the time any person boards the 
aircraft with the intention of flight and all such persons have disembarked and in which any person 
suffers death or serious injury, or in which the aircraft receives substantial damage (see 49 CFR 830). 

Risk/Threat: In aviation, an accident is defined by the Convention on International Civil Aviation Annex 
13 as an occurrence associated with the operation of an aircraft that takes place from the time any 
person boards the aircraft with the intention of flight until all such persons have disembarked and in 
which: 1) a person is fatally or seriously injured, 2) the aircraft sustains significant damage or structural 
failure, or 3) the aircraft goes missing or becomes completely inaccessible. Annex 13 defines an 
incident as an occurrence, other than an accident, associated with the operation of an aircraft that 
affects or could affect the safety of operation. A hull loss occurs if an aircraft is destroyed, damaged 
beyond repair, lost, or becomes completely inaccessible. 

Affected Population Estimates: Aircraft incidents typically involve a single aircraft operating in 
proximity to an airport or airfield. Large commercial aircraft may operate holding hundreds of crew 
and customers. A crash of this type of aircraft is likely to result in a mass casualty incident. Populations 
on the ground in the crash pathway may be injured or killed, and buildings damaged or destroyed. 

Frequency: According to the National Transportation Safety Board (NTSB) website (a database that 
houses all the reported aircraft accidents/incidents), from 1960-2007 (current data set available from 
NTSB site), 32 accidents and 43 incidents have occurred in or near the City. Loma Linda has only had 
one non-fatal incident reported within the City limits, while the remainder is divided among Redlands 
and Colton, with the majority occurring in Redlands (Redlands Municipal Airport is less than seven 
miles away). 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

19 
 

Given the high volume of air traffic in the area, the possibility of an aircraft accident occurring in Loma 
Linda will continue to exist. Based on historical events, it is anticipated that future impacts will be 
similar in nature. 

Geographical Characteristics: Loma Linda has no airports within its boundaries; however, numerous 
regional, municipal, and international airports are in the City’s surroundings, and the airways above 
the City are highly trafficked. The following are airports within a 25-mile radius of Loma Linda: 

• Banning Municipal Airport: (BNG) 24.48 miles away, located in Banning, CA. 
• Ontario International Airport: (ONT) 20.28 miles away, located in Ontario, CA. 
• Riverside Municipal Airport: (RAL) 13.8 miles away, located in Riverside, CA. 
• Redlands Municipal Airport: (REI) 6.4 miles away, located in Redlands, CA. 
• San Bernardino International Airport: (SBD) 3.3 miles away, located in San Bernardino, CA. 

 
In addition to the public airports that operate in the region, March Air Reserve Base is also located 
within 12 miles of the city. This facility is actively used for military logistics, and their tarmac/runways 
are contracted out for use by private companies such as Amazon, which maintains large distribution 
centers in the area. 
 

• March Air Reserve Base: (RIV) 11.7 miles away, located in Perris, CA. 
 

Air traffic from these facilities and many others within the region fly over the City regularly and could 
cause any sort of aircraft hazard. 

Response Considerations:  

Aircraft incident response is coordinated by local fire and rescue agencies. 

Associated Plans: 2021 LHMP, 2022 Safety Element, San Bernardino International Airport Land Use 
Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

20 
 

 

 

PAGE INTENETIONALL LEFT BLANK 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

21 
 

 

3. CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS (CONOPS) 
Operations during peacetime and national security emergencies involve a full spectrum of activities, 
from a minor incident to a major earthquake. There are several similarities in operational concepts 
for peacetime and national security emergencies. Some emergencies will be preceded by a build-up or 
warning period, providing sufficient time to warn the population and implement mitigation measures 
designed to reduce loss of life and property damage. Other emergencies occur with little or no warning, 
thus requiring immediate activation of the emergency operations plan and commitment of 
resources. All agencies must be prepared to respond promptly and effectively to any foreseeable 
emergency, including providing and utilizing mutual aid. 

3.1 ASSUMPTIONS 
• The City of Loma Linda is primarily responsible for emergency actions and will commit all available 

resources to save lives and minimize injury to people and damage to property. 

• The City will respond to emergencies within the existing Emergency Management Organization in 
the State of California. 

• The City of Loma Linda will utilize SEMS/NIMS/ICS in emergency response operations. 

• The City will use the Incident Command System (ICS) and the Multi-Agency Coordination System 
(MACS) at all incidents and events. 

• The Director of Emergency Services will coordinate the City's disaster response in conformance 
with Emergency Services Ordinance No.153. 

• The City of Loma Linda will participate in the San Bernardino County Operational Area. 

• The City of Loma Linda's resources will be made available to local agencies and citizens to cope 
with disasters affecting this area. 

• The City will commit its resources to a reasonable degree before requesting mutual aid assistance. 

• Mutual Aid assistance will be requested when disaster relief requirements exceed the City's ability 
to meet them. 

• Transportation infrastructure may be damaged or disrupted. Emergency responders may 
have difficulty reaching people, and evacuation routes may cause traffic backups slowing 
egress from damaged areas. The movement of emergency supplies may be impeded. 
 

• Communication infrastructure may be damaged or disrupted, thus slowing the dissemination of 
information and reporting of persons needing help. 

• Homes, businesses, public buildings, antenna sites, and other critical facilities may be damaged 
or destroyed. Public utilities may be damaged and either completely or partially inoperable 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

22 
 

• Emergency medical services and transport ambulances may be in short supply. Medical and 
healthcare facilities that remain open may be overwhelmed with medical care requests. 
Additionally, medicines may be in short supply. 

• Damage to facilities that use hazardous or toxic chemicals could result in the release of these 
hazardous materials into the environment. 

• Businesses in Loma Linda may not be able to supply the public with basic necessities such as food, 
water, blankets, etc. Additionally, businesses may have difficulty remaining open. 

• Volunteers may come from other areas to help, causing problems with accountability. Donated 
goods that are not presently needed may be dropped off at various locations. 

• Effective emergency operations require periodic training and exercises. 

3.2 PHASES OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 
Emergency management activities are often 
associated with the five emergency management 
phases indicated below during peacetime and 
national security emergencies. However, not every 
disaster necessarily includes all indicated phases. 
All city departments have responsibilities in one or 
more of the emergency management phases:  

• Prevention Phase 

• Mitigation Phase 

• Preparedness Phase 

• Response Phase 

• Recovery Phase 

3.2.1 PREVENTION 
Prevention focuses on averting human-caused 
hazard events, primarily from potential natural 
disasters or terrorist (both physical and biological) 
attacks. Preventive measures are designed to provide more permanent protection from disasters. 
However, not all disasters are preventable. Good evacuation plans, environmental planning, and design 
standards can limit the risk of life and injury. 

3.2.2 MITIGATION 
Mitigation efforts occur both before and following disaster events. Post-disaster mitigation is part of 
the recovery process. Eliminating or reducing the impact of hazards within the city that are a threat to 
life and property is part of the mitigation effort. Mitigation tools may include: 

• Local ordinances and statutes (zoning ordinance, building codes and enforcement, etc.) 

FIGURE 3.1 EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 
PHASES 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

23 
 

• Structural measures 

• Abatements 

• Public information and community relations 

• Land-use planning 

• Professional training 

3.2.3 PREPAREDNESS 
The preparedness phase involves activities taken in advance of an emergency. These activities develop 
operational capabilities and effective responses to a disaster. These actions might include mitigation 
activities, emergency/disaster planning, training and exercises, and public education. Those identified 
in this plan as having either a primary or support mission relative to response and recovery should 
prepare Standard Operating Procedures (SOP), Emergency Operations Plans (EOP), and checklists 
detailing personnel assignments, policies, notification rosters, and resource lists. Personnel should be 
acquainted with these SOPs and checklists through periodic training in the activation and execution 
procedures. 

• Increased Readiness 

o Increased readiness actions will be initiated by the receipt of a warning or the 
observation that an emergency situation is imminent or likely to occur soon. 
Actions to be accomplished include, but are not necessarily limited to: 

• Review and update the EOP, SOPs, and resources listings 

• Dissemination of accurate and timely emergency public information 

• Accelerated training of permanent and auxiliary staff 

• Inspection of critical facilities 

• Recruitment of additional staff and Disaster Services Workers 

• Mobilization of resources 

• Testing warning and communications systems 

3.2.4 RESPONSE 
Pre-Emergency 

When a disaster is inevitable, actions are precautionary and emphasize the protection of life. Typical 
responses might be: 

• Evacuating threatened populations to safe areas 

• Providing security as necessary 

• Advising threatened populations of the emergency and apprising them of safety measures to 
be implemented 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

24 
 

• Advising the San Bernardino County Operational Area of the emergency 

• Notifying the Loma Linda Emergency Services Coordinator or designee to request notification to 
the Operational Area EOC 

• Identifying the need for mutual aid and requesting such through the San Bernardino County 
Operational Area EOC either by telephone or radio 

• Proclaiming of a Local Emergency by local authorities 

Emergency Response 

During this phase, emphasis is placed on saving lives and property, controlling the situation, and 
minimizing the effects of the disaster. Immediate response is accomplished within the affected area by 
local government agencies and segments of the private sector. 

One or more of the following conditions will apply to the City during this phase: 

• The situation can be controlled without mutual aid assistance from outside the City. 

• Evacuation of portions of the city is required due to uncontrollable immediate and ensuing 
threats. 

• Mutual aid from outside the City is required. 

• The city is either minimally impacted or not impacted at all and is requested to provide mutual 
aid to other jurisdictions. 

The emergency management organization will give priority to the following operations: 

• Dissemination of accurate and timely emergency public information and warning to the public 

• Situation analysis 

• Resource allocation and control 

• Evacuation and rescue operations 

• Medical care operations 

• Coroner operations 

• Care and shelter operations 

• Access and perimeter control 

• Public health operations 

• Restoration of vital services and utilities 

• Damage Assessment 

When local resources are committed to the maximum and additional resources are required, requests 
for mutual aid will be initiated through the San Bernardino County Operational Area. Fire and law 
enforcement agencies will request or render mutual aid directly through established channels. Any 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

25 
 

action which involves financial outlay by the jurisdiction, or a request for military assistance, must be 
authorized by the appropriate local official. If required, the California Office of Emergency Services 
(Cal OES) may coordinate the establishment of one or more Disaster Support Areas (DSAs) where 
resources and supplies can be received, stockpiled, allocated, and dispatched to support operations 
in the affected area(s). 

Depending on the severity of the emergency, a Local Emergency may be proclaimed, the local 
Emergency Operations Center (EOC) may be activated, and San Bernardino County Operational Area 
will be advised. The Cal OES Director may request a gubernatorial proclamation of a State of 
Emergency. Should a State of Emergency be proclaimed, state agencies will, to the extent possible, 
respond to requests for assistance. These activities will be coordinated with the Cal OES Director. 

Cal OES may also activate the State Operations Center (SOC) in Sacramento to support Cal OES Regions, 
state agencies, and other entities in the affected areas and to ensure the effectiveness of the state's 
SEMS. The State Regional EOC (REOC) in Los Alamitos, or an alternate location, will support the San 
Bernardino County Operational Area. 

If the Governor requests and receives a Presidential declaration of an Emergency or a Major Disaster 
under Public Law 93-288, the Governor will appoint a State Coordinating Officer (SCO). The SCO and 
an appointed Federal Coordinating Officer (FCO) will coordinate and control state and federal recovery 
efforts in supporting local operations. The REOC will coordinate all emergency response efforts and initial 
recovery support. 

Sustained Emergency 

In addition to continuing life and property protection operations, mass care, relocation, registration of 
displaced persons, and damage assessment operations will be initiated. Security needs will be evaluated 
and deployed as necessary during this crucial time. 

3.2.5 RECOVERY 
As soon as possible, CAL OES will collaborate with representatives of federal, state, county, and city 
agencies and the American Red Cross representatives to coordinate the implementation of assistance 
programs and establish support priorities. Local Assistance Centers (LACs) may also be established, 
providing a "one-stop" service to initiate the process of receiving federal, state, and local recovery 
assistance. 

The recovery period has major objectives which may overlap, including: 

• Reinstatement of family autonomy 

• Provision of essential public services 

• Permanent restoration of private and public property 

• Identification of residual hazards 

• Plans to mitigate future hazards 

• Recovery of costs associated with response and recovery efforts 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

26 
 

3.3 NATIONAL INCIDENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (NIMS) 
The NIMS provides a comprehensive approach to emergency management for all hazards. NIMS 
integrates existing best practices into a consistent, nationwide approach to domestic emergency 
management applicable to all jurisdictional levels (public and private) and across functional disciplines. 
NIMS incorporates Incident Command System (ICS), a standardized on-scene emergency management 
concept designed to provide an integrated organizational structure for single or multiple emergencies and 
facilitate emergency response across jurisdictional boundaries. 

The City conforms to the requirements of NIMS and uses the concepts of incident command, common 
terminology, span of control, and resource management common to both systems. The City applies 
standard operating processes and procedures in managing small incidents and may not activate the EOC. 

3.4 STANDARDIZED EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (SEMS) 
SEMS is required by the California Emergency Services Act (Government Code Section 8607(a)) for 
managing multi-agency and multi-jurisdictional responses to emergencies in California. The system unifies 
all of California’s emergency management community elements into a single integrated system and 
standardizes key elements. SEMS incorporates ICS, California Disaster and Civil Defense Master Mutual 
Aid Agreement, the Operational Area concept, and multiagency or inter-agency coordination. State 
agencies are required to use SEMS, and local government entities must use SEMS to be eligible for any 
reimbursement of response-related costs under the State’s disaster assistance programs. 

Under SEMS, response activities are managed at the lowest possible organizational level. SEMS consists 
of five (5) levels: 1) Field Response, 2) Local, 3) Operational Area, 4) Regional, and 5) State, as illustrated 
below in Figure 3.2. The City utilizes SEMS during incidents that require a multi-agency response or when 
the incident involves multiple jurisdictions. 

 

Field Response

•Commands on-scene information, resources, and priorities

Local

•Manages and/or coordinates information, resources, and priorities within its jurisdiction

Operational Area

•Manages and/or coordinates information, resources, and priorities among all local 
governments within the boundary of a county

Region

•Manages and coordinates information and resources among operational areas

State

•Statewide resource coordination integrated with Federal agencies

FIGURE 3.2 – SEMS LEVELS 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

27 
 

 

3.4.1 FIELD RESPONSE  
The Field Response level is where emergency response personnel and resources, under the command and 
control of responsible officials, carry out tactical decisions and activities in direct response to an incident 
or threat. Emergency operations that take place in the field, such as evacuations, fire suppression, damage 
assessments, or temporary construction, are considered to occur at the Field level. 

At the Field Response level, all departments and agencies will use the ICS to standardize the emergency 
response and report related information to the emergency management organization in the City’s EOC. 
In the city, the law enforcement services are conducted by the San Bernardino County Sheriff under 
contract to the City, and fire, rescue, and emergency medical services are provided through the Loma 
Linda Fire Department. These two (2) agencies and the Public Works Department are the primary 
emergency service responders for the city.  

EMERGENCY SERVICE PROVIDER HEADQUARTERS 
San Bernardino County Sheriff’s 

Department 
655 E 3rd Street, San Bernardino, CA 92415 

Fire Department 25541 Barton Road, Loma Linda, CA 92354 

 

Additional departments that respond to and assist in emergency response include all City Departments,  
utility companies, special districts, volunteer groups, and non-governmental organizations. These include: 

• City of Loma Linda CERT 

• San Bernardino County Public Health 

• American Red Cross 

• School Districts 

• Chamber of Commerce 

• Call out SoCal Gas & SCE  

SEMS regulations require using ICS at the field level of a multi-agency or multi-jurisdictional incident. 
Requests for any resources or support that cannot be filled at the Field level will be requested through a 
Department Operations Center (DOC) or the City Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 

3.4.2 LOCAL GOVERNMENT  
The Local Government level includes cities, counties, special districts, and the administrative and 
coordinative operations of agencies. Local governments manage and coordinate the overall emergency 
response and recovery activities within their jurisdiction. As a condition of State reimbursement of 
response-related costs, local governments are required to use SEMS when the local EOC is activated or a 
Local Emergency is proclaimed.  



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

28 
 

The City’s EOC reports to the San Bernardino County Operational Area (SBCOA EOC), which is managed by 
the San Bernardino County Office of Emergency Services. If needed resources exceed the capabilities of 
the City, the EOC requests will be sent to the SBCOA EOC. 

Implementation of SEMS by the City is a cooperative effort of all departments with an emergency 
response role. The City Manager leads the City to comply with SEMS requirements in coordination with 
the Emergency Services Coordinator supported by the City Attorney and Human Resources Department. 
They conduct the following activities: 

• Communicate information within the City on SEMS requirements and guidelines 

• Coordinate SEMS development among departments and agencies 

• Identify departments and agencies involved in Field Response  

• Identify departments and agencies with DOCs 

• Coordinate with other local governments, the Operational Area, and volunteer and private 
agencies on the application of SEMS principles 

• Ensure SEMS is incorporated into the City’s EOP and procedures 

• Ensure SEMS is incorporated into the City’s emergency ordinances, agreements, memoranda of 
understanding, etc. 

• Identify local volunteer and private agencies that have an emergency response role (contacts 
should be made to develop arrangements for coordination in emergencies) 

Special organizations may be established at the local government level and higher levels of SEMS. Two (2) 
common organizational structures are:  

• Multi/Inter-Agency Coordination (MAC) is defined as the participation of agencies and disciplines 
involved at any level of the SEMS organization working together in a coordinated effort to 
facilitate decisions for overall emergency response activities, including the sharing of critical 
resources and the prioritization of incidents. The City EOC may function as a MAC. 

• Unified Command allows agencies responsible for an incident, either geographical or functional, 
to manage an incident by establishing a common set of incident objectives and strategies. This is 
accomplished without losing or abdicating agency authority, autonomy, responsibility, or 
accountability. The City’s first responder departments (Police and Fire) will implement or 
represent City field operations in a Unified Command when the situation requires a Unified 
Command.  

3.4.3 OPERATIONAL AREA  
An Operational Area is the intermediate level of the state emergency services management organization. 
The Operational Area level encompasses a county and is responsible for coordination among all political 
subdivisions located therein, including incorporated cities and special districts. The Operational Area 
facilitates and/or coordinates information, resources, and decisions regarding priorities among local 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

29 
 

governments within the Operational Area. The Operational Area operates an EOC and serves as the 
coordination and communication link between the Local Government and Regional levels. 

In San Bernardino County, the Director of Emergency Services is the County Chief Executive Officer. The 
Director of Emergency Services is empowered to: 

• Request the Board of Supervisors to proclaim the existence of a “Local Emergency” if the Board 
of Supervisors is in session or to issue such proclamation if the Board of Supervisors is not in 
session. Whenever a local emergency is proclaimed when the Board of Supervisors is not in 
session, the Board of Supervisors shall take action to ratify the proclamation within seven days 
thereafter, or the proclamation shall have no further force or effect. 

• Recommend that the Board of Supervisors request the Governor to proclaim a “State of 
Emergency” when, in their opinion, the locally available resources are inadequate to cope with 
the emergency. 

• Represent this County in all dealings with public or private agencies on matters pertaining to 
emergencies. 

• Develop response and recovery plans for the Operational Area of the County. 

• Collect, share, and disseminate information between cities and the Operational Area 

• Obtain support for the Operational Area and provide support to other jurisdictions as needed. 

• Collect, evaluate, and disseminate damage estimates and other essential information. 

• Provide support to cities with operational communications and warning systems. 

Activation of the Operational Area during a State of Emergency or a Local Emergency is required by SEMS 
regulations under the following conditions: 

• A local government within the Operational Area has activated its EOC and requested activation of 
the Operational Area EOC supporting their emergency operations 

• Two (2) or more cities within the Operational Area have proclaimed a local emergency and have 
requested that County EOC be activated to support the City 

• The county and one or more cities have proclaimed a local emergency 

• A city, city and county, or county has requested a Governor's proclamation of a State of 
Emergency, as defined in the Government Code Section 8558(b) 

• A State of Emergency is proclaimed by the Governor for the county or two or more cities within 
the operational area 

• The Operational Area is requesting resources from outside its boundaries, and this does not 
include resources used in normal day-to-day operations that are obtained through existing mutual 
aid agreements 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

30 
 

• The Operational Area has received resource requests from outside its boundaries. This does not 
include resources used in normal day-to-day operations, which are obtained through existing 
mutual aid agreements 

3.4.4 REGIONAL LEVEL AND REGIONAL EMERGENCY OPERATIONS CENTER (REOC)  
The State's regional level administers, manages, and coordinates 
information and resources among Operational Areas and within or 
between one or more mutual aid regions established by Cal OES. The 
Regional level coordinates overall State agency support for emergency 
response activities within the Region. California is divided into three Cal 
OES administrative regions – Inland, Coastal, and Southern; six (6) fire 

and rescue mutual aid regions; and seven (7) law enforcement mutual aid regions. The Regional level 
operates the REOC and serves as the coordination and communication link between the Operational Area 
and the State level.  

There are eleven (11) counties and 151 incorporated cities within the Southern Administration Region. 
Within the region, 226 incorporated cities include two nuclear plants. The total population of all cities and 
counties in the Southern Region is approximately 21,648,506.  

3.4.5 STATE LEVEL AND STATE OPERATIONS CENTER (SOC)  
The State level of SEMS prioritizes tasks and coordinates State resources 
in response to the requests from the Regional level, and coordinates 
mutual aid among the Regions. The State level also serves as the 
coordination and communication link between the State and the Federal 
emergency response system. The State level requests assistance from 

other State governments through the Emergency Management Assistance Compact (EMAC) and similar 
interstate compacts/agreements and coordinates with the Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA).  

3.5 INCIDENT COMMAND SYSTEM (ICS) 
The Incident Command System (ICS) is a nationally recognized on-scene emergency management system 
specifically designed to allow its user(s) to adopt an integrated organizational structure equal to the 
complexity and demands of single or multiple incidents without being hindered by jurisdictional 
boundaries. ICS uses a common organizational structure to effectively manage the incident by objectives. 

The five functions of the ICS organization are management, operations, planning, logistics, and finance: 

• Management (Command) is responsible for directing, ordering, and/or controlling resources by 
virtue of explicit legal, agency, or delegated authority. It includes the incident commander (IC), 
who is responsible for the overall incident management. The management function also includes 
the Information Officer, Liaison Officer, and Safety Officer. 

• Operations are responsible for the coordinated tactical response of all field operations directly 
applicable to or in support of the mission(s) per the Incident Action Plan. Operations develops the 
Incident Action Plan's operations portion, requests resources to support tactical operations, 

Cal OES SOC 
3650 Schriever Avenue 
Mather, CA 95655-4203 

(916) 845-8510 

 Cal OES Southern Region 
4671 Liberty Avenue, 

Building 283 
Los Alamitos, California 

90720 
(562) 795 2902 Offi  



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

31 
 

maintains close communication with the Incident Commander, and ensures safer tactical 
operations. The operations function includes branches, divisions, groups, and air operations 
personnel. 

• Planning is responsible for the collection, evaluation, documentation, and use of information 
about the development of the incident. The planning function includes the Resource Unit, 
Situation Analysis Unit, Documentation Unit, and Demobilization Unit. 

• Logistics is responsible for providing facilities, services, personnel, and equipment and tracking the 
status of resources and materials in support of the incident. The logistics function includes the 
supply, facilities, ground support, communications, food, and medical units. 

• Finance is responsible for all financial and cost analysis aspects of the indent and/or any 
administrative aspects not handled by the other functions. The finance function includes the Time 
Keeping Unit, Procurement Unit, Compensation/Claims Unit, and the Cost Unit. 

Principles of ICS 

The system’s organizational structure adapts to any emergency or incident to which emergency response 
agencies would expect to respond. Components of ICS are: 

• Common terminology;  

• Modular organization 

• Unified command structure 

• Consolidated action plans 

• Manageable span-of-control;  

• Pre-designed incident facilities 

• Comprehensive resource management; and  

• Integrated communications 

Common titles are used for organizational functions, resources, and facilities within ICS. The organizational 
structure is developed based on the type and size of an incident. The staff builds from the top-down as the 
indent grows, with responsibility and performance placed initially with the Incident Commander. 

At all incidents, there will be five functions. Initially, the IC may be performing all five functions. Then, as 
the incident grows, each function may be established as a section with several units under each section. 

3.6 MUTUAL AID 
3.6.1 CALIFORNIA MASTER MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT 

The foundation of California's emergency planning and response is a statewide mutual aid system 
designed to ensure that adequate resources, facilities, and other support are provided to jurisdictions 
whenever their own resources prove to be inadequate to cope with a given situation(s). The basis for the 
system is the California Disaster and Civil Defense Master Mutual Aid Agreement, as provided for in the 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

32 
 

California Emergency Services Act. This Agreement was developed in 1950 and has been adopted by the 
state, all 58 counties, and most incorporated cities in the State of California. The Master Mutual Aid 
Agreement creates a formal structure wherein each jurisdiction retains control of its facilities, personnel, 
and resources but may also receive assistance from or assist other jurisdictions within the state. The State 
government is obligated to provide available resources to assist local jurisdictions in emergencies. It is the 
responsibility of the local jurisdiction to negotiate, coordinate and prepare mutual aid agreements. 
Mutual aid agreements exist in law enforcement, fire services, medical, public works, and emergency 
managers (EMMA – Emergency Managers Mutual Aid). 

3.6.2  MUTUAL AID SYSTEMS  
A statewide mutual aid system, operating within the Master Mutual Aid Agreement framework, allows 
for the progressive mobilization of resources to and from emergency response agencies, local 
governments, operational areas, regions, and states with the intent to provide requesting agencies with 
adequate resources.  

The statewide mutual aid system includes several discipline-specific mutual aid systems, such as fire and 
rescue, law, medical, and public works. The adoption of SEMS does not alter existing mutual aid systems. 
These systems work through local government, operational area, regional, and state levels consistent with 
SEMS. Mutual aid may also be obtained from other states. Interstate mutual aid may be obtained through 
direct state-to-state contacts, under interstate agreements and compacts, or may be coordinated through 
federal agencies. 

3.6.3 MUTUAL AID REGIONS 
Mutual aid regions are established under the Emergency Services Act by the Governor. Six mutual aid 
regions numbered I-VI have been established within California. The City of Loma Linda is located within 
Region VI. Region VI is located within the OES Southern Administrative Region.  

3.6.4 MUTUAL AID COORDINATORS 
Discipline-specific mutual aid systems work through designated mutual aid coordinators at the 
operational area, regional and state levels to facilitate mutual aid. The basic role of a mutual aid 
coordinator is to receive mutual aid requests, coordinate the provision of resources from within the 
coordinator's geographic area of responsibility, and pass on unfilled requests to the next level. 

Depending on the circumstances, mutual aid coordinators may function from an EOC, their normal 
departmental location, or other locations. Some incidents require mutual aid but do not necessitate 
activation of the affected local government or operations area EOCs because of the incident’s limited 
impacts. In such cases, mutual aid coordinators typically handle requests from their normal work location. 
When EOCs are activated, all activated discipline-specific mutual aid systems should establish 
coordination and communications with the EOCs:  

• When an Operational Area EOC is activated, operational area mutual aid system 
representatives should be at the Operational Area EOC to facilitate coordination and 
information flow. 

• When a CalOES regional EOC (REOC) is activated, regional mutual aid coordinators should 
have representatives in the REOC unless it is mutually agreed that effective coordination can 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

33 
 

be accomplished through telecommunications. State agencies may be requested to send 
representatives to the REOC to assist regional staff in handling mutual aid requests for 
disciplines or functions that do not have designated mutual aid coordinators.  

• When the State Operations Center (SOC) is activated, state agencies with mutual aid 
coordination responsibilities will be requested to send representatives to the SOC.  

Mutual aid system representatives at an EOC may be located in various functional elements (sections, 
branches, groups, or units) or serve as an agency representative, depending on how the EOC is organized 
and the extent to which it is activated.  

Field Level Requests:  Requests for MMAA resources originate from the Field Level and are managed by 
the Incident Commander (IC). If the IC cannot obtain the resource through existing local channels, the 
request is elevated to the next successive government level until obtained or canceled. 

Local Government Request:  Local jurisdictions are responsible for protecting life and property within the 
municipal geographic boundaries. The local jurisdiction where the incident occurred should assess its 
resource inventory and existing local agreements to determine if the requested resource is available. 
When locally committed resources are exhausted and mutual aid is needed, the local official will request 
assistance from the SBCOA. 

Operational Area Requests:  The SBCOA is a composite of its political subdivisions (i.e., municipalities, 
contract cities, special districts, and county agencies). The SBCOA assesses the availability of resources 
within the SBCOA and fulfills the resource request based on that assessment. If resources are unavailable 
at the SBCOA level, the request is forwarded to the responsible Region Mutual Aid Coordinator to be filled. 

Region Level Requests:  The state is geographically divided into six Mutual Aid Regions. For Law 
Enforcement Mutual Aid, Region I is divided into two sub-regions. Each Mutual Aid Region is comprised 
of multiple Operational Areas and has a Regional Mutual Aid Coordinator. The Region Mutual Aid 
Coordinator is granted the authority to coordinate the mutual aid response of discipline-specific resources 
within the Region to support a mutual aid request by a jurisdiction also within the Region. If resources 
are unavailable at the Region level, the request is forwarded to the State Mutual Aid Coordinator to be 
filled. 

State Level Requests: On behalf of the Governor, the Secretary of Cal OES is responsible for coordinating 
state mutual aid resources in support of local jurisdictions during times of emergency. The Secretary will 
analyze and coordinate the request by forwarding the request to an unaffected REOC or tasking an 
appropriate state agency to fill the need. 

3.6.5 LOMA LINDA MUTUAL AID 
The City maintains mutual aid memorandums of understanding with the following organizations: 

• American Red Cross 
• San Bernardino County Fire Department 
• Forest Service 
• CalFire 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

34 
 

3.7 EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT ASSISTANCE COMPACT (EMAC) 
California is a signatory to the interstate EMAC, an organization ratified by the US Congress that provides 
form, structure, and procedures for rendering emergency assistance between states. Once the Governor 
has proclaimed a State of Emergency, Cal OES will assess the resource needs for the incident. California 
can then request resources through the EMAC network for assistance provided by other states. The use 
of EMAC resolves two (2) of the key issues regarding mutual aid: liability and reimbursement. This allows 
a disaster-impacted state to request and receive assistance from other member states quickly and 
efficiently.  

Personnel deployed under EMAC submit documentation to their resource providers (home agency), who 
submit a reimbursement package to their home state. The home state submits a reimbursement to the 
requesting state, which reimburses the assisting state. The requesting state covers the tort liability, and 
the responding state covers the workers' compensation liability. 

 

 

 

 

 

FIGURE 3.3 – MUTUAL AID AND ADMINISTRATIVE REGIONS 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

35 
 

3.8 LOMA LINDA EMERGENCY ORGANIZATION 
All references within this section are defined and/or derived from the description and authority in the 
City’s Municipal Code, Chapter 2., Emergency and Disaster Organization. 

Together with volunteer forces, all officers and employees of the City are enrolled to provide aid during 
an emergency. All groups, organizations, and persons who, made by agreement or operation of law, 
including persons impressed into service under the provisions of City Code Section 2.28.060(B), and 
thereby charged with duties incident to the protection of life and property in this city during such 
emergency, shall constitute the emergency organization of the City. 

The City is responsible for providing effective emergency response in the city. The City uses SEMS and 
NIMS for incident management. These emergency management systems provide the on-scene 
management of an incident and the coordination of response activities between the City and other 
jurisdictions (such as neighboring cities, the SBCOA EOC, supporting agencies, etc.). 

The City’s emergency management structure and organization cover all five emergency management 
phases. 

The City organizes and implements emergency operations at the field and local government levels of the 
SEMS. The City’s EOC and DOCs function to support field-level activities. The City staff designated by the 
EOC Director may serve as agency representatives at the SBCOA level when requested. Agency 
representatives, if assigned, report to the Liaison Officer. 

The structure of the emergency organization is based on the following principles:  

• Compatibility with the structure of governmental and private organizations 

• Use of SEMS/NIMS 

• All-hazards approach 

• Clear lines of authority and channels of communication 

• Simplified functional structure 

• Incorporation into the emergency organization of all available personnel resources having disaster 
capabilities 

• Formation of special-purpose units to perform those activities particular to major emergencies 

3.8.1 DISASTER COUNCIL 
The disaster council is established by Ordinance 153 and is comprised of the mayor, who shall be the 
chairperson; the director of emergency services, who shall be the vice-chairperson; the assistant director 
of emergency services, the City Chief of Police, and the Fire Chief and representatives of civic, business, 
labor, veterans, professional, or other organizations having an official emergency responsibility, as may 
be appointed by the director with the advice and consent of the city council. 

The disaster council must develop and recommend for adoption by the city council emergency and mutual 
aid plans and agreements and such ordinances and resolutions and rules and regulations as are necessary 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

36 
 

to implement such plans and agreements. The disaster council shall meet upon the call of the chairperson 
or, in his or her absence from the city or inability to call such meeting, upon the call of the vice-chairperson 

3.8.2 DIRECTOR OF EMERGENCY SERVICES 
The City Manager is designated as the Director of Emergency Services. The City Manager (or their 
designated successor or agent) will direct the City’s emergency management organization. In this role, the 
Director provides for the overall management and policy direction of the city's prevention, mitigation, 
preparedness, response, and recovery operations. 

The Director is empowered to execute a range of powers and duties before and during emergencies. Refer 
to Municipal Code Chapter 2.28 for powers and duties and emergency power. 

Should the Director be unavailable or unable to serve, the positions listed below, in order, shall act as the 
Director, with all the same powers and authorities. Only these alternates will be empowered to exercise 
the powers and authorities of the Director. Specifically, only these individuals are authorized to activate 
the City’s EOP and act as the Director. The individual who serves as Acting Director shall have the Director’s 
authority and powers and will serve until the Director is again able to serve or until the City Council 
appoints a successor. 

ORDER OF SUCCESSION TITLE DEPARTMENT 

Director of Emergency Services City Manager City Manager’s Office  

First Alternate Fire Chief Fire Department 

Second Alternate Fire Marshal Fire Department 

Third Alternate Battalion Chief Fire Department 

 

Notification of any successor changes shall be made through the established chain of command. 

3.8.3 FIELD LEVEL INCIDENT COMMAND SYSTEM 
The concepts, principles, and organizational structure of the ICS are used to manage all field operations. 
The size, complexity, hazard environment, and objectives of the situation will determine the ICS structure 
and the level of support that field activities will require. All incidents will be managed by developing 
operational objectives that are clearly communicated to field and EOC staff through the action planning 
process. 

Typically, an Incident Commander (IC) will communicate with the EOC as to the situation and resource 
through the Operations Section. Members of the Incident Commander’s Command and General Staff will 
communicate with their counterparts in the EOC.  

When multiple agencies respond to the incident, the individual ICs will establish a Unified Command or 
Multi-Agency Coordination (MAC). Any other supporting organizations will provide a representative to 
report to the Liaison Officer. Other agencies, including those from the county, state, and federal agencies, 

https://library.qcode.us/lib/loma_linda_ca/pub/municipal_code/item/title_2-chapter_2_28?view=all


                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

37 
 

may participate in the Unified Command/MACS by identifying objectives, setting priorities, and allocating 
critical resources to the incident. 

3.8.4 FIELD/EOC COMMUNICATIONS AND COORDINATION  
The Communications Unit Leader in the Logistics Section, working with the Operations Section, Sheriff’s 
Department, and Fire Department, will develop a Communications Plan outlining all emergency 
communications capabilities, including radio channels and protocols to be used during an incident. The 
Incident Action Plan (IAP) developed for a specific incident will include the Emergency Communications 
Plan (ICS 205). Typically, field to EOC communications will occur at the Command and General Staff levels 
or, if they are established, field units will communicate with the DOC, which will, in turn, relay the 
information to the appropriate section/function in the EOC. It is the responsibility of the Incident 
Commander(s) to communicate critical information to the EOC Director promptly.  

The Operational Area EOC will communicate the situation and resource tracking information to the State 
Operating Center (SOC) via CalEOC, a WebEOC-based emergency management response system. 

WebEOC  Incident Management Software 

The City of Loma Linda EOC uses a proprietary implementation of the web-based incident management 
software, WebEOC. Access, passwords, and a standard operating guide can be found in the EOC in each 
section's EOC Manual. The Emergency Management Program regularly schedules training for EOC 
responders on using this required system. 

3.8.5 FIELD/EOC COORDINATION WITH DEPARTMENT OPERATIONS CENTERS (DOCS) 
When a department within the City establishes a DOC to coordinate and support its field activities, the 
DOC Director will provide the location, time of establishment, and staffing information to the City EOC. 
All communications with the field units of that department will be directed to the DOC, who will then 
relay situation and resource information to the City EOC. DOCs may act as intermediate communication 
and coordination links between field units and the City EOC. 

3.9 EOC ACTION PLANS 
EOC Action Plans are created within an activated EOC during an operational period.  The plans provide 
EOC personnel with knowledge of the incident objectives and the steps required for achievement. EOC 
Action Plans provide direction, but they also serve to provide a basis for measuring the achievement of 
objectives and overall system performance. Action planning is an important management tool that 
involves: 

• A process for identifying priorities and objectives for emergency response or recovery efforts 

• Documentation of the priorities and objectives, as well as the tasks and personnel assignments 
associated with meeting them 

Appendix F provides detailed information on and direction for developing Action Plans. 

 

 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

38 
 

3.10  EMERGENCY PROCLAMATIONS 
3.10.1 CITY PROCLAMATIONS 

A Local Emergency may be proclaimed by the City Council or the City Manager as specified by the Loma 
Linda Municipal Code Chapter 2.28 adopted by the City Council. The City Council must ratify a Local 
Emergency proclaimed by the City Manager within 7 days and, if it extends past 60 days, review the 
extension of the resolution every 60 days thereafter. 

The Local Emergency must be terminated by resolution as soon as conditions warrant. Proclamations are 
typically made when an actual incident or threat of disaster or extreme peril to the safety of persons and 
property within the city is caused by natural or artificial situations. 

The proclamation of a Local Emergency provides the governing body with the legal authority to: 

• Request the Governor proclaim a State of Emergency; 

• Issue or suspend orders and regulations necessary to provide for the protection of life 
and property, including issuing orders or regulations imposing a curfew; 

• Exercise full power to request mutual aid from state agencies and other jurisdictions; 
• Require the emergency services of any Loma Linda official or employee; 

• Obtain vital supplies and equipment and, if required, immediately 
commander the same for public use; 

• Impose penalties for violation of lawful orders, and 

• Conduct emergency operations without incurring legal liability for 
performance or failure of performance per Article 17 of the Emergency 
Services Act. 
 

3.10.2 COUNTY PROCLAMATIONS 
For the County of San Bernardino, the Chair of the Board of Supervisors, the Board of Supervisors, the 
Chief Administrative Officer, or the Sheriff has the authority to proclaim a state of emergency. The County 
Public Health Officer may proclaim a public health emergency. Under the SEMS, cities must send their 
local proclamations to Cal OES through their county operational area coordinator. However, a city doesn't 
need to proclaim an emergency if the County proclaims an emergency for the entire geographic county 
area or a specific area that includes the impacted city or cities. 

3.10.3  STATE OF EMERGENCY 
A State of Emergency may be proclaimed by the Governor when: 

• Conditions of disaster or extreme peril exist which threaten the safety of persons and property 
within the state caused by natural or human-caused incidents. 

• The Governor is requested to do so by local authorities. 

• The Governor finds that local authority is inadequate to cope with the emergency. 

Whenever the Governor proclaims a State of Emergency: 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

39 
 

• Mutual aid shall be rendered per approved emergency plans when needed in any county, city, 
county, or city for outside assistance. 

• To the extent deemed necessary, the Governor shall have the right to exercise all police power 
vested in the state by the Constitution and the laws of the State of California within the designated 
area. 

• Jurisdictions may command the aid of citizens as deemed necessary to cope with an emergency. 

• The Governor may suspend the provisions of any state agency's orders, rules, or regulations; and 
any regulatory statute or statute prescribing the procedure for conducting state business. 

• The Governor may commandeer or make use of any private property or personnel (other than 
the media) in carrying out the responsibilities of the office. 

• The Governor may promulgate issues and enforce orders and regulations deemed necessary. 

3.10.4  STATE OF WAR EMERGENCY  
Whenever the Governor proclaims a State of War Emergency, or if a State of War Emergency exists, all 
provisions associated with a State of Emergency apply, plus: 

• All state agencies and political subdivisions are required to comply with the lawful orders and 
regulations of the Governor, which are made or given within the limits of authority as provided 
for in the Emergency Services Act. 

3.10.5 PRESIDENTIAL DECLARATION 
If an emergency is beyond the ability of local and state government to manage effectively, the Governor 
will request federal assistance. The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) evaluates the 
request and recommends an action to the White House based on the disaster, the local community, and 
the state’s ability to recover. 

The President approves the request for federal disaster funding, or FEMA informs the governor it has been 
denied. This decision process could take a few hours or several weeks, depending on the nature of the 
disaster. Following a Presidential Declaration, federal assistance is available to supplement the efforts and 
resources of state and local governments to alleviate public and private sector damage and loss. 

3.11 ALERTING AND WARNING 
Alert and warning are the processes of alerting governmental partners and the public to the threat of 
imminent and/or extraordinary danger. Dependent on the nature of the threat and the population group 
at risk, a warning can originate at any level of government. Success in saving lives and property depends 
on timely warning and emergency information dissemination to persons in threatened areas. The local 
government is responsible for warning the population within their jurisdiction.  City officials use various 
national and local warning systems and processes, such as the police dispatch center or the Operational 
Area communications center. The following are systems in place to provide public alerts and warnings. 

 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

40 
 

3.11.1  INTEGRATED PUBLIC ALERT AND WARNING SYSTEM 

IPAWS enables public safety officials to use various communication technologies to send emergency alerts 
and warnings, increasing the likelihood that the public will receive the message from at least one of them. 
IPAWS includes radio, television, the Internet, wireless devices, sirens, electronic road signs, and other 
emerging technologies that can be used to disseminate emergency alerts. It is an architecture that unifies 
the Emergency Alert System (EAS), Wireless Emergency Alerts (WEA), the National Oceanic and 
Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Weather Radio, and other public alerting systems into a single 
interface. Geographical interfaces and other technologies ensure that emergency alerts are relevant to 
the area in which a recipient is located. 

IPAWS allows public safety officials to send life-saving alerts to the community, including those with 
disabilities and those without an understanding of the English language. IPAWS delivers National Weather 
Service and state and local alerts and warnings and allows the President to address the American people 
in the event of a national emergency. 

3.11.2  EMERGENCY ALERT SYSTEM (EAS) 
The Emergency Alert System (EAS) is designed for the broadcast media to disseminate emergency public 
information. This system enables the President and federal, state, and local governments to communicate 
with the general public through commercial broadcast stations. EAS is operated by the broadcast industry 
voluntarily at the local level and follows approved EAS plans, SOPs, and the rules and regulations of the 
Federal Communications Commission (FCC). EAS can be accessed at Federal, State, and local levels to 
transmit essential information to the public. Message priorities under the California Emergency Alert Plan 
are as follows: 

• Priority One - Presidential Messages (carried live) 

• Priority Two - EAS Operational (Local) Area Programming 

• Priority Three - State Programming 

• Priority Four - National Programming and News 

State programming originates from the California State Warning Center (CSWC) and is transmitted 
through the State using the State's California Law Enforcement Radio System (CLERS) VHF/UHF radio relay 
stations. CLERS is a microwave-interconnected radio repeater system with Statewide coverage. It is 
managed by Cal OES and provides a point-to-point (fixed and temporary mobile base) or dispatch-to-
dispatch communications and mobile and portable communications for interagency coordination among 
State and local law enforcement agencies. CLERS also serves as one delivery method of the EAS for the 
State and as the alternate alert system for Operational Areas.  

The State message priorities are as follows: 

• Priority One - Immediate and positive action without delay is required to save lives 

• Priority Two - Actions required for the protection of property and instructions to the public 
requiring expedient dissemination 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

41 
 

• Priority Three - Information to the public and all others 

Emergency information is broadcast directly through the transmitters to all broadcasters in the city 
simultaneously and to special districts and businesses with more than 100 employees, who must monitor 
this frequency by law. Emergencies that may warrant an alert include a child abduction emergency, civil 
danger or emergencies, evacuations, law enforcement or fire warning, radiological or hazardous materials 
warnings, flash flooding, and severe weather warnings.  

The City is included in the FCC Emergency Alert System Plan for San Bernardino County. Local EAS voice 
and video broadcasts are accomplished at the San Bernardino Operational Area EOC. There are four LP-1 
stations designated for San Bernardino County. 

Riverside/San Bernardino County LECC Monitor Assignments. The FCC Local Area is divided into four (4) 
Zones comprising two of the largest counties in the United States. No one broadcast station covers one 
entire county. There are a few locations without adequate California coverage due to terrain and 
distances.  

• EAS Zone LP1 KFRG 95.1 1 / LP2 Alt KGGI 99.1 Includes but is not limited to the following cities 
and geographic areas: San Bernardino, Redlands, Highland, Fontana, Rialto, Colton, Rancho 
Cucamonga, Upland, Montclair, Ontario, Chino, Beaumont, Banning, Cherry Valley, Big Bear, 
arrowhead, Riverside, Corona, Norco, Hemet, Temecula, Lake Elsinore, from the 15 Fwy Cajon 
Pass to the county line at the 10 Fwy in Pomona, to 10 Fwy in Banning to the 91 Fwy at Corona, 
to the Temecula Valley.  

• Zone 2 Coachella Valley EAS Zone LP1 KDES-FM 98.5 / LP2 Alt KCLB 93.7 Includes but is not limited 
to the following cities and geographic areas: Palm Springs, Cathedral City, Desert Hot Springs, 
Rancho Mirage, Thousand Palms, Indian Wells, Bermuda Dunes, LaQuinta, and Morongo Valley, 
from the 10 Fwy at Cabazon to the San Jacinto Mountains to the San Bernardino Mountains at 
Joshua Tree National Forest to the Salton Sea.  

• Zone 3 Mojave EAS Zone LP1 KRXV-98.1, KHWY-98.9, KHYZ-99.7 Includes but is not limited to the 
following cities and geographic areas: Barstow, Lenwood, Yermo, Newberry Springs, Baker, Mtn. 
Pass, Ludlow, Essex, and Goffs, from the I-15 and I-40 junction to Stateline Nevada on both 
highways, through the Mojave National Preserve.  

• Zone 4 Victor Valley LP1 KZXY-102.3 / LP2 Alt KGGI 99.1: Includes but is not limited to the following 
cities and geographic areas: Victorville, Apple Valley, Hesperia, Adelanto, Oak Hills, Lucerne 
Valley, Oro Grande, and Silver Lakes from the Cajon Pass at the I-15 to the 395 at Four Corners to 
the 18 through Lucerne Valley along the San Bernardino Mountains to Big Bear 

3.11.3 WIRELESS EMERGENCY ALERTS (WEA) 
WEA is a public safety system that allows customers who own certain wireless phones and other enabled 
mobile devices to receive geographically-targeted, text-like messages alerting them of imminent threats 
to safety in their area. WEA enables government officials to target emergency alerts to specific geographic 
areas. 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

42 
 

WEA was established in 2008 per the Warning, Alert, and Response Network (WARN) Act and became 
operational in 2012. Wireless companies volunteer to participate in WEA, which results from a unique 
public/private partnership between the FCC, FEMA, and the wireless industry to enhance public safety. 
Using WEA, authorized national, state, or local government authorities may send alerts regarding public 
safety emergencies, such as evacuation orders or shelter-in-place orders due to severe weather, wildfire, 
a terrorist threat, or a hazardous materials incident. 

The alerts from authenticated public safety officials are sent through FEMA's IPAWS to participating 
wireless carriers, pushing the alerts to mobile devices in the affected area. Mobile device customers do 
not need to sign up for this service. WEA allows government officials to send emergency alerts to all 
subscribers with WEA-capable devices if their wireless carrier participates in the program. Loma Linda has 
an MOU with FEMA to allow designated City staff to send alerts to cellular devices within the city.  

3.11.4  CALIFORNIA STATE WARNING CENTER 
The California State Warning Center (CSWC) is staffed 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. The mission of the 
CSWC is to be the central information hub for statewide emergency communications and notifications. 
The CSWC is staffed with Emergency Notification Controllers, Emergency Services Coordinators, and 
Program Managers. The CSWC is a highly reliable and accurate “one-stop” resource for emergency 
management, law enforcement, and key decision-making personnel throughout the State. The CSWC can 
be reached at (916) 845-8911. 

The CSWC is responsible for receiving, coordinating, verifying, and disseminating information about 
events that occur within California or that could affect California. Information obtained by the CSWC is 
coordinated between Cal OES and other sources to ensure that the disseminated information is timely 
and accurate.  

The following is a list of current functions and responsibilities of the CSWC: 

• Facilitates multi-regional and statewide AMBER Alerts 

• Carries out critical incident notifications, warnings, and tactical alerts to all involved agencies and 
organizations 

• Conducts computer crime incident notifications 

• Conducts homeland security incident notifications 

• Conducts hazardous material notifications 

• Monitors natural disasters and coordinates emergency response 

• Monitors and maintains state and national emergency response communications 

• Conducts Governor and executive staff notifications 

• Facilitates toxic call-outs (drug labs) 

 

 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

43 
 

 
Procedures have been established for the handling of such incidents as: 

• Hazardous Materials Spill Reports 

• Earthquakes 

• Tsunamis 

• Floods 

• Major fires 

• Missing or overdue aircraft 

• Search and rescues 

• Radiation incidents 

• Nuclear Incidents 

• Weather watches and warnings 

• Train derailments 

 
3.11.5  NATIONAL WARNING SYSTEM (NAWAS) 

NAWAS is a dedicated wire-line system that provides two-way voice communications between federal, 
state, and local warning centers. If the situation ever presents itself, NAWAS is a nationwide system 
developed to send warnings of impending attacks throughout the nation. 

The system may be activated from two federal facilities staffed 24 hours daily: the National Warning 
Center (North American Air Defense Command, Colorado Springs) and the Alternate National Warning 
Center (Olney, Maryland). 

During major peacetime emergencies, state agencies may use portions of NAWAS augmented by state 
and local systems. Each state has a warning point that controls the NAWAS connection within the state. 
See State Level CALWAS for more information. 

Tests 

NAWAS is tested three times daily at unscheduled times. The state warning point, OES, acknowledges the 
test for California. If OES does not respond, the alternate, CHP, will acknowledge the test. Immediately 
following the national test, the state NAWAS test is conducted. 

3.11.6  NATIONAL WEATHER SERVICE 
The National Weather Service transmits continuous weather information on162.40, 162.475, and 162.55 
MHZ frequencies. Weather Service Severe Weather Broadcasts are preceded with a 1,050 MHZ tone that 
activates weather monitor receivers equipped with decoders. The National Weather Service can also 
access NAWAS to announce severe weather information. The City of Loma Linda emergency resources 
has access to Weather Radio via Dispatch. 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

44 
 

3.11.7  TELEPHONE EMERGENCY NOTIFICATION SYSTEM 
The San Bernardino County Sheriff and Fire Departments send high-speed mass notifications via 
telephone and text messages to quickly communicate information on impending dangers. This system is 
known as the Telephone Emergency Notification System (TENS). 

The County uses a database of landline telephone numbers updated every six months to send emergency 
messages to landline phones only. By signing up, residents can receive emergency text messages on their 
cell phones, add voice over internet phone numbers (V.O.I.P.), and manage their accounts using a valid 
email address. Those without internet connections can sign up by calling 211 or (909) 980-2857 for 
assistance in registering. 

TENS alerts do not generally go out to the entire County but are targeted to affected areas. 

3.11.8  SB READY 
The San Bernardino Community Preparedness App, SB Ready, helps its users, the residents of San 
Bernardino County, to stay prepared and protect their loved ones should an emergency occur. Some of 
the features include: 

• The five-step family emergency plan creation wizard 

• Important news and timely alerts from the county 

• Live information on evacuation routes and shelters 

• One-button status sharing 

• Library of emergency preparedness eGuides 

3.11.9  NIXLE 
NIXLE Connect allows the City Police Department to communicate with the public via text/SMS, email, 
and Internet posts at no cost. NIXLE is the primary resource for distributing secure information to residents 
over the department’s web-based platforms. Communications range from emergency alerts to routine 
day-to-day information, including traffic advisories, missing person reports, public safety announcements, 
press releases for high-profile cases, awards, and other relevant information to the area. 

City residents can sign up to receive free, real-time safety information by texting their zip code to 888777 
or by visiting www.nixle.com. Once registered, users can customize the alerts they wish to receive via text, 
email, and online. 

3.11.10  GOVERNMENT EMERGENCY TELEPHONE SYSTEM AND WIRELESS PRIORITY SERVICE  
The Government Emergency Telephone System (GETS) and the Wireless Priority Service (WPS) programs 
are companion services for priority calling offered by the Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency 
(CISA). GETS provides essential personnel priority access and prioritized processing in the local and long-
distance segments of landline networks, greatly increasing the probability of call completion. GETS is 
intended to be used in an emergency or crisis situation when the network is congested and the probability 
of completing a normal call is reduced.  



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

45 
 

WPS supports national leadership, federal, state, local, tribal, and territorial governments, and authorized 
national security and emergency preparedness users. It is intended to be used in an emergency or crisis 
situation when the wireless network is congested, and the probability of completing a normal call is 
reduced. Select field-level responders have access to these resources, coordinated through the 
Emergency Management Division. 

3.12  POPULATIONS WITH DISABILITIES AND OTHER ACCESS AND FUNCTIONAL NEEDS  
Access to emergency services shall not be denied on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex, age, 
or handicap. To ensure this goal is met, Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA) requires 
state and local governments to make their programs and services accessible to persons with disabilities. 
This requirement extends to physical access at government facilities, programs, and events and to policy 
changes that governmental entities must make to ensure that all people with disabilities can take part in 
and benefit from the programs and services of state and local governments. In addition, governmental 
entities must ensure effective communication, including providing necessary auxiliary aids and services, 
so that individuals with disabilities can participate in civic life. 

ADA, signed into law on July 26, 1990, is a broad civil rights law that prohibits discrimination against people 
with disabilities, including but not limited to mobility, vision, hearing, cognitive disorders, mental illnesses, 
and language barriers. In 2008, the Federal government updated the ADA, known as the ADA 
Amendments Act (ADAAA). The revised law broadens the scope of the definition of what it means to have 
a disability. These changes went into effect on January 1, 2009. These amendments make it easier for 
people with disabilities and others with access and functional needs to seek protection under the law.  

The City will make every effort to address the needs of people with disabilities and others with access and 
functional needs. Priorities for emergency incidents will be providing effective alerting and warning 
messaging, conducting lifesaving operations, ordering and executing evacuations, and providing shelter 
while addressing communications, mobility, and accessibility issues. Included in the City’s planning efforts 
for those with disabilities and others with access and functional needs are:  

• Access to staff trained in Functional Assessment Service Teams (FAST) through the State of 
California 

• ADA-compliant access to City programs, services, and facilities and ARC shelter facilities  

• Assistance with animal services for evacuation of service dogs and sheltering  

• Identified transportation assistance for those requiring physical assistance  

• Reverse telephone system for specific geographic areas  

• Notification and warning procedures 

• Evacuation considerations 

• Emergency transportation issues 

• Sheltering requirements  



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

46 
 

3.12.1  FUNCTIONAL NEEDS POPULATIONS 
Functional needs populations are those community members who may have additional needs before, 
during, and after an incident in functional areas. This includes, but is not limited to, maintaining 
independence, communication, transportation, supervision, and medical care. Individuals in need of 
additional response assistance may include those with disabilities, those in institutionalized settings, older 
adults, children, those from diverse cultures, those with limited or no English proficiency, or those who 
are transportation disadvantaged.  

According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 21.9% of people in California identify as 
having a disability. Lessons documented in recent disasters concerning the integration of people with 
disabilities into community living and the growing aging population has shown that the existing paradigm 
of emergency planning and implementation must change. These lessons learned show three (3) areas that 
are repeatedly identified as most important to people with disabilities and older adults: 1) 
communications (alert, warning, and notification), 2) evacuation (transportation), and 3) sheltering.  

3.12.2  CALIFORNIA OES OFFICE OF ACCESS AND FUNCTIONAL NEEDS  
In January 2008, the Office for Access and Functional Needs (OAFN) was created within Cal OES. The 
purpose of OAFN is to identify the needs of individuals with disabilities and others with access and 
functional needs before, during, and after disasters and to integrate them into the State's emergency 
management systems.  

OAFN utilizes a whole community approach by offering training and guidance to emergency managers 
and planners, disability advocates, and other service providers responsible for planning for, responding 
to, and helping communities recover from disasters. In short, OAFN plans for the realities of disasters by 
integrating access and functional needs into everything Cal OES does, including partnership development, 
outreach, training, guidance, and technical assistance. 

3.13  ANIMAL CONSIDERATIONS 
The PETS Act (Pets Evacuation and Transportation Standards Act of 2006) directs state and local 
emergency preparedness plans to address the needs of people with pets and service animals before, 
during, and after a major disaster. 

The City’s Animal Control Officers respond to a variety of calls for service. Officers enforce municipal and 
state, and federal laws pertaining to animals. The City Animal Control provides the following services: 

• Rescuing injured animals 

• Capturing at-large or stray animals 

• Investigating animal bites and attacks 

• Removing dead animals from public property 

• Removing dead or living wildlife from private property ONLY if such wildlife has direct contact 
with humans and/or animals that involves a bite or attack 

• Enforcing leash laws and local ordinances  



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

47 
 

• Investigating reports of animal cruelty or neglect 

• Licensing of dogs 

3.14  CONTINUITY OF GOVERNMENT  
Appendix I contains information on government continuity, including alternative government seats, lines 
of succession, City Council continuity, and vital records maintenance. 

  



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

48 
 

 
 
 
 
 

PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

49 
 

 

4. EMERGENCY OPERATIONS  
This section addresses the City’s emergency operations processes and procedures. 

4.1 EMERGENCY ORGANIZATION 
The City’s emergency organization is aligned with SEMS/NIMS and follows ICS principles. 

4.1.1 RESPONSE LEVELS 
Regular governmental duties will be maintained during emergency response, with emergency operations 
carried out by agencies assigned specific emergency functions. The City of Loma Linda has adopted the 
SEMS and the NIMS for managing a response to multi-agency and multi-jurisdiction emergencies and 
facilitating communications and coordination between all levels of the system and among all responding 
agencies. Chapter 1 of Division 2 of Title 19 of the California Code of Regulations establishes the standard 
response structure and basic emergency response and recovery protocols. 

Fully activated, the emergency organization consists of five levels: field response, local government, 
operational areas (countywide), OES Mutual Aid Regions, and state government, as described in Section 
3.4. 

4.1.2 SEMS FUNCTIONS 
SEMS requires that every emergency response involving multiple jurisdictions or multiple agencies include 
the five functions identified below. These functions must be applied at each level of the SEMS 
organization. 

1) Command/Management:  Command is responsible for directing, ordering, and/or controlling 
resources at the field response level. Management is responsible for overall emergency policy 
and coordination at the SEMS EOC levels. Command and Management are further discussed 
below: 

a) Command:  A key concept in emergency planning is establishing command and tactical 
control at the lowest level that can effectively perform that role in the organization. In the 
Incident Command System (ICS), the Incident Commander (IC), with appropriate policy 
direction and authority from the responding agency, sets the objectives to be accomplished 
and approves the strategy and tactics to be used to meet those objectives. The IC must 
respond to a higher authority. Depending upon the incident’s size and scope, the higher 
authority could be the next ranking level in the organization, up to the agency or department 
executive. When activated, this relationship provides an operational link with policy 
executives who customarily reside in the Department Operations Center (DOC) or EOC. 

b) Management:  The EOC is a central location where multiple agencies or organizations 
coordinate information collection and evaluation, priority setting, and resource management. 
Within the EOC, the Management function: 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

50 
 

i. Facilitates multiagency coordination and executive decision-making in support of the 
incident response, 

ii. Implements the policies established by the governing bodies, 

iii. Facilitate the activities of the Multiagency (MAC) Group 

2) Operations:  Responsible for coordinating and supporting all jurisdictional operations in support 
of the emergency response through implementing the organizational level's Action Plans (AP). At 
the Field Level, the Operations Section is responsible for the coordinated tactical response directly 
applicable to or in support of the objectives per the Incident Action Plan (IAP). In the EOC, the 
Operations Section Coordinator manages functional coordinators who share information and 
decisions about discipline-specific operations. 

3) Logistics: Responsible for providing facilities, services, personnel, equipment, and materials to 
support the emergency. Unified ordering occurs through the Logistics Section Ordering Managers 
to ensure controls and accountability over resource requests. As needed, Unit Coordinators are 
appointed to address the needs for communications, food, medical, supplies, facilities, and 
ground support. 

4) Planning/Intelligence: Responsible for collecting, evaluating and disseminating operational 
information related to the incident for preparing and documenting the IAP at the Field Level or 
the AP at an EOC. Planning/Intelligence also maintains information on the current and forecasted 
situation and the status of resources assigned to the emergency or the EOC. As needed, Unit 
Coordinators are appointed to collect and analyze data, prepare situation reports, develop action 
plans, set Geographic Information Systems (GIS) priorities, compile and maintain documentation, 
conduct advance planning, manage technical specialists, and coordinate demobilization. 

5) Finance/Administration: Responsible for all financial and cost analysis aspects of the emergency 
and for any administrative aspects not handled by the other functions. Unit Leaders are 
appointed as needed to record time for incidents or EOC personnel and hire equipment, 
coordinate procurement activities, process claims, and track costs. 

4.2 EMERGENCY OPERATIONS CENTER (EOC) 
This section describes the functions and organization of the City’s EOC. 

4.2.1 PURPOSE AND FUNCTIONS OF THE EOC 
The purpose of the City EOC is to provide a facility from which the organization’s response to an 
emergency can be effectively coordinated. During an emergency, the EOC will provide a single focal point 
for centralized activities, including: 

• Decision-making at the operation level 

• Management of information by developing, maintaining, displaying, and disseminating Situational 
Awareness of the incident to those working within the EOC, at the incident, or with other DOCs 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

51 
 

• Resource support to identify, obtain, and manage City and other resources for emergency 
operations  

• Providing logistics support when multiple incident commands require coordination 

• Performing accounting and recordkeeping to track disaster costs 

• Providing liaisons to other organizations 

• Coordinating appropriate information for public dissemination  

The EOC performs these tasks by communicating across departments, agencies, and jurisdictions to 
relieve on-scene command of the burden of external coordination, resource allocation, and information 
collection, verification, and dissemination. The decisions made through the EOC are designed to be broad 
in scope and offer guidance on overall priorities.  

The EOC is operated by the City staff and others that are specially trained to perform their ICS position 
roles in emergency management. They provide support to ICs and DOCs, conduct public notification and 
warning, provide incident emergency and public communications, and manage resource coordination. 
The EOC facility has specialized equipment, information systems, and various tools supporting city-wide 
emergency response operations. 

The EOC does not directly manage or command incidents. Field-level emergency responders, such as the 
Fire, Police, and Public Works staff,  manage or command incidents through on-scene ICs. The role of the 
EOC is to collect, validate and organize incident information and to provide for the overall coordination of 
resources required during response and recovery operations.  

Tasks performed by the EOC and processes to complete them are more fully described in Appendix C, EOC 
Operations and Detailed Position Checklists. 

4.2.2 EOC LOCATIONS AND LAYOUT 
The City EOCs are located at: 

PRIMARY 25541 Barton Road, Loma Linda, CA 92354 

ALTERNATE 1 26000 Barton Road, Loma Linda, CA 92354  

 

The Alternate EOC will be activated only when the primary EOC is damaged, inaccessible, and/or 
evacuation of EOC staff members becomes necessary. If the primary EOC is unusable before activation, 
staff members will be asked to report to the alternate EOC site as directed. The EOC Logistics Section will 
arrange for the relocation of EOC staff members to the alternate EOC. All field ICs will be notified of the 
transition to the alternate EOC. 

4.2.3 EOC ACTIVATION AND DEACTIVATION  
The EOC will be activated using the following activation levels. 

 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

52 
 

Activation Levels 

Event /Incident  Monitoring 

This level is used if an EOC needs to monitor an incident for which the Operational Area, region, and 
State are not required to activate. This includes staffing related to a training exercise, a pre-planned 
event, a minor incident, or a Department Operations Center (DOC) activation. 

The City's Emergency Services Coordinator should be contacted to reserve/use the EOC for planned 
events and when a DOC has been activated. Examples include parades, holiday activities, large sports 
events, political events, concerts, minor fire or hazmat incidents, storms that produce flash flooding or 
other disruptive or destructive effects, etc. 

Level I I I (Low- Level Activation) 

Level I I I activation may prompt the minimum staffing of the EOC with the EOC Coordinator (Emergency 
Services Coordinator) and select designated monitoring staff. 

The City's EOC may also activate at a Level I I I "remotely" and may not require physical staffing at the 
EOC. This generally applies to an event conducted by one individual assigned as the EOC Director or 
designee and meets the necessary internal and external notification criteria as noted below. 

Example: Rain or Wind Event requiring the involvement of two or more City Departments.  

Level II (Medium Level Activation) 

Level II activation assumes that staffing has been deemed insufficient to meet the needs of the incident 
and additional EOC positions need to be filled. The decision to call in additional trained EOC responders 
is based on the magnitude of the emergency or disaster as determined by the EOC Director or designee. 

Due to the nature of the emergency or disaster, Level II activation may necessitate a 24-hour A Shift 
and B Shift schedule. While the A Shift will be fully staffed in the EOC, the B Shift may be staffed by a 
reduced number of EOC responders or by a few key positions as assigned by the EOC Director or 
designee. 

Example: Wildland Fire or Hazardous Materials spill requiring evacuations. 

Level I  (High-Level Activation) 

Level l activation assumes Level III and Level II staffing has been deemed insufficient to meet the needs 
of the incident and that most, if not all, of the EOC positions need to be filled. 

During a Level l activation, the EOC operates on a 24-Hour basis, rotating personnel in and out of the 
EOC on 12-hour shifts (0700-1900 A-Shift and 1900-0700 B-Shift). 

Example: Large-Scale events such as an earthquake or terrorist event.  

Deactivation 

The EOC will operate until the EOC Director determines to return to normal operations. EOC operations 
may be downgraded from a full or partial activation to a reduced level. All internal and external contacts 
informed of the initial activation will be notified when the EOC is deactivated or the activation level is 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

53 
 

downgraded. Appropriate contact phone number(s) will be provided to external partners upon 
deactivation to ensure continuity of access as additional support or informational needs may arise. 

For incidents that require recovery operations, the EOC may transition to a recovery operations center 
that is likely to operate during normal business hours. Additional information on recovery operations is 
contained in Appendix H. 

4.2.4 EOC ORGANIZATION  
City and other personnel who operate the EOC are known collectively as the EOC team, which includes 
staff with either the technical ability or decision-making authority to support life safety response activity, 
protect property and restore essential City services after an incident. City Departments provide staff to 
support the EOC when activated. Figure 4.1, EOC Staffing Responsibility, provides direction on which 
positions are filled by responsible City departments. Figure 4.2 shows the City’s EOC organizational 
structure. Detailed position checklists are contained in Appendix C. 

 

FIGURE 4.1 - EOC STAFFING RESPONSIBILITY CHART 

Department Management Operations Planning/Intel Logistics Finance 

City Council x x x x x 
Administration P x x x x 
Personnel x x x x x 
City Clerk x x x x x 
Community Dev. x x x x x 
Economic Dev. x x x x x 
Finance x x x x P 
Information Systems x x x x x 
Fire Department x P P x x 
Police Dept. x x x x x 
Public Works x x x P x 

 

EOC team staffing is a function of the scope and scale of the emergency and requirements for effective response; 
therefore, not all identified EOC positions will necessarily be staffed in the event of activation. City personnel not 
designated as members of the EOC Team may be directed to move to other facilities or workstations or may be 
advised to remain at or return to their regular workstations or homes pending further instructions. The EOC is 
organized using the chart below. 

 

 

 

 

 



                                                                                            City of Loma Linda                        
                                                                                                                            2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

54 
 

 

 

 

 

 

PAGE INTENTIONALL LEFT BLANK 



                    City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

 
 

55 
 

FIGURE 4.2 - EOC ORGANIZATIONAL CHART 

 



                    City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

 
 

56 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

57 
 

4.2.4.1 POLICY GROUP 
The Policy Group is responsible for assisting the EOC Director, on an as needed basis, in developing policy, 
overall strategy, rules, regulations, proclamations, and orders. The Policy Group consists of all City Council 
members. The Legal Counsel is the City Attorney, who will assist the EOC Director and the Policy Group as 
needed. The City Clerk supports the Policy Group and is responsible for documenting and recording all 
emergency orders and decisions of the policy group. In carrying out their responsibilities, the Policy Group 
should use the following guidance: 

Assess the Situation 

� EOC Director at the EOC, or appointed, will contact to provide an update on the incident, including 
the emergency’s extent and status of available resources. Be involved in discussing any 
interruption to essential services and estimate the likely duration of the event.  

Responsibilities: 

� Proclaim and/or ratify a local emergency  proclamation 

� Monitor executive issues (business and finance, media, information systems, risk management) 

Let the City’s operational managers coordinate the response in the field within their areas of 
expertise. At the executive level, watch for emerging issues related to the overall continuity of 
operations, media issues, risk management concerns, and other enterprise-wide considerations. 

� Support the Legal Liaison Position  

 Discuss policy issues as needed.  

� Engage legal counsel as part of the emergency response effort 

Stay apprised of legal issues as they emerge and consult with counsel as necessary and 
appropriate. 

� Host and accompany VIPs and government officials on tours of the emergency/disaster 

� End the emergency proclamation at the appropriate time 

4.2.4.2 MANAGEMENT SECTION 
The responsibilities of the Management Section are to implement response and recovery activities 
effectively and to manage resources efficiently. To meet these responsibilities, the Management Section 
directs the following overarching objectives: 

� Provide overall management and coordination of the City’s emergency response and recovery 
operations  

� Support the Policy Group 

� Coordinate with appropriate federal, state, and other local government agencies, as well as 
private sector entities and volunteer agencies 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

58 
 

� Establish response priorities and resolve any conflicting demands for resource support 

� Prepare and disseminate emergency public information to inform, alert, and warn the public  

� Disseminate damage information and other essential data 

� Ensure that all EOC Sections are aware of and follow documentation procedures to recover all 
eligible disaster response and recovery costs 

� Review and approve the Action Plan 

The Management Section consists of the following ICS positions. Detailed position checklists are 
contained in Appendix C. 
 
EOC Director – City Manager 

Authority for managing EOC operations is delegated from the City Council to the City Manager as EOC 
Director. The EOC Director reports to the Policy Group. The Management Staff and General Staff Section 
Coordinators report to the EOC Director. The EOC Director is responsible for managing the emergency 
response per the guidance provided by the City Council. In concert with the EOC General Staff, the EOC 
Director sets priorities for response efforts and establishes coordination between the City and other 
emergency response agencies. During EOC activation, the EOC Director has the authority to authorize the 
expenditure of funds.  

EOC Coordinator – Fire Marshal 

The EOC Coordinator is responsible for supporting EOC setup and initial operations. The EOC Coordinator 
monitors EOC internal management systems, coordinates with outside public jurisdictions and internal 
departments, and serves as advisor to the EOC Director and General Staff.  The EOC Coordinator provides 
information and guidance to all  EOC sections and coordinates with the SBCOA EOC if a liaison is not 
assigned. 

Legal Advisor – City Attorney 

The Legal Advisor supports the Policy Group and works with City’s Legal Counsel. The Legal Advisor 
prepares proclamations, emergency ordinances, and other legal documents and provides legal services as 
required. The Legal Advisor maintains legal information, records, and reports.   

Liaison Officer – City Clerk 

The Liaison Officer oversees the activities of outside agency representatives in the EOC.  The Liaison 
Officer establishes and maintains a central location for incoming agency representatives, providing 
workspace and support as needed. The Liaison Officer ensures guidelines, policy directives, situation 
reports, and a copy of the EOC Action Plan is provided to Agency Representatives upon check-in. In 
conjunction with the EOC Coordinator, the Liaison Officer provides orientations for VIPs and other visitors 
to the EOC. 

 

 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

59 
 

Safety Officer – Sheriff Department 

The EOC Safety Officer identifies and mitigates safety hazards and conditions representing potential 
liability to the City during emergency operations. The EOC Safety Officer ensures a safe working 
environment in the EOC and all facilities used in support of EOC operations. The EOC Safety Officer 
identifies & mitigates safety hazards during EOC operations, such as slips, trips, falls, dehydration, fatigue, 
food illness, and mental well-being, creating an atmosphere of safety. The EOC Safety Officer develops 
the EOC 208 Safety Message for the EOC Action Plan. 

Security Officer – Sheriff Department 

The Security Officer is responsible for the 24-hour security of the EOC and supporting facilities. The 
Security Officer coordinates all visits to the EOC and controls access to the EOC and adjacent parking areas 
per the policies established by the EOC Director. This position will be established if EOC is not located at 
the primary EOC facility. 

Public Information Officer – Fire Marshal 

The Public Information Officer (PIO) reports to the EOC Director. The PIO conducts media monitoring and 
ensures that government officials, the media, and the public receive complete, accurate, and consistent 
information about the status of City emergency operations. The PIO also serves as the coordination point 
for all media contacts and releases. The PIO is responsible for alerting the public of the pending or existing 
emergencies and activating all public warning systems. 

4.2.4.3 OPERATIONS SECTION 
The Operations Section is responsible for the coordination of all response elements applied to the disaster 
or emergency. The Operations Section carries out the objectives of the EOC Action Plan and requests 
additional resources as needed. The Operations Section consists of the following ICS positions. Appendix 
C contains detailed position checklists. 
 
Operations Section Coordinator – Fire Chief 

The Operations Section Coordinator (OSC) reports to the EOC Director. The OSC is responsible for 
executing the operational objectives identified in the EOC Action Plan. The OSC establishes the 
appropriate level of Branch/Division organization level within the EOC Operations Section, continuously 
monitoring the effectiveness and modifying accordingly. The OSC coordinates with all field response 
operations and supervises operational functions assigned to the EOC, such as Fire, Law, Medical/Health, 
Health & Welfare, Public Works, and Building and Safety. The OSC provides the Planning/Intelligence 
Section with field status reports and other incident information. The OSC determines resource 
requirements and provides them to the Logistics Section Coordinator. The OSC conducts operations 
briefings for the EOC Director and other staff as required or requested.  

Fire & Rescue Branch – Fire Department 

The Fire & Rescue Branch (FRB) reports to the OSC. FRB coordinates and prioritizes the assignment of fire, 
disaster medical, hazardous materials, and search and rescue resources for response operations. The FRB 
mobilizes and assigns these resources through the Logistics Section as necessary. The Medical Unit, 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

60 
 

HazMat Unit, and Search and Rescue Unit fall under the FRB. The FRB is also responsible for coordinating 
mutual aid resources.  

Medical Unit – Fire Department 

The Medical unit reports to the FRB Director. The medical unit is responsible for providing emergency 
medical care and transportation to appropriate medical facilities. The Medical unit monitors and 
coordinates all tactical operations of triage, emergency medical care, and treatment of the sick and injured 
resulting from the incident. They assess medical casualties and needs and coordinate resources and 
communication with medical/health care facilities and transportation companies for evacuation, 
continual patient care, and casualty collection points.   

HazMat Unit – Fire Department 

The HazMat Unit reports to the FRB Director. The HazMat unit responds to hazardous materials incidents 
(including nuclear). They provide radiological monitoring, data evaluation, and recommendation of 
actions required for population protection. The HazMat Unit determines if current and forecasted 
weather conditions will complicate large and intense fires, hazardous material releases, major medical 
incidents and/or other potential problems. 

Search & Rescue Unit – Fire Department 

The Search & Rescue Unit reports to the FRB Director. The Search and Rescue Unit performs all heavy and 
light search and rescue operations. They are responsible for surveying areas of known potential for 
building damage, establishing priorities for rescue based on greatest need, and determining the need for 
heavy rescue teams or individual volunteers to augment the search and rescue effort.  

Law Enforcement Branch – Sheriff Department 

The Law Enforcement Branch (LEB) reports to the OSC. The LEB is responsible for coordinating personnel, 
equipment, and resources committed to police activities. The LEB is responsible for alerting and warning 
the public, coordinating evacuations, enforcing laws and emergency orders, establishing safe traffic 
routes, ordering, and coordinating appropriate mutual aid resources, and assisting in Coroner functions. 
If requested, the LEB will provide security at incident facilities.  

Construction & Engineering Branch – City Engineer 

The Construction & Engineering Branch (CEB) reports to the OSC. The CEB is responsible for inspection 
and re-occupancy processes for key city facilities. The CEB provides engineering support as requested for 
response activities such as urban search and rescue and coordinates with the Damage Assessment Unit 
to conduct safety assessments of damage to buildings, structures, and property within the city and provide 
safety assessment information and statistics to the Damage Assessment Unit. The CEB tags structures that 
are unsafe to enter or inhabit. The CEB works with the City Attorney to condemn unsafe structures that 
owners have abandoned. The CEB reviews City building codes and develops recommendations for building 
code changes. 

 

 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

61 
 

Utilities Unit – Utility Services Supervisor 

The Utilities Unit (UU) reports to the CEB Director. Coordinates with public and private utilities, including 
electric, gas, water, waste, and telephone to receive an assessment of the systems and coordinates with 
utility companies to develop a restoration plan. 

Damage Assessment Unit – Building Inspector 

The Damage Assessment Unit (DAU) reports to the CEB Director. The DAU collects initial damage/safety 
assessment information from other branches within the Operations Section. If the disaster is a winter 
storm, flood, or earthquake-related, the DAU ensures assessment teams are dispatched to evaluate the 
conditions of creeks and dams. The DAU provides detailed damage/safety assessment information to the 
Planning/Intelligence Section, develops loss damage estimates in conjunction with the Construction & 
Engineering Branch, and maintains detailed records on damaged areas and structures. The DAU initiates 
requests for building inspector resources from the Operational Area. 

Public Works Unit – Field Services Supervisor 

The Public Works Unit (PWU) reports to the CEB Director. The PWU is responsible for supporting City-
owned infrastructure. The PWU conducts response operations to protect and restore damaged or 
destroyed city infrastructure. The PWU manages its own resources and coordinates with the Logistics 
Section to procure support supplies, transportation, materials, and equipment. The PWU assists with 
repairing utility systems as required and provides flood management assistance, such as sandbagging; 
rerouting waterways away from populated areas; and river, creek, or stream bed debris clearance. The 
PWU determines the need for and location of general staging areas for unassigned public works resources, 
prioritizes the allocation of resources to individual incidents, monitors resource assignments, and adjusts 
assignments based on requirements. The PWU also distributes emergency potable water supplies and 
coordinates with water treatment plants and the County Department of Public Health on water 
purification notices. 

Health & Welfare Branch – Fire Inspector 

The Health & Welfare Branch (HWB) is a liaison position. It will coordinate with the San Bernardino County 
Operational Area (OA) to safeguard the public health of the citizens of Loma Linda. The HWB will 
coordinate the caregiving activities through available resources or by obtaining services as required 
through agreements and/or mutual aid programs. The HWB is responsible for managing personnel, 
equipment, and resources to provide the best patient care possible and coordinating public health and 
sanitation provision. The HWB will also liaison with local hospitals and urgent-care facilities to coordinate 
medical care operations. 

Care and Shelter Unit – Executive Aide 

The Care and Shelter Unit (CSU) reports to the HWB Director. The CSU identifies community care and 
shelter needs and coordinates with the American Red Cross (ARC) and other emergency welfare agencies 
to identify, set up, staff, and maintain evacuation centers and mass care facilities for disaster victims. The 
CSU works with the ARC to establish and operate shelters. During a disaster, staff from the Fire 
Department will serve as the Care and Shelter Unit Supervisor. 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

62 
 

Animal Care Unit – Animal Control 

The Animal Care Unit (ACU) reports to the HWB Director. The ACU coordinates animal care, rescue 
operations, and sheltering with San Bernardino County Animal Services. The ACU promptly and 
professionally assists citizens with a wide variety of services relating to the care and control of animals. 
The ACU coordinates with law enforcement and the San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Office for pet 
evacuations and animal control issues, such as lost and injured pets. 

4.2.4.4 PLANNING/INTELLIGENCE SECTION 
The Planning Section collects, evaluates, and disseminates incident situation information and intelligence 
for the EOC, DOCs, and field response incident personnel. The Planning Section prepares status reports, 
displays situation information, maintains the status of resources assigned to the incident, and prepares 
and documents the EOC Action Plan based on Operations Section input and guidance from the Incident 
Commander/Unified Command. 

The Planning/Intelligence Section consists of the following ICS positions. Appendix C contains detailed 
position checklists.  

Planning Section Coordinator – Senior Planner 

The Planning Section Coordinator (PSC) reports to the EOC Director. The PSC directs the Planning Section 
to collect, analyze, display and disseminate situation information, prepare situation status reports, and 
develop the EOC Action Plan. The PSC provides for incident documentation collection and maintenance. 
The PSC supports developing incident analytical tools such as GIS maps and databases and is responsible 
for advanced planning for complex, long-duration incidents. The PSC leads the After-Action Review (AAR) 
process. 

Situation Analysis Unit – Administrative Specialist II 

The Situation Analysis Unit (SAU) reports to the PSC. The SAU collects, organizes, and analyzes incident 
information from all sources.  The SAU evaluates field status reports and incident action plans provided 
by the Operations Section. The SAU develops and provides flash reports and situational status reports for 
each operation period based on the evaluation of information. The SAU  generates databases and creates 
displays for dissemination to the EOC and other organizations.  The SAU works to provide a common 
operating picture for the development of the EOC Action Plan. 

Documentation Unit – Administrative Specialist II 

The Documentation Unit (DocU) reports to the PSC. The DocU maintains an accurate and complete record 
of significant disaster events and supports the EOC organization by setting up and maintaining files, 
journals, and special reports. The DocU collects and organizes written Action Plans, forms, logs, journals, 
and reports at the completion of the operational period. The DocU activates and operates at the EOC, 
which assigns appropriate internal and external message routing. The DocU provides documentation and 
copying services to EOC staff. The DocU compiles, copies, and distributes the EOC Action Plans and AARs. 

 

 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

63 
 

Advanced Planning Unit - TBD 

The Advanced Planning Unit (APU) reports to the PSC. The APU supports planning beyond the next 
operational period by anticipating developing requirements and creating long-term strategies for 
complex, multi-operational period incidents. The APU begins recovery planning while response operations 
are ongoing.  

Demobilization Unit - TBD 

The Demobilization Unit (DemU) develops a Demobilization Plan for the EOC based on a review of all 
pertinent planning documents and status reports. The Demobilization Plan will detail specific 
responsibilities, release priorities, and procedures. The DemU will meet with the General Staff to 
determine any needs for assistance in demobilization planning. If necessary, the DemU will advise the PSC 
on needing a formal, written Demobilization Plan. 

4.2.4.5 LOGISTICS SECTION 
The Logistics Section is responsible for all service support requirements to facilitate effective and efficient 
EOC and incident management, including ordering resources from off-incident locations. The Logistics 
Section provides facilities, security, transportation, supplies, equipment maintenance,  fuel, food services, 
communications and information technology support, and emergency responder medical services. 

Logistics Section Coordinator – Facility Coordinator 

The Logistics Section Coordinator (LSC) reports to the EOC Director. The LSC supervises the Logistics 
Section and works closely with the OSC to determine resource requirements and acts to meet them. The 
LSC supervises technical communications and supports the development of the Emergency 
Communications Plan. The LSC is responsible for resource tracking and demobilization.  

Communications Branch – IS Analyst 

The Communications Unit (CommU) reports to the LSC. The CommU is responsible for effective 
communications planning along with acquiring, setting up, maintaining, and accounting for internal and 
external communications equipment. The CommU prepares the Emergency Communications Plan and 
establishes a call center when needed. 

Information Systems Unit – IS Analyst 

The ISU reports to the CommU Director. The Information Systems Unit (ISU) is responsible for developing 
plans for the effective use of incident communications equipment and facilities, installing and testing 
communications equipment, distribution of communications equipment to incident personnel, and the 
maintenance and repair of communications equipment. This unit oversees the City of Loma Linda’s 
Emergency Communications Services (ECS) group. ECS provides radio communication where other forms 
of communication are unavailable. This Unit is also responsible for the City’s Information Technology 
systems. 

GIS Unit – GIS Specialist 

The GIS Unit reports to the CommU Director. The GIS Unit provides geospatial information services for all 
incident response and recovery aspects. This includes data collection, visualization, analysis, and report 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

64 
 

compilation (maps, statistics, graphs). The GIS Unit could (if available) maintain and disseminate real-time 
situational awareness on a standard common operating platform for DOC and EOC staff. The GIS Unit 
supports the EOC by analyzing incoming data and information and answering the “what-if” questions.  

The GIS Unit ensures that the current situation and all significant events are mapped. The GIS Unit 
incorporates all relevant data to produce map products and statistical data for reports and/or analyses. 
The GIS Unit determines the availability of needed GIS support products. The GIS Unit collects, displays, 
analyzes, and disseminates spatial information and prepares GIS summary reports which are forwarded 
to the Documentation Unit. In coordination with the Operations Section-Law Enforcement Branch, the 
GIS Unit estimates the number of people requiring transportation out of the risk areas. The GIS Unit 
coordinates with the Logistics Section-Transportation Unit on transportation methods and the status of 
evacuation routes and conducts similar decision support analyses like damage assessments. The GIS Unit 
provides location-based regional situational awareness information such as ShakeMaps, weather, plume, 
Integrated Chemical, Biological, Radiological, Nuclear, and Explosive (ICBRNE) readings, fire perimeter, 
national alerts/warnings, and response equipment tracking. 

Transportation Unit – Sheriff Department 

The Transportation Unit (TU) reports to the LSC. The TU coordinates all ground transportation during an 
incident. In conjunction with providing transportation, the TU is also responsible for maintaining and 
supplying vehicles, keeping usage records, and developing incident traffic plans. Establish relationships 
with other local transportation agencies for potential mutual aid services. 

Personnel Unit – Executive Aide 

The Personnel Unit (PU) reports to the LSC. The PU provides staffing resources requested in support of 
the EOC and Field Operations. The PU receives and processes all incoming requests for personnel and 
volunteer support and assists with identifying, recruiting, and registering volunteers while supporting the 
City Clerk in affirming volunteers as Disaster Service Workers. The PU administers all personnel matters 
relating to hiring/releasing non-permanent personnel supporting incident response and recovery efforts. 
The PU manages travel requests and coordinates travel arrangements for personnel supporting 
operations either in the field or EOC. 

Supply/Procurement Unit – Administrative Specialist III 

The Supply/Procurement Unit (SPU) reports to the LSC. The SPU is responsible for resource management. 
The SPU identifies sources and orders incident expendable materials and equipment. The SPU prepares 
and signs equipment rental agreements in conjunction with the Finance Section and maintains resource 
requests and assignments records. The SPU manages mutual aid processes, identifies and provides 
support for staging areas, and maintains records of work location activities and resources used. 

Facilities Unit – Facilities Coordinator 

The Facilities Unit (FAU) provides and maintains adequate essential facilities for incident response, 
including securing access to the staging areas and other field support needs. The FAU provides staff, 
furniture, support supplies, and materials as necessary to configure the facilities adequately to accomplish 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

65 
 

the mission. The FAU ensures that acquired property, including buildings and other facilities, is returned 
to its original state when no longer needed. 

Resource Tracking Unit – Administrative Specialist I 

The Resource Tracking Unit (RTU) reports to the LSC and maintains a constant awareness of the location 
and readiness for resources ordered, deployed, or demobilized in support of incident operations. The RTU 
oversees the development and maintenance of resource tracking boards in the Logistics Section and 
coordinates with the other units in the Logistics Section to capture and centralize resource tracking 
information. 

4.2.4.6 FINANCE SECTION 
The Finance Section is established when incident management activities require EOC support for specific 
financial and administrative services. Functions that fall within the scope of the Finance Section are 
recording personnel time, maintaining vendor contracts, compensation, and claims, and conducting 
overall cost analysis for the incident. Records maintained by the Finance Section are vital to process 
incident cost recovery action through the State and FEMA. 

Finance Section Coordinator – Finance Director 

The Finance Section Coordinator (FSC) reports to the EOC Director. The FSC is responsible for developing 
a comprehensive understanding of the incident/situation from a financial perspective. The FSC establishes 
and maintains overall finance requirements (e.g., source of funds, different agency spending authorities, 
documentation requirements, etc.). The FSC identifies specific finance requirements of each operational 
period and implements them per City fiscal policy. 

Time Keeping Unit – Senior Accountant 

The Time Keeping Unit (TKU) reports to the FSC. The TKU ensures that daily personnel time recording 
documents, including overtime hours, are prepared and maintained. The TKU establishes equipment time 
recording activity at appropriate locations. 

Cost Accounting Unit – Supervising Accounting Technician 

The Cost Accounting Unit (CAU) reports to the FSC. The CAU collects cost information, performs cost-
effectiveness analysis, and provides cost estimates and savings recommendations. 

Compensation/Claims Unit – HR Analyst 

The Compensation/Claims Unit (CCU) reports to the FSC. The CCU works closely with the  Risk Manager 
to oversee the investigation of injuries and property/equipment claims arising from the incident. The CCU 
assists with completing all forms required by the Workers’ Compensation program and maintains a 
chronological log and file of injuries, illnesses, and property damage associated with the incident, 
including the results of investigations.  

The CCU prepares appropriate forms for all verifiable injury claims and forwards them to Workers’ 
Compensation within the required time frame consistent with the jurisdiction’s policies and procedures. 
The CCU will coordinate with the Safety Officer to identify potential hazards and mitigate their effects to 
reduce potential future claims.   



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

66 
 

Purchasing Unit – Accounting Technician II 

The Purchasing/Unit (PU) coordinates vendor contracts not previously addressed by existing approved 
vendor lists. The PU coordinates with the Logistics Section-Supply/Procurement Unit on all matters 
involving the need to exceed established purchase order limits. The PU establishes and maintains a 
purchasing system and reviews all emergency purchasing procedures. The PU prepares and signs 
contracts as needed, ensuring concurrence from the Finance Section Coordinator. The PU ensures that all 
contracts identify the scope of work and specific site locations. The PU negotiates vendor rental rates or 
purchase prices not already established with vendors and finalizes all agreements and contracts as 
required. 

Recovery Unit – Record Keeping 

The Recovery Unit (RU) determines the impacts of the emergency requiring recovery planning and 
initiates recovery-planning meetings with appropriate individuals and agencies. The RU develops the 
initial recovery plan and strategy for the City and monitors the current situation reports to include recent 
updates that assist with determining the overall impacts of the emergency. The RU coordinates with the 
Planning/Intelligence Section to determine the incident's major and mid- to long-term social, economic, 
environmental, and political impacts. The RU coordinates with the Health & Welfare Branch to determine 
appropriate shelter sites. The RU coordinates with the Finance Section Coordinator to ensure FEMA, 
CalOES, and other public reimbursement source documents and applications are consistent with the 
recovery strategy and ensures that specific project timelines are developed to meet the goals and 
objectives of the recovery plan. 

4.2.5 EOC SAFETY AND SECURITY 
The EOC Coordinator ensures all necessary security and access controls and safety measures are provided 
at the EOC and other alternate facilities. If EOC activation is due to an earthquake, the EOC Coordinator 
will ensure that all building safety inspection and reentry procedures have been followed before using the 
facility. The City Building Inspectors will arrange for EOC inspection and damage assessment on a priority 
basis. 

The EOC Coordinator will ensure that the evacuation plan for the EOC facility is posted and briefed in the 
event an evacuation is necessary. 

4.3 EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS 
EOC staff typically communicate with external organizations using the telephone and the internet. 
Emergency communications systems available to EOC staff include: 

• Satellite phones 
• 800 MHz Radios 
• Satellite Internet 
• GETS 

 

 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

67 
 

4.4 INFORMATION MANAGEMENT 
Incident situation status, operational objective, resource tracking, and other information will be shared 
within the EOC by using televisions and various charts in the EOC. Large-scale, pre-printed ICS forms are 
ideal for this purpose. Additionally, the EOC Director will assign the Planning Section to continually update 
an Incident Briefing (ICS 201) to provide routine briefings to EOC staff for collective situational awareness. 
The ICS 201 should be shared with Field Incident Command Posts and the Operational Area. The ICS 201 
will contain, at a minimum: 

• Operational period duration 
• Operational objectives and their status 
• Current location and status of resources 
• Requests for resources from other agencies 
• Key leadership status information 
• Relevant maps 
• Essential information to support the public 

 
The Situation Analysis Unit must ensure that all displays are frequently and accurately updated to ensure 
information conflicts do not arise. 

4.5 INFORMATION COLLECTION, ANALYSIS, AND DISSEMINATION 
The Emergency Operations Center (EOC) is responsible for gathering timely, accurate, accessible, and 
consistent intelligence during an Emergency. Situation reports should create a common operating picture 
and be used to adjust the operational goals, priorities, and strategies. The EOC will use the Information 
Collection Plan in Appendix B to develop and maintain situational awareness and track situation status to 
manage information effectively. The Situation Status Report will provide City staff and other EOCs with 
current information regarding the operability of City, Fire, and Law Enforcement facilities and ongoing 
response and recovery operations. 

Situational Awareness 

Situational awareness refers to identifying, processing, and comprehending the critical elements of 
information about what is happening as a result of an incident or concerning a specifically assigned 
mission. More simply, situational awareness means knowing what is going on around you. Situational 
awareness is critical for effective decision-making in field operations and the EOC and for ensuring the 
safety of responders and the public.  

During an emergency, the EOC Director will convene briefings regularly. At that time, the EOC staff will 
attend and provide verbal and/or written summaries of existing problems, actions taken, priorities, 
timetables, and potential for new issues for incorporation into the Action Plan. The situational awareness 
approach will consolidate situation reports, obtain supplemental information, and prepare maps and 
status boards.  

 

 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

68 
 

Incident Briefing Report 

An Incident Briefing Report, ICS Form 201, is essential to providing a picture of the developing emergency 
and response efforts. The reports are to be completed by the first person setting up the EOC for the initial 
operational period and updated by the Planning Section for continuing shifts.  

Internal incident updates should be made frequently as information is collected and the extent and 
potential duration of the incident becomes clear. An initial report to City leadership and staff should be 
made within the first thirty (30) minutes following an emergency. Reporting should continue as long as 
the EOC is activated or as circumstances warrant. Within four (4) to eight (8) hours, a confirmation and 
update of the initial Incident Briefing should be made, including a preliminary damage assessment and 
the City’s response operations status. 

Flow of Information  

To ensure effective intelligence flow and accurate public information, emergency response agencies at all 
levels must establish communications systems and protocols to organize, integrate and coordinate 
intelligence among the affected agencies. The flow of situation reports among the levels of government 
should occur as follows: 

• Field: Field situation reports should be disseminated to local EOC. 

• Local EOC: Local EOC will summarize reports received from the field, DOCs, and other reporting 
disciplines and send them to the OA EOC. 

• OA EOC: The OA EOC will summarize reports received from responsible local EOCs, county field 
units,  county DOCs, and other reporting disciplines and forward them to the CalEMA Regional 
Emergency Operations Center (REOC). 

• REOC: The REOC will summarize situation reports received from the OA EOC, state field units, state 
DOCs, and other reporting disciplines and forward them to the State Operations Center (SOC). 

• SOC: The SOC will summarize situation reports received from the REOC, state DOCs, state 
agencies, and other reporting disciplines and distribute them to state officials and others on the 
distribution list. 

• Joint Field Office (JFO): When the state-federal JFO is activated, the REOC and SOC situation 
reports will be assimilated into the JFO situation report. The REOC organization may be collocated 
with the federal organization at the JFO. 

4.6 PUBLIC INFORMATION 
The public's response to any emergency is based on an understanding of the nature of the emergency, 
the potential hazards, the likely response of emergency services, and knowledge of what individuals and 
groups should do to increase their chances of survival and recovery. 

Before any emergency, public awareness is crucial to successful public information efforts during and after 
the emergency. The pre-disaster awareness programs must be equally important to all other emergency 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

69 
 

preparations and receive adequate planning. These programs must be coordinated among local, state, 
and federal officials to ensure their contribution to emergency preparedness and response operations.  

4.6.1 PUBLIC INFORMATION OFFICER 
The Public Information Officer (PIO) may need to send messages to large numbers of city residents and 
visitors during an emergency. Depending on the circumstances and the desired effect, the PIO can do this 
through several communication channels. All depend on a certain level of working infrastructure (power, 
phones, internet), which means their usefulness may be limited in a major disaster. The city’s press 
conference location will be determined during the initial setup of the EOC. 

One of the challenges of having multiple channels for addressing the public is keeping messaging 
consistent among them. The EOC PIO must continually ensure that the information available on all the 
public communication avenues (media releases, website, social media, interviews, etc.) is consistent and 
mutually supporting. 

When the EOC is activated, all social media messaging must go through the EOC Director for approval. 

4.6.2 CITY WEBSITE 
The City website (www.lomalinda-ca.gov) is the City’s official contact space on the internet and is 
controlled by the City Manager’s Office.  Only trained City employees may alter the website with a limited 
number of personnel granted access as a “super user,” – thus granting them the ability to change all 
website pages. The City PIO will also have a current list of users. 

The City Manager’s Office maintains the list of people trained to use the content management system 
that controls the website’s content; the PIO should ensure that at least one of those people is available 
during all EOC operating hours. 

Guidelines for website postings: 

• The City website will be the most comprehensive record of information released to the public 
regarding the emergency. It should be updated every time new information is released through any 
channel. 

• A website visitor must be able to easily determine what information is current and what has been 
superseded. This may require using sub-pages for old messages and date/time updates posted in the 
news headlines. 

• Use pictures, maps, and infographics whenever appropriate. 

• Take advantage of established Web concepts (such as FAQs) to deliver public information quickly 
and understandably. 

• Link to information published by other agencies or groups rather than duplicating that 
information on the City website. 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

70 
 

• Consider individuals with access and functional needs when creating website postings by making 
emergency messaging available in languages prevalent in the area in multiple formats. Also include 
audio messages, if feasible. 

4.6.3 SOCIAL MEDIA 
The City maintains the following social media presence. The City’s PIO will activate emergency information 
throughout the following media: 

• Facebook: N/A 
• Instagram: N/A 
• Twitter: N/A 

 
The Fire or Police Departments’ social media sites may be more effective for some incidents. They are: 

• Facebook page https://www.facebook.com/Lomalindafire 
• Twitter https://twitter.com/LomalindaFire 
• Instagramhttps://www.instagram.com/lomalindafd/ 
• Loma Linda Fire App: Apple and Google App Stores 

 
The City’s PIO controls the City’s online communications while under the EOC Director's supervision and 
approval (as needed). During an emergency, all online communications channels will be used in concert 
under the direction of the EOC PIO. As with any other public information releases, the PIO will coordinate 
posts to any of these accounts through the EOC Director before release. 

Other City social media pages (as listed below) will be encouraged to follow updates on the City’s 
Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram accounts and share those postings as they become available. The City’s 
PIO must review and approve any messages sent that are different messages from those maintained on 
the City’s website, Facebook, and Instagram accounts. 

The PIO will evaluate the usefulness of sharing emergency-related posts from other official social media 
feeds (such as those controlled by the county, neighboring cities, the American Red Cross, and so on) as 
the emergency develops. Such cross-posting exposes official information to more eyes and provides fresh 
content in between City messages.  

4.6.4 COMMUNITY OUTREACH 
Throughout the year, the departments with emergency responsibilities are involved in a wide range of 
community outreach activities, including presentations, neighborhood meetings, community events, and 
fairs. 

Effective community outreach creates opportunities to inform residents and business owners of the City’s 
emergency procedures and to provide personal preparedness information, plans, and techniques. The 
City of Loma Linda prioritizes public disaster education by providing citizens emergency training such as 
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Community Emergency Response Team (CERT) training, 
disaster preparedness presentations, and First Aid/CPR classes. 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

71 
 

4.7 ADMINISTRATION, FINANCE, AND RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 
When activated, the City EOC establishes priorities for resource allocation during an emergency. All City 
resources are considered part of a pool, which the EOC may allocate to fulfill priority missions. Each 
department retains control of its non-assigned resources until released for an emergency assignment by 
the EOC. Resource Requests will be made through one of the following processes: 

• Discipline-specific (usually Fire and Law) mutual aid systems: Requests for resources that are 
normally within the inventories of the mutual aid system will go from the local coordinator to the 
Operational Area Mutual Aid Coordinator to the Regional Mutual Aid Coordinator. 

• All other resource requests will be made through the Logistics Section to determine if the resource 
is available internally or other more appropriate sources within the OA.  

Resource requests for equipment, personnel, or technical assistance not available to the City should be 
requested from SBCOA EOC. Once the request is coordinated, approved, and resources are deployed, the 
Resource Tracking Unit, in coordination with various Operations Branches, is responsible for tracking the 
resources. Resource requests from the EOC to the OA may be verbally requested and then documented. 
Once received, available resources will be allocated to the requesting entity. If requests for a specific 
resource exceed the supply, the available resources will be allocated consistent with the priorities 
established through the action planning process. The Section Coordinators in the EOC are responsible for 
ensuring that priorities are followed. 

4.8 SUPPORT TO POPULATIONS WITH DISABILITIES AND OTHER ACCESS AND FUNCTIONAL 

NEEDS 
The City Manager’s Office, in conjunction with the City’s Community Development and the City Clerk’s 
Office, will ensure the coordination of the services for people with disabilities and others with access and 
functional needs. This will ensure the City complies with the ADA Amendments Act. The City will also 
coordinate with the San Bernardino County Department of Health and Human Services to identify people 
with disabilities and others with access and functional needs that may need assistance in the event of a 
disaster.  

The City strives to ensure that every facility, activity, benefit, program, and service operated or funded by 
the City is fully accessible to and useable by people with disabilities and access and functional needs per 
the ADA, as well as other federal, state, and local codes, and disability rights laws. The following are types 
of facilities that house, support, or provide services to populations with disabilities and other access and 
functional needs. 

• Dialysis centers 

• Assisted living and skilled nursing facilities 

• Schools 

• Community Centers 

• Residential care facilities 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

72 
 

• SCE critical care customers 

4.9 RECOVERY OPERATIONS FRAMEWORK 
Recovery includes restoring and strengthening key systems and resource assets critical to the 
community's economic stability, vitality, and long-term sustainability. This includes health (including 
behavioral health) and human services capabilities and networks, public and private disability support and 
service systems, educational systems, community social networks, natural and cultural resources, 
affordable and accessible housing, infrastructure systems, and local economic drivers. Appendix H 
provides information on the City’s recovery framework. 

4.10  AFTER-ACTION REPORTS  
SEMS regulations under Title IX, Division 2, Chapter 1, Section 2450(a) require any federal, state, or local 
jurisdiction proclaiming or responding to a Local Emergency for which the governor has declared a State 
of Emergency or State of War Emergency shall complete and transmit an After-Action Report (AAR) to Cal 
OES within 90 days of the close of the emergency period. Upon completing the AAR,  recommendations 
are made for correcting problems noted in the response/recovery effort or during exercises and training. 
Depending on the level of the AAR, corrective action may encompass anything from detailed 
recommendations for improving individual agency plans and procedures to broader system-wide 
improvements. Priority disciplinary actions are assigned to relevant stakeholders and tracked to ensure 
the identified problem has been addressed. Appendix G contains the CalOES AAR template. 

  



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

73 
 

 

5. PLAN DEVELOPMENT, DISTRIBUTION, AND MAINTENANCE 
The following section provides direction for maintaining, updating, and distributing the EOP. It includes 
recommendations for testing, training, and exercises to keep the EOP current and train City staff on using 
the Plan. 

5.1 PLAN UPDATES 
Individual departments are responsible for regularly updating and revising their departmental procedures 
and submitting those updates to the  Emergency Services Coordinator, who will incorporate them into the 
EOP. These updates should include new information (e.g., an update of phone numbers and revisions of 
relevant standard operating procedures or positions). All changes to the EOP will be documented in the 
record of revisions table. Changes to the EOP will be distributed to the City departments shown on the 
Plan Distribution list. Major EOP revisions will be submitted to the City Manager for approval or 
recommendation for review by the City Council. 

Evaluating the effectiveness of the EOP involves capturing information from training events, exercises, 
and real-world incidents to determine whether the goals, incident objectives, decisions, and timing 
outlined led to a successful response. This process may indicate that deficiencies exist. The City staff 
should discuss the deficiencies and consider assigning responsibility for generating remedies. Remedial 
actions may involve revising planning assumptions and operational concepts, changing organizational 
tasks, or modifying organizational implementing instructions such as checklists or templates. Remedial 
actions may also involve providing refresher training for EOC personnel. 

The EOP should be reviewed and updated annually internally by the City staff and whenever the following 
occurs: 

• A major incident 

• A change in operational capabilities or resources (e.g., policy, personnel, organizational 
structures, management processes, facilities, equipment) 

• A formal update of planning guidance or standards 

• A change in the acceptability of various risks 

5.2 PLAN TESTING, TRAINING, AND EXERCISES 
5.2.1 TRAINING 

Training and testing are essential to ensure emergency response personnel of all levels of government 
and the public are operationally ready. As part of the emergency management training curriculum, it is 
recommended that personnel with emergency responsibilities complete emergency management courses 
as described in the SEMS Approved Course of Instruction (ACI) and the NIMS integration criteria. In 
addition to SEMS and NIMS courses, City of Loma Linda employees are provided EOP orientation, EOC 
Section Specific training, and other specialized training as available. The City’s Emergency Services 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

74 
 

Coordinator is responsible for providing and maintaining the training and testing records to demonstrate 
compliance with SEMS and NIMS requirements. 

5.2.2 EXERCISES 
An exercise simulates a series of emergencies for identified hazards affecting the city. During these 
exercises, emergency response organizations are required to respond as though a real emergency had 
occurred. The public will be made aware of these exercises through normal media communications. 

The objective is to train and inform local government officials, emergency response personnel, and the 
public. The best method for training staff to manage emergency operations is through exercises. The City 
is dedicated to adhering to the U.S. Department of Homeland Security’s Homeland Security Exercise and 
Evaluation Program (HSEEP), which is a capabilities and performance-based exercise program that 
provides a standardized methodology and terminology for exercise design, development, conduct, 
evaluation, and improvement planning. HSEEP constitutes a national standard for all exercises. Through 
exercises, the National Exercise Program supports organizations in achieving objective assessments of 
their capabilities so that strengths and areas for improvement are identified, corrected, and shared as 
appropriate prior to a real incident.  

Exercises are conducted regularly to maintain the readiness of operational procedures. Exercises allow 
personnel to become thoroughly familiar with the procedures, facilities, and systems that will be used in 
emergencies. There are several forms of exercises: 

• Tabletop exercises provide a convenient and low-cost method to evaluate policy, plans, and 
procedures; establish and reinforce coordination between departments and personnel; and 
establish responsibilities. Such exercises are an excellent way to see if policies and procedures 
exist to handle specific issues. 

• Functional exercises are designed to test and evaluate the capability of an individual aspect of the 
plan, such as evacuation, emergency medical services, communications systems and equipment, 
or dissemination of public information. 

• Full-scale exercises simulate an actual emergency. They typically involve complete emergency 
management staff and are designed to evaluate the operational capability of the emergency 
management system. 

Maintenance of the EOP and evaluating its effectiveness involves using training and exercises along with 
evaluating actual incidents to determine whether goals, decisions, and timing outlined in the plan led to 
a successful response. 

Short of real-world operations, exercises are the best method of evaluating the effectiveness of a plan. 
They also provide a valuable tool in training emergency responders and other City staff to become familiar 
with the procedures, equipment, and systems they use or manage in emergencies. Exercises must be 
conducted regularly to maintain readiness. Table 5.1 provides a recommended schedule of exercise for 
City staff. 

 

 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

75 
 

TABLE 5.1: RECOMMENDED CITY-WIDE EXERCISE SCHEDULE 
FREQUENCY TYPE PARTICIPANTS 

Annually Evacuation Drills of All City-Owned Facility All employees 
Annually Tabletop or Functional Exercise Emergency operations staff 
Every 3 years or as available Full-Scale Exercise Emergency operations staff 

 
5.2.3 TRAINING MATRIX 

The City has developed a matrix of training for personnel who may be required to respond to an 
emergency incident in the city. Individual departments are responsible for coordinating and executing 
training or sending employees to attend appropriate training programs. Table 5.2 contains recommended 
staff training by assignment. 

When a new City employee is hired, Human Resources will notify the employee of any required training 
and the need to contact Emergency Management to coordinate. Pursuant to the California Emergency 
Services Act, any person employed by a county, city, state agency, or public district in California is a public 
employee and considered a Disaster Service Worker. Many City employees are already identified and 
trained for emergency response in Department Operations Centers (DOCs) or the City of Loma Linda 
Emergency Operations Center (EOC). Some departments have specific disaster response duties that 
employees are trained to fulfill. Employees who do not have a specific disaster assignment, and have not 
received specific training, may be asked to perform general duties as assigned under the Disaster Service 
Worker Program. 

Although some of the ICS training courses below are available online through FEMA’s Emergency 
Management Institute Independent Study Program, others require attendance in a classroom setting. 
Loma Linda participates in Cal OES CSTI courses and offers most of the in-person courses annually. The 
following table delineates the City’s training standards for those with designated emergency roles: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



                                                                                              City of Loma Linda 
  2023 Emergency Operations Plan 

76 
 

TABLE 5.2: RECOMMENDED EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT TRAINING 

NIMS/SEMS/ICS 

Training 

IC
S 

10
0:

 In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

IC
S 

20
0:

 B
as

ic 

IC
S 

30
0:

 In
te

rm
ed

ia
te

 

IC
S 

40
0:

 A
dv

an
ce

d 

IC
S 

40
2:

 O
ve

rv
ie

w
 fo

r E
xe

cu
tiv

es
 &

 S
en

io
r 

O
ffi

ci
al

s 

IS
 7

00
: N

at
io

na
l I

nc
id

en
t M

an
ag

em
en

t S
ys

te
m

 -
Aw

ar
en

es
s 

IS
 7

01
.A

: N
IM

S 
M

ul
tia

ge
nc

y 
Co

or
di

na
tio

n 
Sy

st
em

s 

IS
 7

02
.A

: N
IM

S 
Pu

bl
ic

 In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

Sy
st

em
s 

IS
 7

06
: N

IM
S 

In
tr

as
ta

te
 M

ut
ua

l A
id

 

IS
 8

00
: N

at
io

na
l R

es
po

ns
e 

Pl
an

 

SE
M

S 
G6

06
: O

rie
nt

at
io

n 

SE
M

S 
G7

75
: E

m
er

ge
nc

y 
O

pe
ra

tio
ns

 C
en

te
r 

SE
M

S 
G

19
1:

 IC
S/

EO
C 

In
te

rf
ac

e 
W

or
ks

ho
p 

SE
M

S:
 E

O
C 

Se
ct

io
n-

Sp
ec

ifi
c T

ra
in

in
g 

City Council     X X         
All City Staff X X    X         
Disaster Service Worker Volunteers X     X    X     
First Responders X X X X  X    X     
EOC Staff X X    X X  X X X X X X 
EOC Command and General Staff X X X X  X X  X X X X X X 
 

According to the U.S. Department of Homeland Security NIMS Training Program, emergency management 
and response personnel should refresh their mandated NIMS training every three (3) years in conjunction 
with participating in exercises and real events. 

5.3 AFTER ACTION REVIEW 
After every exercise or incident, an after-action review (AAR) should be conducted, and an After-Action 
Report/Improvement Plan (AAR/IP) should be completed. The AAR/IP has two (2) components: 1) an AAR, 
which captures observations and recommendations based on incident objectives as associated with the 
capabilities and tasks, and 2) an IP, which identifies specific corrective actions, assigns them to responsible 
parties and establishes targets for their completion. The division responsible for creating and facilitating 
the exercise is responsible for developing the AAR/IP and convenes participants to discuss action items 
and solicit recommendations for improvements. Appendix G contains a template for an AAR. 

 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 16  
  





CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 17 
  





CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
PACKET 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 18 
  




	July 11, 2023, City Council Agenda
	CC 1 - 2023 Weed Abatement Program
	CC 2 - Demands Register
	CC 3 - Treasurer's Report
	CC 4 - Fire Department's Activity Report
	CC 5 - Agreement with San Bernardino Basin Groundwater Sustainability Council
	CC 6 - Reject Bids for Electric Wiring for Generator
	CC 7 - Contract ADA Ramps & Sidewalks
	CC 8 - Contract for Water & Sanitary Sewer Rate Study
	CC 9 - Contract for Sewer Lift Station
	CC10 - Contract for Tile Mural at Leonard Bailey Park
	CC11 - Contract for Agenda Mgmt Software
	CC12 - Contract for Endpoint Security Software
	CC13 - NOC Street Light Installation
	CC14 - Accept Offsite Improvements for Tract 19963
	CC15 - Loma Linda's Emergency Operations Plan Update
	CC16 - Reappropriate Unspent Funds to FY 2023-24 for Fire Dept
	CC17 - Reappropriate Unspent Funds to FY 2023-24 for Public Works Department
	CC18 - Historic Commision Appointment



